

provided by DSpace at Tartu University Library DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 250

GEORGI NELLIS

The use of excipients in medicines administered to neonates in Europe





DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 250

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS
250

GEORGI NELLIS

The use of excipients in medicines administered to neonates in Europe



Department of Paediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation has been accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medicine on December 21, 2016 by the Council of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia

Supervisors:	Professor Irja Lutsar, MD, PhD Department of Microbiology University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia	
	Associate Professor Tuuli Metsvaht, MD, PhD Paediatric Intensive Care Unit, Clinic of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Tartu University Hospital, Tartu, Estonia	
Reviewers:	Professor Raul-Allan Kiivet, MD, PhD Department of Public Health University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia	
	Associate Professor Karin Kogermann, MSc, PhD Institute of Pharmacy University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia	
Opponent:	Dr. Catherine Tuleu, MSc, PhD Centre for Paediatric Pharmacy Research UCL School of Pharmacy, London, United Kingdom	

Commencement: March 6th, 2017

Publication of this dissertation is granted by University of Tartu.

ISSN 1024–395X ISBN 978-9949-77-336-7 (print) ISBN 978-9949-77-337-4 (pdf)

Copyright: Georgi Nellis, 2017

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

LI	ST C	F ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7			
Ał	BBR	EVIATIONS	8			
GI	LOSS	SARY OF TERMS	9			
1.	INTRODUCTION					
2	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE					
	2.1	Requirements to paediatric/ neonatal medicines	14			
	2.2	Pharmaceutical excipients	15			
		2.2.1 The role of pharmaceutical excipients in medicines	16			
		2.2.2 Classification of excipients	17			
		2.2.3 Pharmacological principles of excipients in neonates and adults	19			
	23	Safety of pharmaceutical excipients in children and neonates	21			
	2.5	2 3 1 Disasters with pharmaceutical excipients	21			
		2.3.2 Types of excipient interactions/ toxicity.	22			
		2.3.3 Classification based on safety of excipients	23			
		2.3.4 Potentially harmful excipients in neonates	23			
		2.3.4.1 Safety of EOI and current implications	24			
	2.4	Exposure to EOI in neonates	29			
		2.4.1 Methods to assess the exposure to excipients	30			
		2.4.1.1 Qualitative excipient exposure assessment	30			
		2.4.2 Excipient exposure studies in practice – extent of neonatal				
		exposure to EOI	32			
		2.4.2.1 Quantitative exposure to EOI in neonates	33			
	2.5	Regulatory aspects and initiatives in paediatrics in terms				
		of excipients	34			
		2.5.1 Including EOI into medicines during manufacturing process	~ -			
	2 ((selection of excipients)	35			
	2.6	Avoiding EOI in neonates	36			
	2.7	Summary of literature	38			
3.	AIM	IS OF THE RESEARCH	39			
4.	MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	40			
	4.1	Ethics	40			
	4.2	Study design and data collection	40			
	4.3	Data management	42			
	4.4	Identification of excipients	43			
	4.5	Data analysis	43			
		4.5.1 Exposure to EOI: extent and risk factors	44			
		4.5.2 Product substitution	45			
		4.5.3 Effect of study methodology in medicine use assessment	46			

CONTENTS

5.	RES	ULTS AND DISCUSSION	48			
5.1 Participating units in the SES and PPS						
	5.2	5.2 Medicines consumption in European NICUs				
	5.3	Excipients in prescribed medicines – the scope of exposure	53			
		5.3.1 Describing the content of excipients in medicines	53			
		5.3.2 The presence of EOI in medicines prescribed to neonates	53			
		5.3.3 Individual exposure to EOI	56			
	5.4	Covariates associated with EOI administration	57			
		5.4.1 EOI administration by geographical region	62			
		5.4.2 EOI administration by gestational age	62			
		5.4.3 EOI administration by route of administration	63			
		5.4.4 EOI administration by ATC group	63			
	5.5	Substitution of EOI containing medicines with EOI-free				
		counterparts	64			
	5.6	Impact of study methodology on assessment of medicines use	68			
6.	GEN	NERAL DISCUSSION	71			
	6.1	Unexplored field of pharmaceutical excipients in neonates	71			
	6.2	Methodological issues of the excipient exposure study	73			
		6.2.1 Availability of excipient data in current sources	75			
	6.3	Rationality of adding EOI into medicines	76			
	6.4	Substitution as a way of avoiding EOI	77			
	6.5	Limitations of the study	79			
	6.6	The need for further research	80			
7.	COl	NCLUSIONS	82			
8.	8. REFERENCES					
9.	SUN	MMARY IN ESTONIAN	100			
10	. AC	KNOWLEDGMENTS	107			
PU	JBLI	CATIONS	109			
ELULOOKIRJELDUS 14						

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- Nellis G, Lutsar I, Varendi H, Toompere K, Turner MA, Duncan J, Metsvaht T. Comparison of two alternative study designs in assessment of medicines utilisation in neonates. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2014 Jul 16;14(1):89–94
- Nellis G, Metsvaht T, Varendi H, Toompere K, Lass J, Mesek I, Nunn AJ, Turner MA, Lutsar I, ESNEE consortium. Potentially harmful excipients in neonatal medicines: a pan-European observational study. *Arch Dis Child*. 2015 Jul;100(7):694–699
- 3. **Nellis G**, Metsvaht T, Varendi H, Lass J, Duncan J, Nunn AJ, Turner MA, Lutsar I. Product substitution as a way forward in avoiding potentially harmful excipients in neonates. *Pediatr Drugs*. 2016; 18:221–230

Author's personal contribution:

In publication 1: drafted the questionnaire, organized distribution, gathered responses, ensured databasing and quality control, conducted data analyses and wrote the article.

In publication 2: participated in the study design, searched the excipient content data, conducted the study and data analyses, and wrote the article.

In publication 3: participated in the study design, conducted data analyses, and wrote the article.

The publications are reprinted with the permission of the copyright owners.

ABBREVIATIONS

ADME	_	absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination
API	_	active pharmaceutical ingredient
ATC	_	anatomical therapeutic chemical classification
CI	_	confidence interval
CNS	_	central nervous system
GA	_	gestational age
GCP	_	good clinical practice
GLP	_	good laboratory practice
GMP	_	good manufacturing practice
EDTA	_	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EEA	_	the European economic area
EMA	—	European Medicines Agency
EPA	—	Environmental Protection Agency
EOI	_	excipients of interest
ESNEE	—	European study of neonatal exposure to excipients
EU	—	European Union
ExcpDG	_	excipients drafting group
FDA	_	Food and Drug Administration
ICH	—	The International Council for Harmonisation of Technical
		Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use.
IQR	—	interquartile range
IPEC	—	International Pharmaceutical Excipients Council
NICU	—	neonatal intensive care unit
NUTS	—	nomenclature of territorial units for statistics
OR	—	odd ratio
OTC	—	over-the-counter drugs
PD	_	pharmacodynamics
PIL	_	patient information leaflet
РК	_	pharmacokinetics
PPS	_	point prevalence study
RofA	—	route of administration
SD	_	standard deviation
SES	—	service evaluation survey
SmPC	—	summary of product characteristics
STEP	-	safety and toxicity of excipients for paediatrics
US	-	the United States
MILLO		

WHO - World Health Organisation

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) – The amount of a substance that can be ingested daily for an entire lifetime without causing appreciable adverse effects. It is expressed in mg/kg body weight/day.

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (API) – Any substance intended to be used in the manufacture of a medicinal product and that, when so used, becomes an active ingredient of the medicinal product. Such substances are intended to furnish a pharmacological activity or other direct effect in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment or prevention of disease, or to affect the structure and function of the body.

Adverse Drug Reaction (ADR) – Any noxious or unintended reaction to a drug that is administered in standard doses by the proper route for the purpose of prophylaxis, diagnosis, or treatment.

Bioavailability – The rate and extent at which the API is absorbed from a pharmaceutical dosage form and becomes available at the site(s) of action.

Bioequivalence – Two pharmaceutical products are bioequivalent if they are pharmaceutically equivalent or pharmaceutical alternatives, and their bio-availabilities, in terms of peak (Cmax and Tmax) and total exposure (area under the curve) after administration of the same molar dose under the same conditions, are similar to such a degree that their effects can be expected to be essentially the same.

Confidence Interval (CI) – A range, calculated from sample data, within which a population parameter, such as the population mean, is expected to lie, with a given level of confidence.

Dosage Form – A dosage form is the physical form in which a drug is produced and dispensed, such as a tablet, a capsule, or an injectable.

Drug – Any substance for human or veterinary use that is intended to modify or explore physiological systems or pathological states for the benefit of the recipient.

Drug Product – A finished dosage form, for example, tablet, capsule, or solution, that contains an active ingredient, generally with excipients, that has been prepared for consumer use and that has undergone all stages of production including packaging and labeling. In this thesis, the term drug product, pharmaceutical product, medicine, and product are used interchangeably.

Excipient (pharmaceutical excipient) – Pharmaceutical excipients are substances that are included in a pharmaceutical dosage form not for their direct therapeutic action, but to aid the manufacturing process, to protect, support or enhance stability, or for bioavailability or patient acceptability.

Functionality – A desirable property of an excipient that aids and/ or improves the manufacture, quality, or performance of the drug product.

Gestational age (GA) – Time from the first day of last normal menstrual period to date of birth, usually expressed in complete weeks. When a pregnancy has been achieved by assisted reproductive technology, GA is calculated from two weeks before the date of conception.

Good Clinical Practice (GCP) – An international ethical and scientific quality standard for designing, conducting, recording and reporting trials that involve the participation of human subjects.

Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) – A code of standards concerning the testing of medicines in laboratories during their development.

Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) – Minimum requirements for the quality management system methods, and facilities or controls to be used for the manufacture, processing, packing, or holding of a drug product and its ingredients.

Harm – Damage to health, including the damage that can occur from loss of product quality or availability.

Inactive Ingredient Database (IID) – An FDA database containing information on excipients present in FDA-approved drug products.

International Nonproprietary Name (INN) – The shortened scientific name based on the active ingredient. WHO is responsible for assigning INNs to pharmaceutical substances.

Marketing Authorization (Product License, Registration Certificate) – A legal document issued by the competent drug regulatory authority that establishes the detailed composition and formulation of the product and the pharmacopoeial or other recognized specifications of its ingredients and of the final product itself, and includes details of packaging, labelling and shelf-life.

Newborn classification based on gestational age (WHO)

Term – (37 to 42 weeks of gestation) Late preterm (32 to <37 weeks of gestation) Very preterm (28 to <32 weeks of gestation) Extremely preterm (22 to <28 weeks of gestation)

New Excipient – An excipient used for the first time in a drug product or a new route of administration. Equivalent to "Novel Excipient".

No Observed Adverse Effect Level (NOAEL) - The highest dose of a substance that, in a given toxicity test, causes no biologically significant effects in the exposed test animals.

Pharmaceutical Alternatives – Products are pharmaceutical alternative(s) if they contain the same molar amount of the same active pharmaceutical

moiety(s) but differ in dosage form (e.g. tablets versus capsules), and/ or chemical form (e.g. different salts, different esters). Pharmaceutical alternatives deliver the same active moiety by the same route of administration but are otherwise not pharmaceutically equivalent. They may or may not be bio-equivalent or therapeutically equivalent to the comparator product.

Pharmaceutical Equivalence – Products are pharmaceutical equivalents if they contain the same molar amount of the same API in the same dosage form if they meet comparable standards, and if they are intended to be administered by the same route. Pharmaceutical equivalence does not necessarily imply therapeutic equivalence, as differences in the excipients and/ or the manufacturing process and some other variables can lead to differences in product performance.

Risk Assessment – A systematic process of organizing information to support a risk decision to be made within a risk management process. It consists of the identification of hazards and the analysis and evaluation of risks associated with exposure to those hazards.

1. INTRODUCTION

"Doctors are men who prescribe medicines of which they know little, to cure diseases of which they know less, in human beings of whom they know nothing." (Voltaire; 1694–1778)

Medicines contain active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) and a range of "other chemicals" known as pharmaceutical excipients. Hundreds of different excipients are used in manufacturing process to improve the quality, stability, bioavailability, and patient acceptability of medicines.¹ Benefits of medicines will not be possible in the absence of excipients in many cases. They function as diluents, fillers, solvents, emulsifiers, binders, lubricants, glidants, sweeteners, preservatives, and flavouring or colouring agents and make up, on average, about 90% of each product.² Therefore, administration of medicines usually entails exposure to pharmaceutical excipients.

Most pharmaceutical excipients are recognized as safe. However, increasing number of adverse reports from single excipients raises concerns particularly for the most vulnerable groups of patients, i.e. children and especially neonates.^{3–6} Excipients have undergone exhaustive short- and long-term studies for toxicological endpoints in adult population but not in pediatric subpopulations. It is known that neonates handle some excipients differently from older age groups⁷ – excipients have been associated with significant adverse events, including death, when safety data have been extrapolated from adult data.^{8–10} Many of the physiological processes governing absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination (ADME) of drugs are immature/ different in neonates.¹¹ Furthermore, recent research in paediatrics and developmental toxicology has elaborated the concept of "windows of vulnerability"¹² – critical periods in early development when exposures to even minimal doses of toxic chemicals can disrupt organ formation and cause lifelong functional impairments.¹³

If excipients cause or are likely to cause harm in neonates, age-appropriate formulations without specific excipients should be developed. From an economic point of view, age-appropriate neonatal formulations should be limited to those that are absolutely needed. Here, a full understanding of the presence of specific excipients in drug products administered to neonates and the extent of neonatal exposure to these excipients is a cornerstone. However, there is insufficient information about the risks generated by excipient exposure because systematic surveys have not been performed. Although some excipient exposure data in neonates are available and raise concerns, these are limited to single/ couple of country(s)/ unit(s)/ excipient(s).^{14–16} For instance, Lass et al. have shown that almost all neonates have received potentially harmful excipients in two tertiary care hospitals in Estonia.¹⁵ No understanding of the Europe-wide situation exists, yet it is essential/ warranted to recognise the extent as well as the seriousness/ severity of the issue. Targeting large multi-country populations should be preferred to reach market sizes of interest to achieve reformulation

and substitution where needed. Such approach may also provide a basis for suggestions about product substitution, where products free of unwanted excipient(s) are available, without the need for expensive reformulation process.

The unique feature of excipient studies is that the use of excipients varies considerably between formulations of the same API. This means that to assess the exposure to excipients, information about medicines use need to be gathered in a way that captures data about API, manufacturer, dosage form, and trade name of the formulation to identify the specific product used. When the data have to be quantified dosing regimens and individual demographic data should also be collected. Here, different observational cross-sectional study designs can be implemented. However, little is known about the effect of study design in excipient exposure studies. Large international studies are almost entirely missing. Accordingly, the methodological aspects have not been addressed.

Excipient exposure study including neonatal exposure to potentially harmful excipients in Estonia has been conducted in Tartu University by J. Lass.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Neonates are the group of children under 28 days of age,¹⁷ divided into term (37 to 42 weeks of gestation), late preterm (32 to <37 weeks of gestation), very preterm (28 to <32 weeks of gestation), and extremely preterm (22 to <28 weeks of gestation) neonates.¹⁸ Neonates at different stages of maturity/ immaturity, particularly very and extremely premature ones, but also late preterm and term newborns may have serious medical problems requiring extensive interventions.^{19–21} In preterm neonates age-specific pathologies include surfactant-deficient lung disease, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, patent ductus arteriosus, necrotizing enterocolitis, retinopathy of prematurity, intraventricular haemorrhage, and periventricular leucomalacia. Term neonates may present with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy, persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn, meconium aspiration or congenital structural or functional anomalies.²² All neonates have age-specific immune dysfunction which makes them vulnerable to a range of infections.²³

A huge number of different medicines are used in neonates,¹⁹ that are essential for the treatment of both acute and chronic illnesses. While the need for medicines in neonates is indisputable, up to 90% of medicinal products are used unauthorised or off-label in this population worldwide.^{18,24–29} It means that most medications administered to neonates lack convincing data to support their safety and efficacy. These drugs have been developed for adults or older children and contain excipients thought to be safe in these age groups.¹⁰ It has been anticipated, that excipients that have not caused problems in older age groups can be assumed to be safe in neonates unless there is biological evidence to the contrary. Response to pharmaceutical agents is dependent on multiple factors, including but not limited to differences in metabolic capacity and organ system development.³⁰ Although extrapolation of efficacy from adult to paediatric population is feasible for some medicines, supportive paediatric data like pharmacokinetic (PK) data and safety information are still required.³¹

2.1 Requirements to paediatric/ neonatal medicines

As the choice of formulation depends on the condition to be treated and the clinical status of the newborn, age-appropriate formulations and strengths using appropriate excipients must be developed/ made available.¹⁸ The importance of using age-appropriate formulations has been acknowledged by all stakeholders. As stated in the European Medicines Agency (EMA) "Reflection paper on the formulations of choice for the paediatric population",¹⁰ in the more recent draft "Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use",³² as well as in the World Health Organization (WHO) document "Points to consider in pharmaceutical development of pediatric medicines",³³ an ideal dosage form for paediatric patients of all ages should allow both safe and accurate dose administration in multiple/ various conditions and settings. Even if clinical

efficacy and safety have been sufficiently documented for the paediatric population as a group, clinical studies may not have sufficient power to detect differences in subgroups within the studied age interval.

Developing a medicine for children/ neonates poses a variety of challenges including physiological and biological maturation, swallowing difficulties and low tolerance to unacceptable taste.^{34,35} Several requirements have been identified as key in the identification of a preferred paediatric dosage form.³⁶ Desirable attributes of a paediatric dosage form include:^{33,36}

- 1. Minimal administration frequency
- 2. Minimal impact on lifestyle
- 3. Convenient, easy, reliable administration
 - a. Acceptable and palatable dosage form (e.g. syrups and suspensions instead of traditional solid forms, e.g. tablets)
 - b. Minimal requirement for complex calculations for prescribing, dispensing, and administration
 - c. Minimal manipulation by health care professionals, parents or caregivers
- 4. Dose and dose volume/weight adjusted to the intended age group
 - a. Soluble in small volumes
 - b. Parenteral preparations should contain small dose volumes, at the same time being administered via small needles or cannulas
- 5. Transportable and low bulk/weight
- 6. Easily produced, stable in variety of climates
- 7. Affordable in terms of costs
- 8. Commercially viable
- 9. Minimal, non-toxic excipients

Appropriate choice of excipients is indispensable for the implementation of all the above-mentioned requirements.

2.2 Pharmaceutical excipients

"Excipere" is a latin word meaning "to mix", "to gather"¹ or "other than".² In 1957, excipients were defined as substances used as a medium for giving a medicament, that is to say with simply the functions of an inert support of the active principle(s).³⁷ In 1974 they were described as "any more or less inert substance added to a prescription in order to confer a suitable consistency or form to the drug: a vehicle".³⁷ Nowadays the International Pharmaceutical Excipients Council (IPEC) defines an excipient "as any substance other than the active drug or pro-drug that is included in the manufacturing process or is contained in a finished pharmaceutical dosage form".³⁸

Historically, because of their lack of targeted pharmacological action, excipients have been considered inert agents and their importance has been largely underestimated.¹ In the past, excipients were derived from materials of natural origin and employed in the pharmaceutical field in original form, without further processing to improve their chemical or physical characteristics. Analytical tests conducted by pharmaceutical industry were limited and insufficient to characterise excipients' quality, even less their safety and functionality.³⁹ However, as early as 1950 T.G.Randolph called attention to the problems of excipients in medicines. He suggested that manufacturers change their excipients to less allergenic substances and state the composition of the "inert ingredients".⁴⁰ The traditional concept of excipient has undergone considerable evolution: from simple, chemically and pharmacologically inert vehicle to essential adjuvant, guaranteeing and optimising the performance of a modern medicinal product.³⁹

2.2.1 The role of pharmaceutical excipients in medicines

Excipients contribute to the performance of the drug to improve safety, bioavailability, and efficacy of the final formulation.³⁹ The properties of the final dosage form are, in the most part, highly dependent on excipients.⁴¹ Excipients (1) aid processing of the system during manufacture, (2) protect, support, or enhance stability, bioavailability, or patients acceptability,³⁵ (3) assist in product identification, and (4) enhance any other attribute of the overall safety and effectiveness of the drug delivery system during storage and use.^{42,43}

One of the paradoxes of pharmaceutical formulation science is that, although excipients do not treat the disease, the disease cannot be treated without them.⁴⁴ Most bulk APIs are not useful to the patient until they are formulated into a medical product, and that would not be possible without excipients.⁴⁴ Excipients are required to overcome the chemical, physical, and microbiological challenges posed by developing a (paediatric/ neonatal) formulation to achieve a predictable therapeutic response. Almost all pharmaceutical design aspects are in direct relation to the excipients (Figure 1).⁴⁵

The concept of "functionality", introduced recently, means adding excipients in order to enhance performance, quality, and safety profile of medicinal product.^{39,46} For example, liposomal amphotericin reduces exposure of renal tubular cells and subsequent toxicity.⁴⁷ In some cases, excipients are essential to ensure the stability of the API and/ or to optimise the delivery or the kinetics of the API and therefore have a substantial effect on bioavailability.⁴³

Accordingly, it alludes to excipients having a purpose, which contrasts with the old terminology of "inactive ingredients" which hints at the property of inertness.⁴⁶



Figure 1. Pharmaceutical design aspects (adapted from Riet-Nales et al., 2016)⁴⁵

2.2.2 Classification of excipients

Excipients can be classified in different manner, e.g. based on type (standard, mixed or co-processed excipients), origin (animal, vegetable, mineral or synthetic sources), chemical class (alcohols, carboxylic acid, carbohydrates, dyes, esters, glycerides, halogenated hydrocarbon derivates, organic mercurial salts, phenolic compounds, proteins or polymers), and functions excipients perform in the formulations.^{48,49} The most appropriate from the clinical point of view and therefore often used classification is based on the function – excipients are sub-divided into various functional classes, depending on the role that they are intended to play in the resultant formulation (Table 1).

Certain excipients can have different functional roles in different formulation types and its concentration may vary depending on the purpose of use. For example, propylene glycol can be used as a solvent, antimicrobial preservative, humectant, stabilising agent, or plasticiser.⁴¹

Excipient category	Function in formulation	Examples*
Diluents	Fillers, bulking agents	Lactose, sorbitol, starch
Binders	Adhesives	Acacia, gelatin, povidone
Lubricants	Reduce inter-particular friction	Talc, surfactants, stearic acid
Glidants	Improve flow characteristics of powder mixture	Colloidal silicon dioxide, corn starch
Disintegrants	Facilitate disintegration after administration	Starches, cellulose, clays
Coating materials	Protect tablet ingredients	Povidone, beeswax, acacia
Solvents	Dissolving solute/ API	Water, ethanol, acetone
Co-solvents	Increase the solubility of solute in solvents	Ethanol, sorbitol, propylene glycol, glycerin
Buffers	Maintain pH	Phosphate buffers, acetate buffers
Antimicrobial preservatives	Prevent microbial growth	Benzyl alcohol, parabens
Antioxidants	Control oxidation	Ascorbic acid, tocopherols
Wetting agents	Aid wetting and dispersion of hydrophobic APIs	Sodium lauryl sulphate, lecithins, polysorbates
Antifoaming agents	Discourage formation of foam	Simethicone, alcohols
Thickening agents	Prevent settling/ sedimentation	Methylcellulose, microcrystalline cellulose
Humectants	Retard evaporation of aqueous vehicles	Propylene glycol, glycerol
Chelating agents	Protect from catalysis	Disodium EDTA, citric acid
Emulsifying agents	Prevent coalescence	Sodium lauryl sulphate
Flocculating agents	Prevent caking	Starch, sodium alginate
Sweeteners	Impart sweetness	Sorbitol, saccharin, sucrose
Coloring agents	Aesthetic appearance, product identification	Amaranth, erythrosine, eosin, titanium dioxide, carotene
Flavours	Impart flavour	Aromatic waters, syrup, menthol, orange

Table 1. Classification of excipients by function (modified from Chaudhari and Patil,)

*Excipients that is of interest in this thesis are shown in bold EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

2.2.3 Pharmacological principles of excipients in neonates and adults

PK include parameters of ADME and determine the relationship between the exposure and body concentration.³⁰ In terms of physiological and anatomical factors the neonate has to be considered as a "unique drug recipient".^{1,50,51} For all the specific variables of the drug kinetics (absorption, blood esterase activity, body water and lipid ratios, plasma protein binding, organ perfusion rates, metabolic degradation and elimination), there are clear differences between neonates and older infants and children not to mention adults.^{13,50,52,53}

Drug pharmacodynamics (PD), i.e. biochemical and physiologic effects exerted in the body, may also vary in neonates in terms of drug-receptor interactions, receptor number, receptor affinity, and receptor regulation and modulation.^{54–56} In combination with altered PK, this may influence the therapeutic and toxic effects of pharmaceutical product significantly.⁵⁴ Still, there is a lack of tools to assess PD effects in neonates and little information exists about the effect of human ontogeny on interactions between drugs and receptors and the consequence of these interactions.^{55,56}

Singularity of neonatal PK/ PD in relation to excipients. Anatomical, physiological, and biochemical changes that occur from birth as well as any pathologic condition affecting the newborn influence PK/ PD of drugs as well as excipients.^{57,58} In developmental pharmacology this immaturity is well documented as influencing the dose of drugs administered to neonates but less well described is the effect on the handling of pharmaceutical excipients.⁵⁹

For enteral medicines, the variability in gastric pH, prolonged rate of gastric emptying, immaturity of the intestinal mucosa, and decreased first-pass metabolic capacity may predispose newborns to higher oral bioavailability and systemic concentrations for some chemicals.^{34,51,52,60–62} Decreased levels of serum binding proteins,⁶³ but also the presence of increased serum fatty acid and bilirubin levels, can increase the unbound fraction of excipients.^{52,60}

Higher relative amount in combination with immature metabolic/ elimination pathways^{64,65} may lead to the saturation of metabolism and accumulation of an excipient.⁶⁶ Hydroxylating activity⁶³ and conjugation with glucuronic acid (glucuronidation)^{65,67} appear to be the two metabolic pathways which are the most defective at birth, while sulphate⁶⁸ and glycine conjugation and dealkylation activities are close to the adult pattern.^{50,69} Cytochrome P450 content in neonates is 50% that of adult levels. Tran et al. reported estimated alcohol dehydrogenase content to be about 10-fold lower in perinatal period compared to adults.⁷⁰ Renal elimination is also reduced in neonates due to immature glomerular filtration, tubular secretion and reabsorption.^{71,72} As a result, both renally- and hepatically-cleared pharmaceuticals may exhibit longer half-lives.^{73,74}

Early postnatal period includes the primary developmental events of the central nervous system and is extremely susceptible to certain neurotoxins such as **propylene glycol** and **ethanol**.⁷⁵ Neonates may have proportionately higher brain levels of circulating chemicals due to a higher brain to body weight

ratio,⁷⁶ lower levels of plasma proteins, and the fact, that molecules that enter the cerebrospinal fluid and brain during early development are cleared more slowly and will accumulate to a greater extent than later in development.⁷⁷

Simultaneous administration of multiple excipients metabolised/ eliminated through the same immature pathways may further increase the accumulation of potentially toxic substrates.⁹ For example, **propylene glycol** accumulation may occur when administered in combination with another substrate of alcohol dehydrogenase (limiting step of metabolism) such as **ethanol**.⁹

Accumulation of **propylene glycol** in neonates following repeated administration was demonstrated.^{78,79} The initial renal elimination of propylene glycol in (pre)term neonates is 15% of total clearance compared to 45% in adults.⁸⁰ Potential accumulation/ toxicity of propylene glycol is also affected by the activity and saturation of alcohol- and aldehyde dehydrogenase.⁶⁶ The Du et al. study confirmed that significant propylene glycol concentrations may be obtained in the brain (up to ~ 0.456 mg/g tissue) following a single dose of 1 mg/kg in rats.⁸¹ In the Kelner and Bailey study with five patients receiving medications containing propylene glycol, the cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of propylene glycol were as high as 85% of the serum concentrations.⁸²

The fact that PK may also have great variations within the neonatal population in relation to the developmental age of the newborn was confirmed by De Cock et al. who showed that birth weight and postnatal age are the most important covariates for clearance of propylene glycol in neonates.⁷⁸

Benzyl alcohol is metabolised to benzoic acid for further detoxification through glycine conjugation to form hippuric acid.⁸³ The availability of glycine is the rate-limiting factor in the formation of hippuric acid.⁸⁴ Although the glycine conjugation pathway is relatively mature in term newborns, preterm neonates are unable to conjugate benzoic acid efficiently.^{7,10,85} The main safety concern with **benzoic acid** is its ability to displace bilirubin from albumin.⁸⁶ This risk exists with oral, parenteral, and topical formulations. The hazard/ risk of developing kernicterus is also to be considered when benzyl alcohol is used since benzoic acid in the urine of premature neonates compared with term newborns after exposure to benzyl alcohol, indicating that hippuric acid formation is deficient in given patients.⁷

Para-hydroxybenzoic acid (PHBA), the principal metabolite of **parabens**, may be conjugated with glycine or sulfate (maturity is close to the adult levels) and glucuronic acid (immature in neonates) for further renal elimination. In principle, one more mature metabolic pathway might compensate the immature one. However, higher proportions of free parabens were determined in urinary spot samples from preterm neonates compared to adults, still showing the prevalence of metabolic immaturity.⁸⁷

2.3 Safety of pharmaceutical excipients in children and neonates

"As to diseases, make a habit of two things – to help, or at least, to do no harm." (Hippocrates; ca. 460 BC – ca. 370 BC)

Safety is one of the most important requirements (besides quality and efficacy/ functionality) of the pharmaceutical compound including excipients.³⁷

2.3.1 Disasters with pharmaceutical excipients

The inclusion of excipients with inadequately studied safety profile in medicines has resulted in several disasters (Table 2).

Year	Drug	Excipient	Deaths	Country
1937	Sulphanilamide elixir	Diethylene glycol used as solvent	105	USA
1970	Bathing foam	Contained hexachlorophene	Significant number of neonates developed neurotoxicity	USA
1972	Talc baby powder	Contained 6.3% hexachlorophene	36	France
1982	Sodium chloride Water	Benzyl alcohol	16	USA
1984	Vitamin E	Polysorbate 80	38	USA
1992	Paracetamol	Diethylene glycol used as solvent	47	Nigeria
1995	Paracetamol	Diethylene glycol used as solvent	51	Bangladesh
1998	Paracetamol	Diethylene glycol used as solvent	85	Haiti
2006	Cough syrup	Glycerine contaminated with diethylene glycol	46	Panama
2008	Teething formula	Glycerine contaminated with diethylene glycol	84	Nigeria

Table 2. Paediatric excipient disasters (modified from Choonara and Rieder, 2002)⁸⁹

"...to realize that six human beings, all of them my patients, one of them my best friend, are dead because they took medicine that I prescribed for them innocently, and to realize that that medicine which I had used for years in such

cases suddenly had become a deadly poison in its newest and most modern form..." (Letter by Dr. A.S. Calhoun, October 22, 1937)⁸⁸ Seventy-one adults and 34 children died in 1937 after taking an "Elixir Sulfanilamide"; the United States (US) Food and Drug Administration (FDA) identified diethylene glycol, the excipient used as a solvent, as the killer.⁸⁸ Unfortunately, one of the earliest disasters in modern paediatric drug therapy has been the most repeated (Table 2).

Nowadays, it is clear, that common excipients used in a formulation may have an unintended influence on bioavailability/ bioequivalence in children and neonatal population.⁹⁰ The historical assumption that excipients are inactive is rapidly fading. Unfortunately, the safety issues of excipients still do not receive a proper attention in modern neonatal pharmaceutical care and are not just historical events.⁴⁷

2.3.2 Types of excipient interactions/ toxicity

Excipients have the potential to harm patients in two ways. First, by introduction of a chemical (e.g. toxicity, physiological effect) or physical hazard (e.g. irritation). Secondly, adversely affecting the API availability or performance (e.g. changes in the bioavailability or modified release).⁹¹ Excipients have been associated with specific safety issues: allergic reactions, intolerances, diminished absorption of API, inhibition of physiological processes, cytotoxicity etc.¹ Today, it is well known that certain excipients may produce incompatibles with the API, another excipient or with intracellular chemicals – excipient-drug, excipient-excipient, and excipient-human body interactions.⁴⁹ Some examples of different types of interactions are shown in Table 3.

Excipient	Type of interaction	Description
Diethylene glycol	Excipient-body	CNS, renal, and hepatic toxicity ^{75,92}
Benzoic acid/ sodium benzoate	Excipient-drug	Pronounced inhibitory effect on the formation of salicyluric acid from salicylic acid and may result in increased concentration and persistence of salicylic acid in the body ⁹³
Ethanol	Excipient-excipient	Inhibits the formation of hippuric acid from benzoic acid ⁹⁴ Competitively inhibits the metabolism of propylene glycol ^{9,95}
Ethanol	Excipient-body	CNS depressant by binding to the gamma- aminobutyric acid A receptor ⁹⁶

Table 3. Different types of harmful excipient interactions

CNS, central nervous system

2.3.3 Classification based on safety of excipients

Based on the safety profile excipients were classified by Lass et al. (Table 4) as potentially safe, potentially harmful and known to be harmful, and excipients with no safety data available or with unspecific description.¹⁵

Table 4	l. d f	Classification	of 20	excipients $(12)^{15}$	according	to	the	potential	safety/	toxicity
	u 1		, 20	12)						

Safety status	Description	Examples
Potentially safe	No ADR reported	Citric acid, hydrochloric acid, water, starch, simethicone
Potentially harmful and known to be harmful	ADR reported	Propylparaben, benzyl alcohol, benzoates, propylene glycol, polysorbate 80, ethanol, benzalkonium chloride, sorbitol
No safety data found	No data found in the literature on human exposure and toxicity	Sodium carmellose
Description of the excipient in SmPC or PIL unspecific	Description does not allow a specific literature search	Flavouring agents, coloring agents

ADR, adverse drug reaction; PIL, package insert leaflet; SmPC, summary of product characteristics

2.3.4 Potentially harmful excipients in neonates

Today, we have well established (does not mean exhaustive) safety databases on existing excipients, and new excipients are required to undergo extensive animal safety testing before they can be used in clinical studies.⁹⁷ For some excipients, there are data to support "safe" exposure levels in adults. However, the safety profile of some common excipients (Table 4; Table 5) may differ between children and adults as well as across the various paediatric sub-groups. Excipients that have been highlighted as having a potential to cause toxicological problems in neonates are shown in Table 5. These are referred to as excipients of concern or problematic excipients or excipients of interest (EOI) for this thesis.

Excipient	Reported adverse effects	
	Newborns (<28 days old)	Children >28 days old
Propyl- paraben	Hyperbilirubinemia, hypersensitivity reactions, (oestrogenic effects) ^{41,98}	Allergic reactions, bronchospasm ⁹⁸
Polysorbate 80	E-Ferol syndrome – thrombo- cytopenia, renal dysfunction, hepatomegaly, cholestasis, ascites, hypotension, metabolic acidosis ⁴¹	Hypersensitivity following topical and intramuscular use ⁴¹
Propylene glycol	Skin irritation, CNS depression, cardiovascular, hepatic, respiratory adverse events, hyperosmolality; lactic acidosis ^{1,41,98}	Large volumes associated with adverse effects most commonly on the CNS ⁴¹
Benzyl alcohol	Metabolic acidosis, seizures, gasping, intraventricular haemorrhage, kernicterus, fatal toxic syndrome ^{1,41,85,98,99}	May cause toxic and allergic reactions in children up to 3 years old ^{98,100}
Benzoic acid, sodium benzoate	Hypersensitivity, kernicterus ^{41,86,98}	Skin, eye, and lung irritation, urticaria, angiooedema ⁹⁸
Saccharin sodium	Urticaria, photosensitivity reactions ¹⁰¹	Generally regarded as safe; skin hypersensitivity ⁴¹
Sorbitol	Diarrhoea, nutrient malabsorption, diabetic-like symptoms ^{49,102}	Mild laxative effect ⁹⁸
Ethanol	Lactic acidosis; hypoglycaemia; CNS effects ^{1,41,103}	Harmful for those with liver disease or epilepsy; skin irritation; may alter the effects of other medicines; hypoglycaemia; CNS effects ^{96,98,103}
Benzal- konium chloride	Ototoxic when applied to ear, skin irritation and hypersensitivity, eye irritation ^{1,41,98}	Skin and eye irritation, bronchospasm ^{98,104}

 Table 5. Excipients with reported adverse effects in neonates and older children

CNS, central nervous system

2.3.4.1 Safety of EOI and current implications

The amount usually plays a critical role in safety/ toxicity of excipient in formulation. Maximum tolerated doses for excipients, determined by animal safety testing, are usually referenced for use in adults and are not necessarily applicable to their use in children and particularly in neonates. Furthermore, even in adults saturation of metabolic clearance of e.g. propylene glycol occurs at lower doses (0.2 g/kg) than in rats and rabbits (2 g/kg),⁶⁶ indicating the imperfection of animal safety studies. While acceptable daily and cumulative intake of excipients is not clearly defined for different paediatric age groups,

some excipients, e.g. benzyl alcohol, should be totally avoided in neonates.⁸³ Fortunately, existing clinical data and comprehensive set of non-clinical data have allowed estimating the acceptable daily intake (ADI) and no observed adverse effect levels (NOAEL) for some excipients that are of interest in this thesis (Table 6).

Excipient	ADI	NOAEL	Comments
Propylparaben ⁸⁷	2 mg/kg	100 mg/kg	Applicable to all ages including neonatal period
Polysorbate 80 ^{105,106}	10 mg/kg calculated as total polysorbate esters	1000 mg/kg	No neonatal data E-Ferol syndrome in preterm neonates
Propylene glycol ^{66,107}	1 mg/kg (neonates) 50 mg/kg (< 5 years) 500 mg/kg (adults)	192 mg/kg (term neonate) 150 mg/kg (1-year child) 126 mg/kg (4-year child)	Co-administration with any substrate of alcohol dehydrogenase such as ethanol may induce serious ADRs in neonates
Benzyl alcohol ^{41,98,100,108}	Should not be used in neonates 5 mg/kg (adults, WHO) Subchronic 1 mg/kg; chronic 0.3 mg/kg (adults, EPA)	Not specified	No paediatric data "Gasping syndrome" observed in neonates. May cause toxic and allergic reactions in children up to 3 years old
Benzoic acid, sodium benzoate ⁸⁶	5 mg/kg (sum of all)	500 mg/kg	No neonatal data Inhibitory effect on the formation of salicyluric acid from salicylic acid Displace bilirubin from albumin
Saccharin sodium ⁴¹	2.5–5 mg/kg	Not specified	No neonatal data
Sorbitol ⁴¹	Not specified (< 20 g/day in adults)	Not specified	No paediatric data
Ethanol ^{33,103}	Blood ethanol levels should not exceed 25 mg/dL (AAP)/ 1 mg/dL (EMA) after a single dose (or a dose of 6 mg/kg) in children younger than 6 years	Not specified	CNS effects at 10 mg/dL
Benzalkonium chloride	Not specified	Not specified	As residue in food 0.1 mg/kg

Table 6. Acceptable daily intake (ADI) and no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) of EOI

AAP, American Academy of Pediatrics; ADR, adverse drug reaction; CNS, central nervous system; EMA, European Medicines Agency; EOI, excipient of interest; EPA, Environmental Protection Agency; WHO, World Health Organisation

Propylene glycol is commonly used as an excipient in a variety of drugs and it is also authorised in food products and cosmetics. While it is generally considered safe as a food additive, concerns have repeatedly been raised about potential toxicity of propylene glycol and its acidic metabolites following pharmacologic exposure.⁶⁶ High doses of propylene glycol in neonates may result in both biochemical (e.g. hyperosmolarity, lactic acidosis, plasma creatinine, bilirubin) and clinical (cardiovascular, central nervous system (CNS), renal, respiratory, hepatic, hematologic) toxicity.^{95,107} For example, Peleg et al. reported a case of propylene glycol intoxication in a premature infant. The infant went into a state of coma after treatment for burns with antiseptic dressings containing propylene glycol. Cessation of the topical treatment resulted in complete recovery. High peak of propylene glycol was measured in urine.⁶ MacDonald et al. showed that neonates receiving 3000 mg/day of propylene glycol as a vehicle in an intravenous multivitamin preparation had a higher incidence of seizures than those receiving 300 mg/day in a different vitamin preparation.¹¹⁴ Clinical data showed that in children from the age of 5 years and adult patients, up to 500 mg/kg/day of propylene glycol could be considered safe.¹⁰⁷ In MacDonalt et al. study neonates receiving 300 mg/day of propylene glycol had a higher risk of developing hyperosmolality compared with neonates not exposed.¹¹⁴ Therefore, EMA decreased the safety threshold for propylene glycol to 50 mg/kg/day in children less than five years old, and even to 1 mg/kg/day in preterm and term neonates 107

Ethanol has been commonly used for years in paediatric and neonatal liquid formulations as a solvent and preservative despite the lack of safety, PK, and PD data. Ethanol acts as a CNS depressant by binding to the gamma-aminobutyric acid A (GABA-A) receptor and by increasing the inhibitory activity of the neurotransmitter GABA.⁹⁶ Other ethanol related toxicities in children include hypoglycemia, acidosis, respiratory depression, seizures, hypothermia, and electrolyte abnormalities.¹¹⁵

Newborns and infants are at higher risk of both acute and chronic alcoholrelated toxicities, e.g. some ethanol containing furosemide and iron formulations are given to the premature newborns for months.⁹⁶ Recently, Svirskis et al. identified 47 paediatric liquid medicines in New Zeland containing ethanol and indicated for both acute and chronic use in patients of all ages including preterm neonates.¹¹⁶ In 1999 Fiocchi et al. found 103 drug products containing ethanol for prescription in children, each of which was able to deliver a theoretical blood concentration more than 20 mg/dL.¹¹⁷

Ethanol may cause lasting defects in cognition and behavior in neonates where neuronal differentiation, myelination, and migration are not fully developed.⁷⁶ Toxicity on brain maturation in neonates is also supported by non-clinical data.³³ As well, chronic exposure has been shown to be linked to dependence in adolescents and adults.³³ Additionally, ethanol inhibits the formation of hippuric acid from benzoic acid,⁹⁴ slowing the metabolism of another potentially harmful excipient (Table 5). Moreover, when administered concomitantly with propylene

glycol, ethanol has a 10 to 20 times greater affinity for alcohol dehydrogenase and therefore competitively inhibits the metabolism of the former and may lead to elevated/ toxic concentrations of propylene glycol.^{9,95} In 2011 the US FDA notified healthcare professionals of serious health problems that have been reported in premature babies receiving Kaletra (lopinavir/ ritonavir) oral solution.⁹ This solution contains **ethanol** (42,4% v/v or 356 mg/ml) and **propylene glycol** (15,3% w/v or 152,7 mg/ml) in significant amounts. The consequences of administering such amounts of these excipients can be severe or possibly fatal – toxicity related to Kaletra oral solution included hyperosmolality with or without lactic acidosis, renal toxicity, CNS depression (including stupor, coma, and apnea), seizures, hypotonia, cardiac arrhythmias, electrocardiographic changes, and hemolysis.⁹ Given toxicity was linked to excipients.

It remains unclear what ethanol exposure is safe for neonates.¹¹⁸ Chronic exposure to ethanol (> 1 week), even in small doses, through pharmaceutical product is in principle contraindicated below six years of age and limited to two weeks above six years.³³ Adverse CNS effects are already reported with blood ethanol concentrations of 10 mg/dL in children.³³ Therefore the EMA recommendation¹⁰³ regarding blood ethanol level after a single dose in children younger than six years (Table 6) seems to be more expedient compared to the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Committee on Drugs.¹¹⁹

Bactericidal preservatives like **benzalkonium chloride** are frequently found in beclomethasone and ipratropium bromide nebuliser solutions and can cause paradoxical bronchoconstriction in asthmatic children.^{3,104} Padnos et al. described a 3-month old infant hospitalised for croup and underwent placement of tracheostomy tube, which could not be removed for three months because of the occurrence of difficulties in breathing, coughing spasms and development of severe cyanosis upon repeated attempts of extubation. The cause of respiratory difficulty was a severe haemorrhagic dermatitis of tracheal mucosa at the tracheostomy site as a reaction to the benzalkonium chloride solution used for disinfection.¹²⁰ Benzalkonium chloride has also been associated with ototoxicity and ophthalmological problems (conjunctivitis, corneal injury).⁴⁰ There are no data on ADI for benzalkonium chloride available.

The use of sweeteners and flavouring agents is particularly important in paediatrics to improve palatability.¹ The use of carbohydrates with the potential to raise plasma glucose such as fructose, glucose, or sucrose should be limited or avoided in diabetic children. **Sorbitol** can be used as a sweetener, humectant, and vehicle for oral and topical pharmaceutical liquids and therapeutically as an osmotic laxative/ cathartic. Including sorbitol in formulation as an excipient (sweetener) may entail such adverse drug reactions (ADR) as diarrhoea and malabsorption particularly in neonates.¹²¹ The accumulation of sorbitol in the body has been implicated in diabetic-like symptoms like retinopathy in neonates.⁴⁹ The recommendation for ADI of sorbitol in children is not available. Some allergic reactions have been associated with flavouring agents, the problem being the lack of data on exact composition of these complex mixtures, which may complicate the safety assessment.¹²² Napke and Stevens described a few cases of severe abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting following administration of erythromycin containing tincture of orange; the youngest patient was a 6-week old infant.¹²³ Substitution of given formulation with another formulated with cherry syrup resolved the problem immediately and completely. At that time (1984) the pharmacist responded as have many practitioners in the past: "The active ingredient is the same; the colouring and flavouring do not matter."¹²³

Fortunately, in recent years some new data have appeared providing the safe use of e.g. methyl hydroxybenzoate (methylparaben, MPB) in every age group including neonates. Parabens belong to a family of antimicrobial preservatives that are widely used in cosmetic, pharmaceutical, and food industries. During the last decade parabens have been extensively studied to evaluate male reproductive toxicity¹²⁴ because of the reports of weak *in vitro* estrogenic activity being between 10,000 to 100,000 fold less potent than that of oestradiol.¹²⁵ Oishi suggested that propyl hydroxybenzoate (propylparaben, PPB) adversely affects the hormonal secretion and the male reproductive function in rats decreased testosterone concentration, sperm production and efficiency;¹²⁶ at the same time MPB and ethylparabens did not show any adverse effect on the secretion of sex hormones or the male reproductive function.¹²⁷ Recent toxicity study conducted according to Good Laboratory Practice in an appropriate and statistically robust manner failed to reproduce the effects of PPB on reproductive function observed by Oishi.¹²⁸ This study showed an absence of toxic effects on the maturation of the male reproductive system, up to the highest dose of 1000 mg/kg/d of PPB, thus not indicating any endocrine disrupting potential.¹²⁸ These results were confirmed in another juvenile toxicity study conducted by Pouliot et al. and using rats treated from the neonatal period. (unpublished, referenced from EMA reflection paper⁸⁷) Thus, in a recent reflection paper, EMA concluded that the use of MPB in oral formulations up to 0.2% of the product (as within the recommended effective concentrations as a preservative) is not a concern for humans including the paediatric population whatever the age group. Regarding PPB, based on the results from recent studies, a conservative "no observed effect level" of 100 mg/kg has been determined with ADI of 2 mg/kg/day for the use in adults and paediatric patients.^{87,129} However, it was considered that the lack of estrogenic effect could not be ascertained at the high dose level in females.

Co-administration of different excipients. The number of different medications administered to a child is the most significant statistical association with the risk of ADR.¹³⁰ Published data show that the average number of drugs administered per infant in the neonatal intensive care units (NICU) has progressively increased over the years.¹³¹ Polypharmacy may lead to multiple sources of EOI, resulting in additive exposure and/ or interactions in metabolism. Ethanol is known to inhibit the formation of hippuric acid from benzoic acid (Table 3).⁹⁴ Benzyl alcohol, in turn, in rats inhibits noncompetitively activity of hepatic alcohol dehydrogenase and mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase.^{132,133} As excipient toxicity is dose dependent, cumulative exposure is one of the several factors determining the likelihood of toxic effects.⁹⁸ Shehab et al. observed a wide range in the cumulative dose of benzyl alcohol and propylene glycol from multiple formulations received by neonates with potentially toxic doses registered during routine care.¹³⁴

2.4 Exposure to EOI in neonates

"Excipients in neonatal formulations are never prescribed, but commonly administered." (Karel Allegaert)

According to available studies, several medicines frequently used in neonates may contain EOI (Table 7).¹⁵

Excipient	Function in formulation	Drug
Methyl- and propylparabens	Antimicrobial preservative	Gentamicin inj solution Heparin inj solution Iron oral solution
Propylene glycol	Antimicrobial preservative, humectant, plasticizer, solvent, stabilizing agent, water-miscible cosolvent	Salbutamol nebulisation solution Phenobarbital inj solution Lorazepam inj solution Diazepam oral solution
Polysorbate 80	Dispersing, emulsifying, solubilizing, suspending, and wetting agent, non-ionic surfactant	Epoetin alfa inj solution Phenobarbital inj solution Budesonide nebilisation solution Chloramphenicol opthalmic solution Miconazole ointment
Ethanol	Antimicrobial preservative, solvent, skin penetrant	Heparin ointment Miconazole ointment Alprostadil inj solution Iron syrup OTC products
Benzyl alcohol	Antimicrobial preservative, solvent	Heparin inj solution Phenobarbital inj solution Midazolam inj solution Hydrocortisone inj solution

Table 7. EOI in frequently used medicines in neonates^{15,16,41,116,134,135}

Excipient	Function in formulation	Drug
Sodium benzoate	Antimicrobial preservative, lubricant	Simethicone oral suspension Caffeine solution Zidovudine oral solution
Saccharin sodium	Sweetener	Simethicone oral suspension Iron oral solution Nystatin oral suspension
Sorbitol	Sweetener	Iron oral solution
Benzalkonium chloride	Antimicrobial preservative, solubilizing agent, wetting agent	Salbutamol nebulisation solution Chloramphenicol opthalmic solution

Table 7. Continuation

EOI, excipient of interest; inj, injection; OTC, over-the-counter drugs

Neonates admitted to the NICU may be exposed to more than 60 parenteral and more than 40 enteral medicines, each of which contains excipients.¹³⁶ Especially preterm neonates may be chronically exposed as a result of being treated with several medicines for extended periods. To date, only a few studies of estimated neonatal exposure to excipients have been conducted, one of the reasons being probably methodology issues.

2.4.1 Methods to assess the exposure to excipients

When planning medicine/ excipient exposure studies the research question to be answered needs to be balanced against the implications of study design. In principle, the use of medicines has to be studied first, and methods available in food safety and pharmacoepidemiology can be applied.^{137–139} However, information required in excipient studies may not be available in multi-country databases suitable for drug studies.¹⁴⁰ While these data may be available on sales level, individual exposures are of relevance.

2.4.1.1 Qualitative excipient exposure assessment

Different observational study designs can be used in pharmacoepidemiology and particularly in drug utilisation studies,^{57,139} not all of them are "perfect" for the assessment of excipient exposure. Case-control studies allow rich data collection for a limited number of medicines/ excipients/ patients and may be used to describe some e.g. ADR in an individual patient(s); data collection is limited to a few centers and therefore is not suitable for comprehensive exposure assessment. Cohort studies have the advantage of allowing data collection over prolonged time periods²⁴ and therefore can be of particular interest to study rare exposures/ outcomes and drug utilisation patterns over time.¹³⁹ However, the expense and duration make it hard to implement in multinational settings.²⁴

Economic evaluation plays a role in the choice of a specific study design. There is considerable overlap between acceptable methodologies and those sanctioned by health economists.¹⁴¹ Here, cross-sectional studies, also known as prevalence studies, are attractive for assessment of medicines use^{137,142–147} and can be used for estimating the exposure to excipients as well. Some advantages and disadvantages of different study designs when targeting to estimate excipient exposure are summarised in Table 8.

Study design	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Case-control	Allows rich data collection Allows investigation of rare exposures	Data collection is limited to a few centres Drug exposure data collected retrospectively	
Cohort design	Data can be collected pro- or retrospectively Allows data collection over prolonged time periods Allows rich data collection Allows estimation of risks Allows estimation of rare exposures	May not be feasible in multicentre/ multinational settings Resource and time-consuming In retrospective study data quality is questionable	
Cross- sectional	Allows multinational studies Allows multiple data collection Time and resource saving Depending on design allows individualised approach or data collection over prolonged period	Under- or overestimates exposure of rarely used agents Depending on design limited amount of data or covers very short time periods	
Databases analysis	Allows multinational studies Allows long-term collection Allows individualised approach	Do not contain data on formulation and/ or tradenames and/or manufacturers details Resource consuming	

Table 8. Advantages and disadvantages of different study designs in excipient exposure assessment using pharmacoepidemiological methods^{57,139}

Cross-sectional studies, often described as "taking a snapshot", seem to be the most appropriate for estimating excipient exposure in neonates because they require a relatively shorter time commitment and fewer resources to conduct. These studies can explore the role of factors associated with exposure,¹³⁹ data can be collected at the unit or individual level. An example of a unit level cross-sectional observation is a service evaluation survey (SES). Unit level data indicate which medicines are used (including distinct products, APIs, and excipients). In combination with demographic data about the units this method can provide indicative estimates of market size, that may justify the requirement of product reformulation or substitution. Unit level studies can have a longer duration but may not be manageable in a multinational setting.²⁴ With large volumes of data reported like in excipient studies and especially prolonged recall periods decreasing compliance and underestimation may occur.⁵⁷ Individual level data allow for stratification according to important clinical

variables such as the age of the newborn, but this approach requires an extra step of data collection. Point prevalence studies (PPS) have been used in antibiotic consumption studies.^{145,146,148} Their extremely short duration may underestimate exposure to less frequently used medicines.

2.4.2 Excipient exposure studies in practice – extent of neonatal exposure to EOI

There are few data available about the extent to which neonates are exposed to excipients (Table 9). Recent observational studies suggest that neonates are exposed to significant amounts of excipients including EOI, like ethanol, propylene glycol, benzyl alcohol, and sorbitol, with the doses occasionally exceeding internationally recommended limits of exposure.^{14,134}

Reference	Study population	Study duration	Results	Country
Shehab et al. 2009 ¹³⁴	Randomly selected sample of neonates from one tertiary care hospital exposed to BA (n=88) or PG (n=82) through parenteral medicines	12 months	Median (range) cumulative dose was 106.3 mg/kg/day (47.5–319.5) for BA ^a , and 4554.5 mg/kg/day (869.5– 9472.6) for PG ^b in neonates who received medicines via continuous infusion	USA
Whittaker et al. 2009 ¹⁴	38 preterm neonates (< 30 weeks gestation and < 1500g birth weight) from one neonatal unit	12 months	20 excipients identified Exposure to ethanol ranged from 0.2 to 1.8 ml/week Exposure to sorbitol ranged from 0.1 to 3.5 g/kg/week ^c All neonates given dexamethasone were exposed to PG with a dose above 25mg/kg/day ^b	UK
Lass et al. 2012 ¹⁵	838 neonates from two tertiary care hospitals	12 months	123 excipients identified 88% of neonates exposed to EOI	Estonia
Souza et al. 2014 ¹³⁵	79 neonates from one neonatal unit	3 months	86 excipients identified 87% of neonates exposed to EOI	Brazil
Fister et al. 2014 ¹⁶	48 neonates from one neonatal unit	1 month	60 different excipients identified All neonates exposed to EOI	Slovenia

Table 9. Revie	w of excip	pient exposure	studies ir	n neonates
----------------	------------	----------------	------------	------------

EOI, excipients of interest; BA, benzyl alcohol; PG, propylene glycol; ^aBA should not be used in neonates; in adults, recommended maximum daily intake is 1–5 mg/kg/day; ^bthe safety threshold for PG in neonates is 1 mg/kg/day; ^cusing the weight of an average adult male (70 kg) as the denominator, the adult recommendations (20 g/day) equate to 2 g. of sorbitol/kg/week

Despite the European Union (EU) and the US recommendations and incentives, medicines used in neonates still contain excipients with known potential for toxicity.^{32,43,149} Neonates in NICU may be exposed to over 20 different excipients per day through only commonly used drugs.¹⁴ In Fister et al. study from Slovenian neonatal unit every neonate was exposed to the two most common excipients known to cause harm to this age group – ethanol and propylene glycol – as these excipients are present in pharmaceutical products recommended for daily antirachitic prophylaxis (vitamin D formulation). Positively, neonates in this study were not exposed to benzyl alcohol. In contrast to this, Garcia-Palop et al. reported benzyl alcohol to be one of the most common EOI in parenteral medicines prescribed to neonates in Spain.¹⁵⁰

2.4.2.1 Quantitative exposure to EOI in neonates

Only few studies have tried to quantify exposure of neonates to EOI (Table 9). Whittaker et al. reported premature neonates exposed among other excipients to ethanol through iron supplements and furosemide, resulting in chronic exposure to low doses of ethanol (iron long-term therapy) and acute exposure to high doses (management of patent ductus arteriosus).¹⁴ Neonates with chronic lung disease were concominantly exposed to other EOI contained in dexamethasone – benzoic acid, propylene glycol, and sorbitol. All infants receiving dexamethasone exceeded the safe limit of propylene glycol¹⁴ accepted by WHO⁴¹ and EMA.⁶⁶

Shehab et al. reported the median cumulative doses of propylene glycol 180 times the ADI according to the WHO criteria.¹³⁴ Amount of propylene glycol administered to neonates during routine care in NICU exceeded the doses above which toxicity has been reported in infants. In the same study critically ill neonates on continuous infusions received a median cumulative dose of benzyl alcohol 21 times the adult ADI of 5 mg/kg/day.¹³⁴

Cordell et al. developed a highly sensitive quantitative method capable of detecting ethanol and its metabolites in micro-volume (≤ 100 microlitre) neonatal plasma samples left over from hospital testing.¹⁵¹ Further, Pandya et al. reported low blood ethanol concentrations in neonates administered iron and/ or furosemide but markedly elevated blood acetaldehyde, a potentially toxic metabolite of ethanol, concentrations in some preterm infants receiving these medicines.¹⁵²

2.5 Regulatory aspects and initiatives in paediatrics in terms of excipients

"He who studies medicine without books sails an uncharted sea, but he who studies medicine without patients does not go to sea at all." (William Osler; 1849–1919)

Until recently paediatric drug development was not considered an integral part of drug development, some of the reasons being lack of legal requirement to perform paediatric studies and ethical dilemma regarding patient recruitment.²⁹ Nowadays it is realised that children have the right to properly researched and regulated medicines, and therefore incentives have been proposed by the EU and US regulatory bodies to stimulate paediatric product development.^{97,153} The Regulation on medicinal products for paediatric use (Regulation (EC) 1901/2006) creates obligations with regards to conducting clinical trials in paediatric patients including neonates.¹⁵⁴ The EMA "Guideline on the investigation of medicinal products in the term and the preterm neonate" is addressing the impact of immaturity of different organ systems and should be relevant to all investigations of medicinal products that include participation of the neonatal population.¹⁸ Lately, an increase in paediatric studies was notable resulting in new paediatric information in product labeling. In a review of the US FDA databases, Laughon et al. identified 28 drug products studied in neonates and 24 resulted in labeling changes between 1997 and 2010; only for 11 products changes established safety and effectiveness.¹⁵⁵

In the past, the attention of the pharmaceutical industry and the Regulatory Authorities was directed mainly to controlling the quality of the API rather than that of the excipients; with the approval of drug product came the acceptance of the excipient with their inertness and innocuity taken for granted.¹⁵⁶ Nowadays, according to regulatory requirements from EMA and the US FDA, excipients have to be appropriately evaluated for safety.^{39,43,157–159} However, although the US FDA provides guidance for industry on non-clinical studies for the safety evaluation of excipients, and the Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives evaluates excipients taking into consideration the results of long-term toxicological studies with the publication of an ADI, safe levels of excipients in the paediatric and particularly neonatal population are not defined for the majority of excipients.^{160,161}

The presence of each excipient in pharmaceutical formulation must be justified both in qualitative (functional) and quantitative terms (optimal amount); an explanation of the choice of the excipient should be provided.¹⁶² Juvenile animal toxicity data should be considered when previous animal and human safety data are judged to be insufficient to support paediatric use. Warning statements relating to the presence of certain excipients in medicinal products have been published by EMA in the guideline "Excipients in the label and package leaflet of medicinal products for human use", intended for use by competent authorities, applicants for a Marketing Authorisation and Marketing Authorisation Holders.⁹⁸ It provides, that excipients known to have a recognised action or effect, e.g. those listed in the Annex to given guideline,⁹⁸ need to be declared on the labelling of all products under a separate subheading qualitatively and quantitatively; any adverse reaction specific to excipients should be included.¹⁶³ Thus, since 2010 new medicines have to stipulate the quantitative data regarding excipients, listed in the abovementioned Annex, in the summary of product characteristics (SmPC). However, there is no such obligation for the medicines put on the market before 2010. Additionally, since the last revision of the guideline in July 2003, several safety concerns regarding excipients not currently addressed in the guideline, have been identified. For example, the current guideline does not include polysorbate 80 and saccharin sodium. Following the European Commission decision, the objective of the Excipients listed in the Annex of the guideline mentioned above to encompass pregnant women and children, as well as to add new excipients to the list.¹⁶⁴ The ExcpDG prepares a questions-and-answers document for each excipient under review.^{86,100,103,107,165}

IPEC is an international industry association formed in 1991 by manufacturers and users of excipients.^{38,166} IPEC's objective is to contribute to the development and harmonization of international excipient standards. According to the IPEC guide "Qualification of Excipients for Pharmaceutical Use" pharmaceutical formulators should consider the proper use of the excipient – the key principle is that of protecting the patient. Although this guide does not address children and neonates as a special population, it states that the intended end use (e.g. neonatal population) of the excipient should be identified and considered in determining appropriate regulatory and Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) requirements for the excipient;¹⁶⁶ safety, quality and functionality are the main requirements.¹⁶⁷ Recently, IPEC-America submitted suggestion that including information on paediatric use of excipients would improve the quality of data in the US FDA's inactive ingredients database (IID).¹⁶⁸

The last EU risk assessment guidelines for excipients $(2015/C95/02)^{169}$ requires appropriate GMP for all excipients in medicinal products for human use to be ascertained by a formalised risk assessment in accordance with ICH guideline Q9 on Quality Risk Management (ICH Q9).¹⁷⁰

2.5.1 Including EOI into medicines during manufacturing process (selection of excipients)

"Coming together is a beginning. Keeping together is progress. Working together is success." (Henry Ford; 1863–1947)

EMA guidelines state that marketing authorisation applicants and holders should ensure that inclusion of excipients into the paediatric/ neonatal formulation is justified and the smallest amount is used to achieve the desired function.¹⁸

The selection and use of excipients in paediatric formulations should take into consideration the following:^{32,33,171}

- 1. The functionality and safety/ toxicity profile across proposed population
 - a. Efficiency/ function of excipient in the formulation and potential alternatives
 - b. Metabolism and elimination pathways of an excipient
 - c. Toxicity/ safety in the specific age group
- 2. Therapeutic indication, criticality of the condition to be treated and the therapeutic alternatives
- 3. Dosage regimen i.e. exposure
 - a. Acceptable daily intake (acute toxicity)
 - b. The frequency of dosing
 - c. The duration of treatment (chronic toxicity)
 - d. Polypharmacotherapy (additive toxicity)
- 4. Route of administration

It is not acceptable to include in a medicinal product an ingredient (excipient) that is not genuinely needed, e.g. preservative agents should not be included in a sterile single-dose product.¹⁷² The feasibility of this approach is well proven by the adoption of the AAP recommendation on removal of ethanol from over 700 liquid preparations for children by industry.⁵⁹

As stated by EMA, any risk identified for an excipient would be acceptable only on condition that this excipient cannot be substituted with a safer available alternative or where the overall benefit/ risk balance for the product outweighs the safety concerns.¹⁷³ If this would not be possible and replacement may raise other issues, sufficient development data demonstrating that the lowest concentration of excipient is used, should be established.^{33,173} For example, a singledose injection product should not contain benzyl alcohol as a preservative. However, if it is justified with scientific data, the use of benzyl alcohol would be allowed in a role of co-solvent for a poorly soluble API. The use of such product should be contraindicated in neonates and children up to 3 years old because of adverse reaction concerns.⁴⁶

2.6 Avoiding EOI in neonates

As discussed above excipients are necessary components of medicines and thus hardly can be totally avoided. Multiple situations have been seen over past 20 years, where contaminated products have caused deaths and serious injuries,¹⁷⁴ indicating that medicines without some specified excipients may not pose the gold standard. Most of these tragedies were caused by medicines produced by compounding pharmacies,¹⁷⁴ pointing again to the urgent need of age-appropriate dosage forms and strengths of APIs for the paediatric and particularly neonatal population to minimize the manipulations and therefore the risk of contamination and medication errors.

Errors in drug administration is potentially preventable issue that may result in toxic concentration of some excipients.³³ Errors with potential for harm are
three times more likely to occur in paediatric patients and particularly in neonates than in other age groups¹⁷⁵ due to the use of inappropriate formulations requiring complex calculations and measurement of tiny volumes or multiple dilutions.¹⁸ As a result, neonates are at risk of unpredictable dosing and side effects from potentially harmful ingredients, including excipients.^{176,177} For example, in 2007 a Dear Healthcare Provider Letter informed healthcare professionals about lethal overdose of Kaletra oral solution in a preterm neonate, given about ten times the calculated volume.¹⁷⁸ Another case was reported by Masi et al., where after receiving a high loading dose of amiodarone, the newborn rapidly developed cardiogenic shock and multiple organ failures.⁵ The hypothesis that the two excipients, benzyl alcohol and polysorbate 80, precipitated the occurrence of the ADRs seems plausible, because the plasma concentration of amiodarone and desethylamiodarone never reached toxic level.⁵

One way to overcome the use of some specified excipients may be to find novel excipients with better safety profile. However, for excipient suppliers developing a novel excipient is not very attractive because of the long development times (from polymer class selection to the launch to commercial sales ~ 12 years), high costs (~ \$5-10 million) and risk of failure (54% probability of success).¹⁷⁹ Also, pharma companies are often reluctant to use novel excipients.¹⁸⁰ A novel excipient needs to be toxicologically tested similarly to a new API.^{166,173} This requires full evaluation – acute toxicity, subchronical, chronical, genotoxicity and reproductive toxicity studies, and ADME – which would be enormously expensive.^{46,181} Despite that, it must be realized that safety issues may only become apparent when the product is used on a larger scale. Therefore, the added value of the novel excipient in a specific paediatric medicinal product must be well balanced against the use of other excipients with an established safety profile, other dosage forms or other routes of administration.³²

The most attractive way to reduce the exposure to problematic excipients may be to use medicines available on the market which do not contain harmful excipients instead of those with given excipients. As stated in the WHO report, the frequency and severity of ADRs varies among countries not only because of factors such as the spectrum of disease, comorbidities, and different genetic composition but also owing to variations in medicine production, pharmaceutical quality, composition (excipients) of locally-produced pharmaceutical products, and differences in medicine use.¹¹² As was shown by Brion et al., for 75% of products prepared extemporaneously in one country there are suitable licensed alternatives available in other countries.¹⁸²

Two animal studies have compared the "classic" parenteral amiodarone formulation containing polysorbate 80 and benzyl alcohol with the aqueous formulation, free of these excipients. It was concluded that aqueous formulation is a safer alternative to "classic" amiodarone due to the lack of hypotensive and cardiotoxic effects related to the excipients in the standard product.^{183,184} According to the study in humans by Gallik et al. aqueous amiodarone possesses PD effects that have been attributed to amiodarone, whereas it lacks the hypotensive effect of the standard intravenous amiodarone formulation.¹⁸⁵

van Riet-Nales et al. identified in Dutch medicines database 3542 drug products authorized for one or more paediatric age groups. Of all oral liquid products 52% (208 out of 400) contained at least one excipient of concern; for 22% an alternative liquid was available with the same API but not the given excipients.¹⁸⁶ However, this study was looking at paediatric products in general and within one country. From neonatal point of view, it means that the availability of EOI-free products for substitution is probably lower as different products may not be interchangeable when needed for a specific age category.¹⁸⁶ Contrariwise, these results give a hint that product substitution is possible as a matter of principle.

2.7 Summary of literature

Besides the desired API medicines also contain pharmaceutical excipients that are intended to improve quality and patient acceptability of medicines. Most drug products cannot be made without the use of excipients. Although excipients should be pharmacologically inactive, they may indeed cause significant adverse effects or even death, particularly in neonates. Here, the different physiology and metabolism/ elimination capacity of neonates compared to adults and older children as well as into-group variations in different GA groups should be considered.

Some excipients, i.e. parabens, propylene glycol, polysorbate 80, benzoates, benzyl alcohol, ethanol, saccharin sodium, sorbitol, and benzalkonium chloride have received considerable attention due to the possible adverse effects, particularly in neonates. Risks have been emphasized in several publications and recognized by the regulatory agencies. Still, there are very little systematic data about excipient exposure which is a cornerstone for a safety assessment. Only a few studies have looked at excipients exposure in children including neonates, most limited to a single country or small number of NICUs or of variable methodology. Europe-wide picture of excipients use in neonates is still missing. Moreover, there is a lack of information regarding the preferable/ optimal study methodology that should be used in the assessment of excipients exposure. We are not aware of any head to head comparison of different methods and thus the question how to navigate between different methods in excipient exposure research remains unanswered.

Preventing the administration of potentially harmful excipients to neonates is complex. Neonates are routinely given medicines with no specific paediatric information and therefore age-appropriate formulations may, among other things, solve some excipient's issues. Also, not all formulations with similar indications and APIs unconditionally contain the same excipients. The only study looking at product substitution as the opportunity to reduce exposure to EOI among paediatric medicines was performed within one country and found safer alternative products for one-fifth of oral liquid products with potentially harmful excipients.¹⁸⁶ To our best knowledge there are no studies on a European scale looking at substitution possibilities in neonates.

3. AIMS OF THE RESEARCH

The general aim of this thesis was to access the Europe-wide scale of neonatal excipient exposure with the emphasis to EOIs and to explore the opportunity for reduction of exposure to EOI through product substitution.

The research had the following specific objectives:

- 1. To compare two different study designs in medicine/ excipient exposure assessment to identify the impact of study design on obtained results and enable implementation of optimal study designs in relation to research question in future studies
- 2. To compose a comprehensive list of medicines/ excipients used in European NICUs to identify the scale of the problem with overall number of different products used in neonates and proportion of products containing EOI
- 3. To describe individual EOI administration to European neonates and identify factors associated with exposure to EOI to detect the highest risk situations and subpopulations
- 4. To identify regional and unit-wide variations in neonatal exposure to EOI in European NICUs
- 5. To determine opportunities for product substitution among those available on the European market in order to reduce the administration of EOI on product and individual level

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

This thesis is based on the two multicentre observational cross-sectional studies of routine clinical practice conducted in European NICUs as part of a European Study of Neonatal Exposure to Excipients (ESNEE) as presented in Table 10.

Study characteristics	Timing	Population/ prescriptions	Primary aim	Publication
Service evaluation survey	30.05.2011 - 30.09.2011	115 NICUs from 20 countries	To describe general exposure to EOI To explore opportunities for product substitution	III
Point prevalence study	01.01.2012 – 30.06.2012	726 newborns from 89 NICUs from 21 countries	To describe administration of EOI and identify risk factors for exposure	II
Comparative methodology study	Analysis of the SES vs. PPS	APIs used in more than one unit in the SES	To compare the effect of two cross-sectional study designs on estimates of medicines/ excipient use	I

Table 10. Description of studies and analyses of the thesis

API, active pharmaceutical ingredient; EOI, excipients of interest; NICU, neonatal intensive care unit; SES, service evaluation survey; PPS, point prevalence study

4.1 Ethics

All studies were conducted in compliance with the Guidelines of Good Clinical Practice (GCP)¹⁸⁷ and the Declaration of Helsinki.¹⁸⁸ The SES did not collect any personal data and so did not require ethics committee approval. For participation in the PPS, Ethics Committee approval was obtained in compliance with the respective national guidelines (list available as supplementary material to Metsvaht et al.¹⁸⁹). No consent for individual patients was sought, as all data were collected in routine clinical practice and anonymised before leaving study sites.

4.2 Study design and data collection

We invited to participate all 27 EU countries plus Iceland, Norway, Switzerland, and Serbia. A network of national contact persons (Lead Contacts) was built by the ESNEE consortium.¹⁹⁰ Search for national Lead Contacts was carried out

through national professional/ scientific societies of neonatology, paediatrics and/ or perinatology as well as through personal contacts of the ESNEE consortium members or other FP-7-funded consortia (NeoMero, TINN).^{191,192}

Sample size calculation

In the SES study, the Lead Contacts were asked to recruit as many hospitals and units providing neonatal care in the country as possible and no formal sample size calculation was made.

In the PPS, sample size estimation was intended to be based on cluster sampling analysis stratified by country, assuming conservatively a 15% neonatal admission rate of all live births^{21,193–195} and a response rate of 50–70% of invited units as described in previous neonatal surveys.^{196–199} Based on the Eurostat Nomenclature of territorial units for statistics (NUTS) (or equivalent if NUTS classification is not available for the country) regional distribution of the population and reported nation-wide birth rates, the number of potentially available neonatal admissions was calculated and the representative sample size estimated for each country and region.²⁰⁰ A complete list of institutions involved in neonatal care was to be created for each randomly chosen NUTS2 region with subsequent involvement of all units to cover a whole region with proportional representation of different unit levels. As a full list of neonatal units was not available and the response rate in the SES did suggest insufficient recruitment, similarly to the SES, all contacts provided by Lead Contacts were invited to participate in the PPS.

Participating units

All general neonatal, intermediate and neonatal intensive care, as well as mixed paediatric and neonatal intensive care units with more than 50% of admissions consisting of neonates, were eligible. Units were stratified according to the level of care as follows: level 1 providing neonatal special care; level 2 providing high dependency care, short-term intensive care and low birth weight (< 2500 g.) care, and level 3 providing comprehensive intensive care including extremely low birth weight (< 1000 g.) infants.^{201,202} Units offering different levels of care were classified according to the highest level they provided.

Data collection

In both studies all eligible neonates (≤ 28 days of postnatal age) in the unit at 8 a.m. on the study day(s) were included. Each participating unit was free to choose the most appropriate day(s) for data collection during a prespecified period – from May 30th to September 30th, 2011 in the SES, and one of three fixed two-week periods from January 1st to June 30th, 2012 in the PPS.

In the SES all medicines prescribed to neonates were recorded on pre-formulated Excel spreadsheets over three consecutive days as detailed in Table 11.

In the PPS data collection was performed in a pre-populated web-based database within one day. Individual prescriptions and demographic data were recorded for all neonates receiving any prescriptions active on the study morning at 8 a.m as detailed in Table 11.

In both studies, printable data collection forms were available as an alternative to electronic data insertion.

Hospital form (only PPS)	Hospital name, population coverage, sub-type of hospital ^a , name/ email/ post address of the ESNEE administrator/ contact person, names of neonatal units, names/ emails of local investigators
Department form (SES and PPS)	Date of survey, name of department, type of department, annual neonatal admissions/ admissions <32 weeks of GA, number of neonates during survey, number of patients receiving any drug
Neonatal demographic data (only PPS)	Patient identifier, date of birth, gender, APGAR score, GA, birth/ current weight, organ failures
Drug form (SES and PPS)	Trade name, manufacturer, active pharmaceutical ingredient, strength, strength unit, dosage form, route of administration
Prescription form (only PPS)	Single dose/ times a day, start of treatment

Table 11. Data collect	ted during	the SES	and PPS
-------------------------------	------------	---------	---------

^ateaching or non-teaching hospital

GA, gestational age; SES, service evaluation survey; PPS, point prevalence study

All prescriptions, including micronutrients, iron, vitamins, parenteral nutrition solutions, and topical agents were recorded. Blood products, glucose and electrolyte solutions, vaccines, nursery care topical agents, herbal medicines, and food including breast milk fortifiers were excluded. Extemporaneous/ compounded forms of medicines were not included in described analysis.

In both studies, the data were pooled for analysis without any comment on treatment strategies of individual participating units.

4.3 Data management

SES data collection forms were checked for legibility with two rounds of queries regarding missing data. Each drug product was classified according to trade name (i.e. brand name), manufacturer, pharmaceutical dosage form, and strength of API. The list of medicines obtained in the SES was used to prepopulate choices in the PPS database. To minimize the risk of data entry errors all "newly appearing" drug products in the PPS were added to the database by the ESNEE team.

4.4 Identification of excipients

Excipient content for each medicine was identified from the national SmPC which were first accessed through national medicines agencies and then through medicines agencies of other European countries if the drug product was not registered in the specified country. If needed, further searches from the homepages of manufacturers as well as from credible public databases (e.g. www.diagnosia.com), were performed. Finally, local hospital contacts were asked to provide information regarding excipient composition for medicines with no SmPC available.

Due to the significant amount of synonyms used in SmPCs the list of identified excipients was reviewed for possible overlaps using non-proprietary-, trade-, and chemical names, and Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) registry numbers. Excipients having different names but a same chemical base were consolidated, e.g. dibasic sodium phosphate includes anhydrous, dihydrate and dodecahydrate forms.

For more detailed analyses only EOI we included as detailed in Table 4 and Table 5. An excipient was considered as EOI if it was known to be harmful in neonates. The priority list of EOI for investigation (Table 5), was agreed upon using surveys conducted by the UK and Estonian partners.^{15,190} Polysorbate 80 was included in the priority list on the advice of EMA.¹⁹⁰

Finally, EOI were categorised in a non-exhaustive way into three groups based on main function: antimicrobial preservatives, i.e. parabens (propyl-, ethyl-, and methylparaben), benzoates (benzyl alcohol, benzoic acid, and sodium benzoate), and benzalkonium chloride; solvents and solubilising agents, i.e. propylene glycol, polysorbate 80, and ethanol; and sweetening agents, i.e. sorbitol and saccharin sodium. Although benzyl alcohol does not belong to benzoates chemically, in this study, it was included into benzoates group as a precursor of benzoic acid in humans.

4.5 Data analysis

Descriptive statistics were used as appropriate to describe the main features of collected data:

- Characterisation of participating units
 - Number of units from each country
 - Proportion of annual live births and neonatal admissions covered by study units in participating countries
 - Prevalence of different levels of care and teaching hospitals
- Consumption of medicines
 - Number of different formulations according to API, manufacturer, dosage form, route of administration, and strength of API
 - Comparison of estimated frequency of medicine use between the SES and PPS

- Demographic characteristics and prescription data of patients
 - Number/ proportion of neonates with at least one drug prescription
 - Number of prescriptions per neonate in relation to the GA in the PPS
- The general extent of EOI administration
 - Number/ proportion of products/ prescriptions containing at least one or more EOI in relation to the route of administration and geographical region
 - o Number/ proportion of neonates exposed to EOI

Characteristics of a variable's distribution are presented in tabular format and histograms; measures of central tendency (the mean, median) and variability (SD, IQR) were used where appropriate. To compare variables between each other and between the two study contingency tables were used to find odds ratios and confidence intervals.

Logistic regression analyses were performed to find the effect of study design in medicine use assessment and identify factors associated with the administration of EOI. Analyses were performed with Stata Software (ver. 12.1).

Product substitution analysis was performed with Microsoft® Excel 2013 (ver. 15.0). Simple logistic regression was used to determine the reduction in the odds of neonatal exposure to EOI through substitution.²⁰³

4.5.1 Exposure to EOI: extent and risk factors

The PPS data were used to estimate the influence of covariates on the administration of each EOI.

First, **univariate logistic regression analysis** was used to study the effect of potential covariates on the administration of each EOI (Table 13).

Further, a three-step **multivariable logistic regression analysis** was applied. All covariates with p < 0.05 from the univariate analysis were fitted into mixed effects models (Table 13). Model 1 aimed to identify variables associated with EOI administration to individual neonates. East region and extremely preterm neonates were used as the reference. Model 2 aimed to describe the associations between the above-mentioned covariates and the presence of a particular excipient in each prescription. In addition to covariates explored in model 1, API was included to adjust for variations in EOI administration by API. APIs were classified according to the 1st level of Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification; the 3rd level grouping was used for antibiotics. ATC group with the largest number of prescriptions with respective excipient was used as a reference. Finally, the route of administration was added into model 2 (Model 3) to inform on formulation-related variance and to estimate the potential for product substitution. Topical prescriptions were excluded from the latter analysis due to small numbers of prescriptions.

Model	Tested variables	Outcome variable
Univariate logistic regression analysis	Geographical region ^a GA category ^b Hospital teaching status Level of care ^c	Administration of a specified excipient to a neonate, yes/no
Three-step multivariable logistical regression analysis		
Model 1	Geographical region ^a GA category ^b Level of care ^c	Administration of a specified excipient to a neonate, yes/no
Model 2	API in addition to Model 1 variables	Presence of a specified excipient in a prescription,
Model 3	RofA in addition to Model 2	yes/no

Table 13. Statistical analyses in risk factor analysis

API, active pharmaceutical ingredient; GA, gestational age; RofA, route of administration ^aNorthern, Southern, Western, and Eastern Europe according to the United Nations Statistics Department)²⁰⁴

 b <28 weeks, called extremely preterm; 28 to <32 weeks very preterm; 32 to <37 weeks late preterm, and >37 weeks term neonates²⁰⁵

^{$\bar{c}}$ Level 1 with neonatal special care; level 2 with high dependency care, short-term intensive care, and low birth weight care, and level 3 with comprehensive intensive care for extremely low birth weight infants available^{201,202}</sup>

The likelihood ratio statistic for testing the null hypothesis of zero betweengroup variance confirmed the need for the addition of department to the models as a random effect to adjust for between-department variance.

4.5.2 Product substitution

The substitution was defined as a replacement possibility of an EOI-containing product with an EOI-free counterpart; a list of products created in the SES and complemented with products reported only in the PPS was used. Only APIs used in $\geq 10\%$ of units in the SES with at least one product containing EOI were included (paper III, Figure 1). Products considered as an alternative for substitution had to be free of any EOIs.

Substitution analysis did not include topical medicines due to the limited number of products. Also, multivitamins were excluded as defining adequate substitution possibilities proved unfeasible due to high variability in the composition of the multiple products used.

Opportunities for product substitution were evaluated in three stages (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Criteria for substitution according to the stages of analysis

The first stage was based on similarity of API and route of administration. In the second stage, dosage form was included to provide differentiation between liquid and solid forms of enteral medicines: "solution for injection", "powder for reconstitution", and "solution for injection/ oral" were all considered equivalent forms for parenteral administration; "oral solution", "oral drops", "oral suspension", "granules for reconstitution", "powder for reconstitution", "syrup", "solution for injection/ oral", and "emulsion" were considered equivalent forms for enteral administration. The third stage also included the strength of API to identify the extent of an "ideal" substitution available. Here we assumed that the strength of API in substituted product was optimal for the NICU where it had been used.

Subsequently, PPS data were used to explore potential reduction of individual exposure to EOI when all product substitution possibilities based on the second stage criteria were applied.

4.5.3 Effect of study methodology in medicine use assessment

Primary endpoints of the comparative methodology analysis were to find the average probabilities of the units to use any given API in the SES versus PPS and thereby to identify the effect size of the study method.

Secondary endpoints were to describe the implementation of each method and to explore the correlation between medicines' exposure at unit and individual levels.

Exploratory data analysis with ten most often used APIs was done to find potential confounders for further analysis. Population averaged Poisson regression model with robust standard errors²⁰⁶ was used (Table 14). The analysis included all units in both studies and was adjusted for department level, the status of teaching or non-teaching hospital, and European region; the p-values were corrected for multiple testing using Holm correction²⁰⁷.

Model	Included APIs	Tested variables
Population averaged Poisson regression model with robust standard errors ²⁰⁶	10 most often used APIs	Hospital teaching status Geographical region ^a Level of care ^b
Multilevel mixed effects logistic regression models with	APIs used in more than one unit in the	Geographical region ^a Level of care ^b
crossed random effects ²⁰⁸	SES	Unit size ^c Frequency of use ^d Duration of the prescription ^e
Polynomial regression model with square root transformation	-	None

 Table 14. Statistical analyses in comparative study

API, active pharmaceutical ingredient; SES, service evaluation survey

^aNorthern, Southern, Western, and Eastern Europe according to the United Nations Statistics department²⁰⁴

^bLevel 1 with neonatal special care; level 2 with high dependency care, short-term intensive care and low birth weight care, and level 3 with comprehensive intensive care for extremely low birth weight infants available^{201,202}

^cDescribed by number of annual admissions

^dDescribed by proportion of units using given API

^eDescribed by the average time from the start of prescription to the PPS study day

Considering the data structure with repeated observations on both department and API level, to eliminate possible deficiencies in statistical power multilevel mixed effects logistic regression models with crossed random effects²⁰⁸ were used (Table 14) to identify the effect size of the study method. Since the sample of departments in the two studies was partly overlapping, department and API were added to the model as a random effect when comparing the average odds of using an API between the two study methods. The outcome variable was a binary indicator showing whether an API was used in a specific unit in a specific study. All models were adjusted for potential confounders identified in an initial analysis.

As the assessment is likely to be affected by a number of additional parameters related to the use of a given drug, unit size, frequency of the use, and duration of the prescription were added into the analysis as covariates.

As nonlinear relationship between the number of units using each API and the number of prescriptions for that API was suggested, a polynomial regression model with square root transformation was used to study given relationship. The analysis was based on the PPS data.

The use of caffeine and morphine was reported differently in the two studies. UK units using "special" manufactured²⁰⁹ preparations, rather than extemporaneous formulations used in the rest of European countries, were over-represented in the PPS. Accordingly, these two APIs were excluded from the analysis.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

"Supposing is good, but finding out is better." (Mark Twain; 1835–1910)

5.1 Participating units in the SES and PPS

Altogether 20 and 21 countries (Figure 3) with 115 and 89 neonatal units joined the SES and PPS, respectively. The number of units per country varied from one to 20 (Figure 3). Data on drug use from Sweden were available only with respect to the whole country from a 4-day national study of drug consumption in 38 NICUs conducted previously in 2008; data by units were not available and thus could not be used in analysis of drug use frequency and variations, but drug list from this study was used in product substitution analysis.





Figure 3. Number of units participating in the SES (a) and PPS (b) by country. Blue color indicates Northern, yellow Western, green Eastern, and red Southern European region according to the United Nations Statistics Department.²⁰⁴ Number of neonatal units participating from each country is shown in parentheses.

In the SES a higher proportion of annual live births was covered compared to the PPS – 11% vs. 6% of 5,572,859 live births in invited countries in 2010, respectively; OR 1.89; 95% CI 1.87–1.89. Similarly, the proportion of annual admissions in participating units covered by the study was higher in the SES than the PPS (3% and 2% of 90,235 and 61,392 admissions, respectively; OR 1.58; 95% CI 1.48–1.68). Regional distribution was similar in both studies (paper I, Table 1). No difference in the prevalence of different levels of care between the two studies was observed. The lower prevalence of teaching hospitals in the SES as compared to the PPS (OR 0.47; 95% CI 0.24–0.92) (paper I, Table 1) makes the speculative assumption that physicians from bigger hospitals are more keen to be involved in more detailed and individualised approach. Prepopulation of a major part of the PPS database with no doubt makes it more attractive for researchers as well.

We have recruited so far one of the largest international cohorts of neonatal units from 21 European countries. Of note, the study did not involve some large European countries such as Germany. Altogether, 71% of invited countries participated. The number of units (by country coverage of live births) varied from 0.8% to 100%.

Due to the aim of attracting as many units as possible, hospitals were not randomly selected, that probably caused overrepresentation of tertiary or teaching hospitals (61% in the SES, 77% in the PPS compared to less than 10% according to available national hospital statistics²¹⁰). Nevertheless, data on the distribution of the levels of neonatal care allowed appropriate adjustments and both the SES and PPS have achieved representative sample size with a margin of error being 1.73% and 2.63%, respectively (CI 95%; response distribution 50%). However, it would be valid under the condition of randomisation that remained unfeasible in our studies due to the lack of comprehensive list of neonatal units as well as relatively modest response rate. Still, current retrospective calculation of study power gives a notion of good coverage of the studied population in the SES and PPS.

5.2 Medicines consumption in European NICUs

In the SES 313 APIs representing 1065 products from 332 manufacturers were registered. Parenteral formulations predominated with 616 (58%) products, followed by enteral and topical formulations with 325 (31%) and 124 (12%) products, respectively (Table 15).

In the PPS 1382 neonates received 2608 prescriptions for 624 products containing 280 APIs (Table 15). Excluding neonates > 28 days of age, without any drug prescription during the study day, and those receiving only prescriptions with unavailable excipient content data, the further analysis included 726 neonates, 2199 prescriptions, 562 products, and 246 APIs. Demographic characteristics of patients and prescription data are shown in paper II, Table 2. Slightly lower prevalence of enteral and higher prevalence of topical formulations was noted in the SES compared to the PPS with no difference in parenteral medicines use (paper I, Table 2).

	SES	PPS
No of prescriptions during the study period	NA	2608
Median (IQR) No of prescriptions per neonate	NA	2 (1;4)
No of APIs prescribed*	313	280
No of trade names (by name, manufacturer, pharmaceutical dosage form, and strength)	1065	624
No of manufacturers	332	235

Table 15. Drug use variability

*all components in multicomponent drugs are counted separately

API, active pharmaceutical ingredient; IQR, interquartile range; NA, not applicable; PPS, point prevalence study; SES, service evaluation survey

Thus, the longer study period (period prevalence in the SES vs. point prevalence in the PPS) and larger number of participating units in the SES expectedly resulted in a more comprehensive list of APIs as well as drug products.

In the PPS the number of prescriptions per neonate was inversely related to GA (Spearman's rank correlation coefficient -0.3949; p<0.0005), the average (SD) count per neonate being 4.53 (2.33); 3.95 (2.59); 2.68 (1.91), and 2.31 (1.93) in the extremely preterm, very preterm, late preterm, and term neonates, respectively. Higher drug utilization rates in preterm neonates as compared to term neonates have been described in previous studies. ^{24,131} That in combination with organ immaturity is putting preterm neonates at a higher risk of ADRs, including those related to excipients. For example, potentially toxic cumulative doses of benzyl alcohol and propylene glycol received by neonates during routine treatment were reported by Shehab et al.,¹³⁴ where neonates received up to four medicines containing benzyl alcohol (midazolam, phenobarbital, pancuronium, dexamethasone) and up to three medicines with propylene glycol (lorazepam, phenobarbital, digoxin).

The list of ten most often used medicines included nine APIs presented in both studies and also furosemide in the SES and caffeine in the PPS (Table 16). Not surprisingly, this list contains four antibacterials for systemic use. Antibacterials were found to be the most commonly prescribed medicines in NICUs almost in all studies.^{20,24,131,136}

ATC class (2nd level)	Active substance	% of uni	its using	No of p	roducts
		SES	PPS	SES	PPS
Antibacterials for systemic	gentamicin	74.1	51.7	26	21
use (J01)	ampicillin	60.2	40.5	20	22
	vancomycin	40.7	28.1	21	20
	benzylpenicillin	32.4	26.9	7	11
Antihemorrhagics (B02)	phytomenadione	73.2	31.5	11	11
Antianemic preparations (B03)	iron	57.4	37.1	27	18
Blood substitutes and	amino acids	56.5	30.3	11	5
perfusion solutions (B05)	lipids	44.4	25.8	7	6
Diuretics (C03)	furosemide	39.8	14.6	20	9
Vitamins (A11)	colecalciferol	37.9	41.6	16	22
Psychoanaleptics (N06)	caffeine	24.1	34.8	17	19

 Table 16. Frequency of use and variety of drug products for ten most frequently prescribed APIs

API, active pharmaceutical ingredient; ATC, anatomical therapeutical class; PPS, point prevalence study; SES, service evaluation survey

Among these commonly prescribed APIs EOI were previously reported in gentamicin, caffeine, iron, phytomenadione, and furosemide.^{14–16,135,211}



Great variation in products was observed for frequently used APIs in both studies (Table 16, Figure 4).

Figure 4. Variation of drug products for five most commonly used active ingredients (API) with proportion of units using each specified product*

PPS, point prevalence study; SES, service evaluation survey

*Each color indicates a single product. Similar color does not indicate identical products neither in the SES and PPS nor for different APIs

Three most frequently used formulations usually covered over 50% of units in both studies (mean%; SD: 64; 18 and 60; 20 in the SES and PPS, respectively). This means that in the case of the presence of EOI in these formulations substitution of a relatively small number of products may noticeably decrease neonatal exposure to these excipients.

5.3 Excipients in prescribed medicines – the scope of exposure

5.3.1 Describing the content of excipients in medicines

SmPCs were attainable for 927 (87%) of the 1065 reported medicines; for 77 (7%) products excipient data were obtained from queries. Thus, information on excipient composition was available for 1004 (94% of 1065) products. Usually, only qualitative data were presented, with quantitative excipient data available from public sources for only 6% of medicines. After unification of synonyms according to the European Pharmacopeia and integration of excipients with identical chemical base into one, overall 396 different excipients were identified. Among products without any excipients in the powder form prior administration (n=117) almost all were for parenteral use (n=111) with only six enteral formulations (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Proportion of products containing at least one excipient by route of administration in the SES

Of 2199 prescriptions and 562 products administered to 726 neonates in the PPS, excipient composition was available for 530 (94%) products with 2095 (95%) prescriptions.

5.3.2 The presence of EOI in medicines prescribed to neonates

Altogether 305 (30%) products contained at least one and 132 (13%) two and more EOIs (Figure 6). The median number of EOI per formulation was one (IQR 1; 2) with a maximum number of six (excipients from one group were counted once, e.g. methyl- and propylparabens). A higher proportion of products with EOI was observed in Northern NICUs compared with Western units (OR 1.83; 95% CI 1.24–2.68) with no differences between other European regions.



Figure 6. Number of products with one or more EOI in the SES

EOI, excipient of interest; SES, service evaluation survey

At least one EOI was found more frequently in enteral and topical compared to parenteral medicines (OR 8.4; 95% CI 6.1–11.7 and 6.2; 4.02–9.5, respectively) but no difference was found between enteral and topical formulations (OR 1.4; 95% CI 0.9–2.1) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Proportion of products containing at least one EOI by route of administration in the SES

EOI, excipient of interest; SES, service evaluation survey

Similar tendency was found for every single EOI with the exception for benzalkonium chloride present exclusively in topical formulations (Figure 8).



Figure 8. EOI in prescribed medicines by route of administration in the SES

Benzoates include benzyl alcohol, sodium benzoate, and benzoic acid; parabens include propyland methylparabens; EOI, excipient of interest; SES, service evaluation survey

The presence of sweeteners in almost all enteral formulations is logical; tastemasking is needed to increase compliance with therapy among children.¹⁴⁹ As the most common type of paediatric products are oral liquid solubilized multipleuse formulations,¹⁴⁹ the dose and volume may be limited by the solubility of API requiring the addition of cosolvent and surfactant excipients; additionally, physical, chemical, and microbiological stability must be assured with buffering agents, antioxidants, and antimicrobial preservatives.²¹² The use of potentially harmful solvents can be avoided e.g. if an API is water-soluble and chemically stable in an aqueous formulation.¹⁴⁹ Additionally, solvent e.g. propylene glycol may be included in formulation to dissolve preservatives.²¹³

Regarding the presence of EOI according to the route of administration our data are partly similar to the data from the Netherlands, where 52% of oral liquid formulations and 7% of all parenteral medicines in the country authorized for one or more paediatric age groups contained EOI.¹⁸⁶ The lower proportion of products with EOI compared to our study is likely explained by the methodological differences; polysorbate 80, saccharin sodium, and sorbitol were not included in the EOI list. In contrast, in Estonian¹⁵ and Spanish¹⁵⁰ studies, looking at medicines prescribed to neonates within a single country and a single hospital, 62% and 32% of parenteral, and 100% and 62% of enteral products contained EOI, respectively. However, in our and the Dutch studies only "known to be harmful" excipients were taken into the analysis, while in Estonian and Spanish studies a very conservative approach was taken and the excipients were classified into the "potentially harmful" category even if only some data on human toxicity had been published. Interestingly, Garcia-Palop et

al. did not include polysorbate 80 known for the "E-Ferol syndrome" in the list of harmful excipients.¹⁵⁰

5.3.3 Individual exposure to EOI

The presence of EOI in products by route of administration in the PPS was similar to that observed in the SES – enteral and topical formulations contained EOI more frequently than parenteral (OR 6.3; 95% CI 4.1–9.7 and OR 10; 95% CI 4.4–22.9, respectively). Out of 638 prescriptions with EOI, 328 (51%), 276 (43%) and 34 (5%) were administered enterally, parenterally, and topically, respectively. In 452 (22% of all and 71% of those with EOI) prescriptions and 89 (17% and 63%) products, more than one EOI was involved. Distribution of EOI by product, prescription, and neonate is shown in Table 17.

ΕΟΙ	No. (%) of products N = (530) ^a	No. (%) of prescriptions (N = 2095) ^a	No. (%) of neonates (N = 726)
Solvents and solubilising agents			
Polysorbate 80	18 (3)	139 (7)	138 (19)
Propylene glycol	26 (5)	129 (6)	120 (17)
Ethanol	20 (4)	47 (2)	47 (7)
Antimicrobials			
Parabens ^b	71 (12)	397 (19)	313 (43)
Benzoates ^c	27 (5)	93 (4)	82 (11)
Benzalkonium chloride	10 (2)	27 (1)	26 (4)
Sweeteners			
Saccharin sodium	31 (6)	104 (5)	90 (12)
Sorbitol	24 (5)	64 (3)	57 (8)
At least one EOI	142 (27)	638 (31)	456 (63)

Table 17. Count and proportion of products and prescriptions containing each EOI and number of neonates exposed

^anumber of products and prescriptions with available excipient content data ^bparabens include propyl-, ethyl-, and methylparabens;

^cbenzoates include benzyl alcohol, benzoic acid, and sodium benzoate

EOI, excipient of interest

More than a half of neonates were exposed to at least one EOI. Furthermore, in some cases simultaneous administration of up to nine EOI from six different medicines was observed; 9% (n = 39) received five and more EOI during study day. Our results suggest poor compliance with existing administrative requirements/ recommendations. While European Commission guidelines pursuant to Article 65 of Directive 2001/83/EC contain warning statements relating to the presence of certain excipients in medicinal products (e.g., parabens, topical propylene glycol, sorbitol, benzalkonium chloride, benzyl alcohol, and benzoates)⁹⁸ and the EMA Reflection paper has cautioned about the use of benzoates in neonates,¹⁰ in this study parabens, propylene glycol, and benzoates (including benzyl alcohol) were administered to 43%, 17%, and 11% of neonates, respectively (Table 17). Parabens were the most and benzalkonium chloride least frequently administered EOI. The largest proportion of parabens use was associated with parenteral gentamicin for which also paraben-free formulations were available. Similar results were shown by Lass et al. – paraben-containing parenteral gentamicin was given to 57% of treated neonates being the main source of this excipient.²¹⁴

It is noteworthy, that in the context of such extensive exposure of neonates to EOI, "only" 27% of products contained given excipients. This suggests that the major part of exposure to EOI are from most commonly used products, meaning that significant reduction in administration of EOI to neonates may be achieved through substitution or reformulation of a relatively small number of products.

5.4 Covariates associated with EOI administration

In univariate logistic regression analysis by EOI route of administration, GA category, geographical region, and department level were identified as significant covariates of administration (data not shown). Variations of exposure in relation to GA and geographical region on the example of parabens and ethanol are shown in Figure 9. Compared to East, parabens were administered more frequently in all other regions, and ethanol in North and West Europe (p < 0.05). Term neonates were exposed more frequently to parabens, and term and late preterm newborns to ethanol compared to extremely preterms (p < 0.05).

The effects of significant covariates from univariate analysis on EOI administration in multivariate logistic regression analysis are shown in Table 18 and Table 19.





Numbers on the x-axes indicates gestational age in weeks

Table 18. Influence of	covariates on EOI ad	ministration by neone	ates in multivariate	logistic regression	1 analysis (model 1) ^a
Covariate	Solven	ts and solubilising ag	gents	Antimi	crobials	Sweeteners
	Polysorbate 80	Propylene glycol	Ethanol	Parabens ^c	Benzoates ^d	Saccharin sodium
Region						
East	1	1	1	1	1	1
North	0.9; 0.2–3.2	0.04; 0.01-0.2	0.7; 0.1–3.4	3.2; 1.1–8.9	0.7; 0.1–5.6	31.2; 2.5–396.6
West	0.4; 0.1 - 1.8	2.1; 0.6–7.0	0.6; 0.1-4.1	3.2; 0.98–10.7	2.0; 0.2–19.9	153.8; 10.8–2201.4
South	$0.1; 0.1{-}0.5$	0.4; 0.1–1.2	0.5; 0.1 - 3.1	2.3; 0.8–7.2	1.2; 0.1–11.4	48.8; 3.6–657.2
Gestational age ^b						
Extremely preterm	1	1	1	1	1	1
Very preterm	2.0; 0.8–5.0	1.0; 0.3–3.1	0.6; 0.2–1.7	1.5; 0.8–2.7	1.4; 0.5–4.4	3.3; 1.3–8.4
Late preterm	2.2; 0.9–5.5	0.9; 0.3–2.6	0.3; 0.1-0.9	0.95; 0.5–1.7	0.3; 0.1–1.01	1.3; 0.5–3.5
Term	1.3; 0.5–3.1	1.2; 0.4–3.4	0.3; 0.1-0.7	0.5; 0.3-0.9	0.3; 0.1-0.8	0.4; 0.1–1.2
Department level						
1	1	1	0		1	1
5	3.2; 0.2–50.2	0.8; 0.1–6.3	1	0.96; 0.1–8.0	0.7; 0.01-52.2	0.2; 0.01–4.6
	2.1; 0.2–28.8	0.4; 0.1–2.5	5.3; 0.7–39.8	1.7; 0.2–12.4	1.5; 0.03–76.5	0.2; 0.01–3.1
^a adjusted for geographica ^b extremely preterm, very ^c parabens include propyl- ^d benzoates include benzyl Header row represents e benzalkonium chloride an	region, gestational age preterm, late preterm, a , ethyl-, and methylpara alcohol, benzoic acid, xcipients of interest (d sorbitol was not asso	c, and department level a nd term denotes gestatic thens and sodium benzoate EOI); first column repi ciated with studied varia	and presented as Odd onal age bands of <20 resents studied variant tobles and not include	s Ratio (OR) and 95 8, 28 to <32, 32 to < ables; one (1) indic d in the table; signiff	% Confidence Interv 37, and >37 weeks, rr ates reference group icant ORs are in bold	al (CI) sspectively ; the administration of

59

Covariate	Solvents and s	olubilizing agent	Antimicrobials		Sweeteners	
	Polysorbate 80	Propylene glycol	Parabens ^c	Benzoates ^d	Saccharin sodium	Sorbitol
Region						
East	1	1	1	1	1	1
North	1.03; 0.1-8.6	0.02; 0.004-0.1	2.97; 1.2–7.1	1.3; 0.3–6.1	32.7; 2.5-426.5	2.3; 0.3–18.2
West	0.1; 0.01–1.2	0.6; 0.2–1.7	2.2; 0.8–5.9	1.3; 0.3–7.1	60.3; 4.2-861.6	0.2; 0.01-2.9
South	0.03; 0.002-0.6	0.6; 0.2–1.8	4.1; 1.6–10.6	1.7; 0.3–9.2	101.3; 7.3–1403.6	5.0; 0.6–44.8
Gestational age ^b						
Extremely preterm	1	1	1	1	1	1
Very preterm	1.1; 0.4–3.02	0.9; 0.3–2.4	1.1; 0.7–1.8	1.2; 0.5–3.1	2.04; 0.7–5.6	2.3; 0.6–9.0
Late preterm	3.02; 1.1–8.5	1.8; 0.7-4.7	1.04; 0.6–1.7	0.7; 0.3–1.98	1.9; 0.7–5.1	3.1; 0.8-12.3
Term	11.3; 3.9–32.1	7.7; 2.98–19,8	1.1; 0.7–1.97	1.3; 0.5–3.8	2.01; 0.6–6.5	6.9; 1.6–29.8
ATC group						
A	1	0,7; 0,4–1,2	1	1	1	1
В	1,8; 0,96-3,4	1	0,9; 0,6-1,3	1, 6; 0, 8-2, 9	$0,1;0,1{-}0,4$	4,8; 2,1–11,02
С	0	0,9; 0,2-4,7	0,1; 0,01-0,5	0	$1,1; 0,1{-}12,6$	0
Η	0	0, 8; 0, 1-7, 3	0	21,4; 1,8–252,3	0	131,7; 0,3–60500
J	0,1; 0,01-1,4	0.1; 0.004-0.5	0,3; 0,1-1,3	0,6; 0,1–4,97	0,2; 0,01-3,6	3,5; 0,3-40,4
J01F	0	0,5; 0,03–7,7	0,98; 0,1–15,7	84,5; 8,8–812,7	0	0
J01G	0	0	26,0; 14,3-47,4	$0,3;0,1{-}1,7$	0	0
N	0	1,2; 0,5–2,8	0,1; 0,02-0,2	0,6; 0,2–1,8	0,2;0,04-0,97	0,8; 0,1-4,9
Λ	34.2.1.2-958.7	0	0	c	51.03 061	-

Table 19. Continuati	on					
Covariate	Solvents and s	olubilizing agent	Antimicrobials		Sweeteners	
	Polysorbate 80	Propylene glycol	Parabens ^c	Benzoates ^d	Saccharin sodium	Sorbitol
Department level						
1	1	1		1	-	0
2	0.3; 0.002-47.7	0.2; 0.02–2.7	0.2; 0.03-1.7	0.2; 0.01-5.6	0.3; 0.01–7.96	
3	0.1; 0.001–18.9	0.1; 0.01-0.7	0.4; 0.05–2.6	0.4; 0.02–9.7	0.5; 0.02-11.2	7.7; 0.8–76.5
Route						
Enteral	1	1	-	1	-	
Parenteral	0.4; 0.2-0.95	0.4; 0.2–0.7	0.2; 0.1 - 0.3	0.3; 0.2-0.7	0	0.003; 0.00003-0.03
^a adjusted for geograph Confidence Interval (CI ^b extremely preterm, ver ^c parabens include propy ^d benzoates include benz ATC anatomical thera	ical region, gestation.) y preterm, late preter /L, ethyl-, and methyl xyl alcohol, benzoic a	al age, department lev n, and term denotes ge parabens iff.cariton: header row	el, ATC group and r stational age bands of tte	oute of administrati c<28, 28 to <32, 32 of interest (FOI) f	ion and presented as O. to <37, and >37 weeks,	dds Ratio (OR) and 95% respectively studied variables: one (1)

indicates reference group; zero (0) indicates variable not included in the analysis due to the insufficient number of prescriptions; ethanol and benzalkonium chloride were not included in this analysis due to small sample sizes and lack of variability; only those ATC groups with EOI are presented; significant ORs are in bold

5.4.1 EOI administration by geographical region

Region was a determinant of EOI administration regardless of excipient class. Significant variations were observed in the use of parabens, polysorbate 80, propylene glycol, and saccharin sodium (Table 18). Adjusting for ATC group and route of administration did not change the regional effect (Table 19). This suggests that medicines of the same ATC group and same route of administration but various EOI content are used in different regions. Hence, EOI-free formulations are feasible and available on the European market and therefore some EOI administration could be avoidable if different products containing the same API were used.

Regional differences in parabens administration were driven by choice of vitamin preparations (118/477 containing parabens), responsible for 118/397 paraben-containing prescriptions. The proportion of vitamin prescriptions containing parabens varied from 3-24% (3/98 in East and 33/137 in West) to a third (56/164 in North and 26/78 in South).

Domperidone, prescribed in North and South, and carnitine, prescribed in West, were responsible for 30% of prescriptions containing saccharin sodium but were not used in the East. No reasons could be identified for variations in polysorbate 80 and propylene glycol administration.

5.4.2 EOI administration by gestational age

In **univariate analysis** no association between GA and administration of at least one EOI was found; the median (IQR) number of EOI per neonate of 1 (0; 2) was identical for all GA bands. However, due to the decreasing number of prescriptions per neonate with increasing GA, the proportion of prescriptions containing at least one EOI was greater in term and late preterm compared to extremely preterm neonates (OR 1.9; 95% CI 1.4 to 2.6 and OR 1.5; 95% CI 1.1 to 2, respectively). The extent of EOI administration by GA band is presented in paper II, Figure 2.

In **multivariate analysis**, in model 1 term GA was associated with a lower likelihood of parabens, ethanol, and benzoates administration; late preterm with a lower likelihood of ethanol, and very preterm GA with a higher likelihood of saccharin sodium administration compared to extremely preterm GA (Table 18). When adjusting for ATC group (model 2), these associations were no longer significant except for saccharin sodium (OR 2.8; 95% CI 1.1–7.3). Thus, variations in the administration of parabens, benzoates, and ethanol were probably driven by variations in API distribution rather than by use of different drug formulations (routes of administration). After adding a route of administration to the model, the association was not significant for saccharin sodium anymore.

In contrast to model 1, in model 2 late preterm infants were more likely to receive polysorbate 80 (OR 4.5; 95% CI 1.6–12.2) and term newborns

polysorbate 80 (OR 13.8; 95% CI 4.9–39.2), propylene glycol (OR 8.4; 95% CI 3.2–21.8), saccharin sodium (OR 3.2; 95% CI 1.1–9.3) and sorbitol (OR 8.9; 95% CI 2.4–33.3) compared to extremely premature neonates. Except for propylene glycol, these excipients are found predominantly in enteral formulations (Figure 8). After adjusting for the route of administration, these associations remained significant for all EOI mentioned above except for saccharin sodium (Table 19). Together with major regional variation, this may reflect deliberate choices due to awareness of possible hazards considered more relevant in extremely preterm than term infants.

5.4.3 EOI administration by route of administration

Parenteral route was associated with a lower likelihood of administration for five studied EOI (parabens, polysorbate 80, benzoates, propylene glycol, and sorbitol) regardless of functional group (Table 19). Saccharin sodium, ethanol, and benzalkonium chloride were not included in this analysis due to small sample sizes and the predominance of a single route of administration – saccharin sodium was found exclusively and ethanol in 79% (37/47) of prescriptions in enteral formulations; benzalkonium chloride in 85% (23/27) of prescriptions in topical formulations.

The risks of ADR to the patient are proportional to the route of administration, approximately increasing in the following sequence: topical, oral and rectal, pulmonary/ inhalation, parenteral, ophthalmic, and preparations intended for use in open wounds.¹⁶⁶ The route of administration is also critical to defining the requirements for the excipient. It is accepted that oral route is the most preferred and appropriate route of administration in paediatric patients.³³ This may not always be a "gold standard" due to the extensive variability in children with special needs for drug formulations in different paediatric age groups and particularly neonates.²¹⁵ In case of oral medicines neonates should be given liquid formulations that could be easily swallowed. However, special attention has to be paid to the in-use quality of multidose preparations, regarding both microbial and chemical stability.³³ As showed by us and by others, EOI are often required in liquid products as solvents, antimicrobial preservatives, and/ or tastemasking/ sweeteners.^{186,216}

5.4.4 EOI administration by ATC group

In the prescription-based multivariate analysis (Model 3), ATC group was a significant determinant of administration for all EOI except polysorbate 80 (Table 19). ATC groups with highest proportion and number of prescriptions containing each EOI are shown in Table 20.

EOI	ATC group with highest proportion of prescriptions	ATC group with highest number of prescriptions
Solvents and solubilising agents		
Propylene glycol	B (phytomenadione, iron)	B (phytomenadione, iron)
Ethanol	G (dinoprostone)	A (mainly enteral vitamins)
Antimicrobials		
Parabens ^a	J01G (gentamicin)	A (mainly enteral vitamins)
Benzoates ^b	J01F (lincomycin, clindamycin)	A (mainly enteral vitamins)
Benzalkonium chloride	S (tobramycin, chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin – all topical)	S (tobramycin, chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin – all topical)
Sweeteners		
Sorbitol	B (phytomenadione, iron)	A (mainly enteral vitamins)
Saccharin sodium	A (mainly enteral vitamins)	A (mainly enteral vitamins)

Table 20. ATC groups with highest proportion and number of prescriptions containing EOI

^aparabens include propyl-, ethyl-, and methylparabens

^bbenzoates include benzyl alcohol, benzoic acid, and sodium benzoate

ATC, anatomical therapeutic chemical classification; EOI, excipient of interest

Thus, the main source of parabens, benzoates, ethanol, sorbitol, and saccharin sodium are enteral multivitamins. Practitioners should pay special attention to prescribing vitamins. Enteral multivitamin products were commonly prescribed in our study with 6% (n = 133) of all prescriptions; 81% (n = 108) contained at least one EOI. Similar results were reported from a Brazilian NICU with oral multivitamins making up 7% of all prescriptions.¹³⁵

Medicines from ATC groups J01C (mainly ampicillin, benzylpenicillin), J01D (mainly cefotaxime, ceftazidime, meropenem), J01E (trimethoprim), J01M (ciprofloxacin), J01X (mainly metronidazole, teicoplanin, vancomycin), L (filgrastim), and M (pancuronium) did not contain any EOI.

5.5 Substitution of EOI containing medicines with EOI-free counterparts

Overall, 53 APIs were used in more than 10% of units. These APIs were administered through 564 products (53% of all products registered in the SES). Excluding topical medicines, multivitamins and APIs with no EOI, substitution analysis included 25 APIs in 318 products (paper III, Figure 1).

1. Substitution to reduce the number of products containing EOI

At least one EOI was found in 137 out of 318 (43%) products, 85 of these were enteral formulations.

When applying the first, second, and third stage criteria, the number of EOI containing products could be reduced by 88%, 66%, and 31%, respectively (Figure 10).





^apresented as number of products; EOI, excipients of interest; Stage 1 – similar active pharmaceutical ingredient and route of administration; Stage 2 – stage 1 + similar dosage form; Stage 3 – stage 2 + similar strength of active pharmaceutical ingredient

Substitution opportunities with the list of countries in which EOI-free products were available are presented in paper III, Table I for parenteral and Table II for enteral products. Opportunity for substitution was available in several countries. For example, enteral colecalciferol products containing propylene glycol, ethanol, parabens, and benzyl alcohol could be substituted with six EOI-free products available in ten countries; for parenteral gentamicin with parabens there are EOI-free alternatives in use in four countries.

A major part of the reduction in number of products with EOI can be achieved by substitution of parenteral medicines – a greater proportion of parenteral products could be substituted compared to enteral medicines in both second stage (87% vs. 54%; OR 5.5; 95% CI 2.2–13.5) and third stage (64% vs. 14%; OR 10.4; 95% CI 4.5–24). However, even for enteral medicines, in the second stage substitution was possible for 54% (46/85) of products. Switching to parenteral administration would allow replacing an additional 21 of 39 enteral products (paper III, Table II).

The first stage of substitution analysis provides an estimate of how many excipients are required for the stability of the API – APIs not having any EOI-free

alternatives available are most likely to require one or more of them for manufacturing purposes and the use of product(s) with EOI is justified. For parenterally administered medicines from 12 APIs EOI-free products were available for all but alprostadil (paper III, Figure 3). For enteral medicines, from 17 APIs no substitution possibility was available for dexamethasone, domperidone, fluconazole, ibuprofen, metronidazole, nystatin, paracetamol, phenobarbital, and ranitidine. Parenteral EOI-free formulations are available for all above-mentioned APIs except for nystatin and domperidone (paper III, Table II).

The second stage provided discrimination between solid and liquid enteral formulations. For example, for nystatin an EOI-free tablet was available but should not be considered an adequate substitution possibility. Safe administration of tablets to neonates is at least questionable if not impossible.³²

The third stage is important in neonatal practice because of possible limits on fluid administration but also dosing accuracy particularly in parenteral medicines.

In a recent study conducted by Garcia-Palop et al. in a university hospital in Spain, the authors showed, that in comparison with ADI estimated for adults, neonates receiving parenteral diazepam, sodium heparin, gamma globulin, and naloxone were exposed to higher amounts of propylene glycol, benzyl alcohol, sorbitol, and MPB, respectively.¹⁵⁰ Should be emphasized that for propylene glycol ADI for adults is 500 times greater than for neonates (500 vs 1 mg/kg/day).^{66,107} According to our data, EOI-free products for all these APIs are available on the European market.

2. Substitution to reduce the number of neonates exposed to EOI

The analysis of potential product substitution for each neonate included 22 of the 25 APIs used in the analysis of products with 776 prescriptions (paper III, Figure 1). A half of these prescriptions (n = 372) contained EOI. Further results are presented in relation to all prescriptions (638/2095 with EOI) and neonates (456/726 exposed to EOI) from the PPS to indicate the overall benefit from the substitution of only the most commonly used medicines. After all available product substitutions of the 22 studied APIs the overall number of prescriptions with EOI in the PPS would be reduced by 50% (from 638 to 317; 95% CI 46–54%; paper III, Table 3) and the number of exposed neonates by 44% (from 456 to 257; 95% CI 39–48%; Figure 11).





^apresented as overall reduction of neonatal exposure through the substitution of most frequently used medicines according to second-stage criteria – identical active pharmaceutical ingredient, route of administration, and dosage form; percentages indicate proportion of neonates favored from substitution; *lower odds of neonatal exposure after substitution (p < 0.05)

Parabens include propyl-, ethyl-, and methylparabens; benzoates include benzyl alcohol, benzoic acid, and sodium benzoate; EOI, excipient of interest

After potential product substitution, the odds of neonatal exposure were significantly lower for all EOI except for ethanol, saccharin sodium, and sorbitol (Figure 11; paper III, Figure 4). The availability of EOI-free products may be related to the role of the excipient in a formulation. For example, avoiding solvents like ethanol may be more difficult in the manufacturing process than antimicrobial preservatives like parabens in single-use parenteral products.³² The situation is more complex for enteral products where multi-dose liquid formulations are frequently used and excipients are also needed to improve palatability and consistency (e.g. saccharin sodium and sorbitol).³²

Additionally, possible cumulative risks associated with exposure to EOI from multiple sources^{14,86,107,134} can be reduced by product substitution. Among 257 neonates still exposed to at least one EOI after product substitution, 70 neonates would benefit from being exposed to a lower number of EOI. Probably, overall cumulative gain from product substitution may be even greater. Iron, colecalciferol, and folic acid were prescribed in more than 10% of units. These products may contain all but one (benzalkonium chloride) EOI. Importantly, these liquid medications are commonly prescribed to preterm neonates for 3–6 months forming a "background" level of excipient exposure. We have shown that for all these drugs there are EOI-free products available on the European market.

5.6 Impact of study methodology on assessment of medicines use

The average comparative probability of the departments to use ten most common APIs within the study period as revealed by the two methods is shown in Table 20.

API	RR (95% CI)	p-value
Gentamicin	1.45 (1.18–1.78)	0.002
Ampicillin	1.38 (1.10–1.74)	0.02
Vancomycin	1.59 (1.17–2.17)	0.015
Benzylpenicillin	1.32 (0.93–1.86)	0.38
Phytomenadione	2.39 (1.75-3.27)	< 0.0005
Iron	1.71 (1.29–2.26)	0.001
Amino acids	1.99 (1.45–2.72)	< 0.0005
Lipids	1.89 (1.34–2.65)	0.001
Furosemide	2.81 (1.64-4.83)	0.001
Colecalciferol	1.05 (0.81–1.38)	0.705

 Table 20. The average probability of departments to use one of ten most common API in the SES compared to the PPS*

*adjusted for department level, status of teaching or non-teaching hospital, and European region API, active pharmaceutical ingredient; RR, risk ratio; PPS, point prevalence study; SES, service evaluation survey

For eight out of ten most frequently used APIs the likelihood of being captured in the SES was higher compared to the PPS. Further analysis included 99 APIs used in more than one unit in the SES. Almost all APIs were more frequently used in the SES compared to the PPS, but the 95% CIs were overlapping for the majority (paper I, Figure 1). High correlation in the frequency of medicine use between the SES and PPS for APIs used in more than one unit in the SES is shown in Figure 12.

The estimates in the frequency of medicine use in the PPS were systematically lower compared to the SES. However, knowing the relationship between the two an estimate for one can be extrapolated from the other.

In multilevel mixed effects logistic regression models with crossed random effects adjusted for geographical region and unit level the average probability of the departments to use each of the most common API (n = 99) was higher in the SES compared to the PPS (OR 2.36; 95% CI 2.05–2.73; p < 0.0005). The frequency of use and average duration of prescription further increased the likelihood of being registered in favor of the SES by 1.01 times (95% CI 1.01–1.02; p < 0.0005) and 1.02 times (95% CI 1.00–1.05; p = 0.047) per each additional percent in frequency and day in duration of prescription, respectively.



Figure 12. Correlation in the frequency of medicine use between the SES and PPS on unit level

Trendline for 99 active pharmaceutical ingredients: y = 0.6019x - 0.0053; $R^2 = 0.8605$ PPS, point prevalence study; SES, service evaluation survey

Size of the department did not influence the capture probability (OR 0.99; 95% CI 0.99–1.00; p = 0.652). Thus, simple data structure and longer study period used in the SES improved recruitment and the likelihood of capture of medicines consumption, giving a more comprehensive list of drug products.

We have also shown high correlation ($R^2 = 0.93$) between the number of units using each specified API and the number of prescriptions in the PPS (Figure 13).

Thus, the less demanding unit level approach like SES should allow an indirect individual exposure assessment under the condition of limited resources. Nevertheless, such calculations should be applied with caution and to estimate the exposure only for the studied population as a whole. It has been shown previously and also by us that medicines utilization pattern in extreme prematurity is different from that near or at term.^{19,20,24,131} Therefore, in neonatal studies stratification by GA age allows a more meaningful risk assessment, especially when also considering the strong dependence of the maturity of metabolic pathways on the postmenstrual age of the newborn.^{7,85}

Against the background of rising safety concerns of neonatal medicine/ excipient exposure, the extensive trade name list from the SES allows identification of substitution possibilities, while individual exposure data from the PPS provide a more precise quantification of the problem. Investigators need to balance the advantages of a PPS with the risk of bias, which depends on the frequency as well as the duration of medicine use. Simultaneous use of both



methods with merged data analysis will likely result in optimal coverage of both aspects of the problem.



Number of units using each specified active ingredient (n = 99) in relation to the number of prescriptions in the PPS was observed. Polynomial regression trendline for active pharmaceutical ingredients used in more than one unit in the SES is shown. $\sqrt{\text{number of prescriptions}} = 0.421 * (number of departments) - 0.004 * (number of departments)^2 + 0.485; R² = 0.93$

6. GENERAL DISCUSSION

Neonates are routinely given medicines with no specific paediatric information because of the lack of clinical trials in this population. The status of children as "therapeutic orphans"²¹⁷ has been increasingly recognised and has lead to a number of legislative initiatives in developed countries, including the US and EU over the last decades. The concept of the therapeutic orphan originates from 1962. The first objective evaluation of labelled drugs available for children was done in 1973 with further continuum of validations from multiple sources.²¹⁷ As a result, substantial unlicensed and off-label use of adult medicines in neonatal population has been actively addressed.^{18,28} Pharmaceutical excipients were called "inactive ingredients" just a little while ago⁴⁶ with little attention paid to excipients safety until recently. Only from 2007 Paediatic Regulation requires excipient safety to be also considered by pharmaceutical industry when developing new medicines.^{218,219} While safety issues related to the use of some excipients in neonates raised concerns, data regarding the scope of the problem on a large scale were not available to date. In this thesis, we aimed to address the excipient exposure via an integrated risk assessment approach to identify the extent of the problem (excipient use), determine related risk factors and propose possible solutions.

6.1 Unexplored field of pharmaceutical excipients in neonates

Although extensive work has been done by pharmaceutical companies to ensure that excipients are safe when used in adults, their safety in paediatric subpopulations is often unknown; some of them are known to be toxic and uncertainty about others, especially in neonates, exists.⁵⁷ In an analysis, carried out by EMA Paediatric Committee, of paediatric investigation plans (PIP) proposed in 2009, issues with excipients were identified in 102 (82%) out of 125 pharmaceutical forms – applications included insufficient justification of the chosen excipients related to age, daily dose of excipient(s), and inadequate discussion on the possibility to replace excipients with potential safety concern.²¹⁸ Currently, only 30% of PIPs include studies with neonates.²²⁰ Comprehensive data about excipients included in medicines used in neonatal units is lacking and doctors are still prescribing medicines to neonates without knowing what excipients are included, whether they are safe, and whether there are opportunities/ needs to avoid excipients with safety issues.

This was the first study looking at neonatal administration of pharmaceutical excipients in a large multi-country setting and the biggest and most detailed prospective study of excipient use in neonates to date. Previous studies on excipient exposure among neonates were conducted within single unit/ country.^{14–16,134,150,221} While frequent general administration of potentially

harmful excipients was emphasized, some results were contradictory probably due to small sample size and therefore cannot be extrapolated to the whole population. While Fister et al. showed no benzyl alcohol in medicines prescribed in Slovenian neonatal unit,¹⁶ Garcia-Palop et al. reported this to be one of the most common EOI prescribed parenterally to neonates in Spain.¹⁵⁰ We found benzyl alcohol in both enteral and parenteral commonly prescribed drugs, e.g. enteral colecalciferol and iron and parenteral phytomenadione, phenobarbital, hydrocortisone, heparin, and amoxicillin.

In this study, data on the surprisingly broad range of medicines with highly variable excipient compositions, used in neonates in Europe, have been collected. Similarly to previous single country/ unit studies on excipient administration^{15,16,135} we demonstrate that a substantial part (63%) of neonates treated in European NICUs is exposed to potentially harmful excipients called here EOIs.²¹⁴ Additionally, our data on both prescription and individual level showed that in particular the most commonly used medicines (e.g. gentamicin, iron, enteral vitamins) were responsible for a large part of the EOI "load" suggesting that substitution or reformulation of a relatively small number of medicines may spare a large number of neonates from unnecessary exposure.

Another element of exposure assessment not studied in this work is quantitative, i.e. understanding of excipient exposure patterns also requires descriptions of excipient kinetics comparable to PK for APIs. Recent observational studies suggest that neonates are exposed to significant amounts of excipients, some of which can exceed internationally recommended limits for exposure.^{14,134} However, there have been very few attempts to measure excipients quantities in the bloodstream and assess PK parameters in neonates the main impediment has been a limited amount of blood volume allowed for sampling. Most excipient exposure studies, including those presented in this thesis, measured exposure indirectly through prescription data. To date, only a couple of studies have been performed with the aim to estimate blood levels or PK parameters of excipients with known safety concerns - benzyl alcohol by LeBel et al. and propylene glycol by Roosmarijn et al. - in neonates using "wet" sample-based assays.^{7,78} Although dry blood spot (DBS) method allows determination of drug levels in very small blood volumes,²²²⁻²²⁶ this methodology has not been used before the ESNEE project to measure excipient (i.e. parabens) PK parameters.²²⁷ Data collected during our study allowed to identify drug products containing methyl- and propyparabens with further inclusion of these medicines into PK study.

Today, even if some data on the safety/ toxicity of excipients are available, these are not easy to find from public sources. Moreover, Lass et al. reported no human safety/ toxicity data accessible in the literature for 16% out of 123 excipients identified in medicines prescribed to neonates in Estonia.¹⁵ Global Research in Paediatrics (GRiP) popularizes the need for a comprehensive source of computerized information concerning the toxicity and safety of excipients for paediatric medicines.²²⁸ To address this need, the European and US Paediatric Formulation Initiatives (Eu-US PFIs) are working together to
create and maintain a database of Safety and Toxicity of Excipients for Paediatrics (STEP) – evidence-based database addressing safety issues and toxicity aspects of pharmaceutical excipients in medicines for children.²²⁹ The purpose of STEP is to serve as a free database for safety data and supporting toxicity studies for excipients, particularly in paediatric population.

A newly launched project "Safe Excipient Exposure in Neonates and Small Children" (SEEN) aims to explore the quantity of excipient exposure in neonatal and young paediatric patients in a Danish Hospital focusing on excipients known to be harmful.²³⁰ Both registered and extemporaneous pharmaceuticals as possible sources of excipients will be studied. The success of this doubtless important study will depend on whether the manufacturer of each medicinal product included in the study will provide needed quantitative information on excipient.

6.2 Methodological issues of the excipient exposure study

To date, generally accepted tools for excipient exposure assessment have not been identified. Most available tools for pharmacoepidemiologic studies, i.e. hospital or health insurance databases, lack details required for assessment of excipient exposure. Study designs allowing coverage of large study populations over relatively short period and limited dataset appear appropriate for initial estimation of the scope of the problem. In this thesis, to assess the exposure to excipients, we had to gather data about prescribed medicines first. The precision of estimation of the extent and nature of neonatal exposure to different medicines/ excipients was maximized by successive use of two different crosssectional study designs, the SES and PPS – the first providing a comprehensive list of medicines/ excipients used in neonates and the latter adding detailed data on individual exposure. The strength of both methods used in this thesis is the simplicity and uniformity of data collection. In the SES the most timeconsuming part of data analysis turned out to be the identification of excipient content from SmPC for each single drug product. Such approach is probably not sustainable for future researchers. Hence, time and resource consuming development of new tools, like the web-based prepopulated database in our study and/ or hospital electronic prescription databases including also excipient data. may prove necessary. Furthermore, given the possible organisational and economic implications, market size making these feasible (e.g. drug reformulation or substitution) should be aimed/ involved as in our study. Simple data structure used in the SES improved recruitment in general, while more detailed data capture, when facilitated by prepopulated tool as in the PPS appeared more attractive for physicians from teaching hospitals, usually taking care of more complex patients with broader spectrum of medicines used. However, as showed in our study, longitudinal component is needed to capture less commonly used medicines.

Data structure should be chosen in compliance with the research question. A study with the primary aim of describing the variability/ comprehensive list of medicines or excipients administered for short time periods may allow less sophisticated data structure/ volume to be reported, with additional benefit of a longitudinal component to maximise study power. When individual exposures of frequently used medicines are targeted, the increasing data volume (both structure and duration) needs to be weighed against evolving increase in resource consumption and possible decrease in compliance that may lead to underestimation of prevalence.²³¹ It has been shown that the longer the recall period, the greater the imprecision (especially underestimation) of prevalence estimates,^{232,233} although this finding may be more relevant in non-medical informants.²³⁴ Oppositely, short-term surveys like SES and PPS conducted on a single unit/ country level are likely to underestimate the extent and variety of medicines/ excipient exposure.²³⁵ Instead, single country/ unit long term cohort studies may provide valuable complementary information as described by Lass et al.,^{15,24} allowing more detailed individual risk assessment including quantitative/ cumulative exposure estimation, where wanted.¹⁴

Alternatively to our approach, nested study designs with longitudinal data collection would allow linkage between different datasets and could be the best option. In our study, nested design with detailed individual data collection performed as part of the SES was not feasible, as an interim between the two studies was needed to develop the prepopulated PPS medicines database from the data collected in the SES. This could potentially reduce the overlap between the studies. In that situation our data represent a "worst case scenario". The actual concordance in API reporting may be higher than described by us. To the best of our knowledge, nested design has hardly been used in paediatric pharmacoepidemiological studies.

Not only optimal recruitment of participants but also sample size maintenance over the course of a study becomes an issue, especially in multinational studies.²³⁶ Recruitment of participating NICUs, regional distribution, and variability in levels of care and unit size should be considered.⁵⁷ As random recruitment is often unfeasible, cluster sampling approach was planned in the PPS.²³⁷ Recruitment of randomly chosen regional clusters based for example on the EuroStat NUTS classification would have allowed adjusting for the variability of levels of care in NICU studies. Still in cluster design the cluster effect and intracluster coefficient of variance need to be considered.⁵⁷ Involvement of all units from chosen region is needed to achieve estimated sample size for each country and region and to ensure the randomisation and representativeness of the data. In our study, randomisation of participating hospitals remained unfeasible due to the lack of a full list of neonatal units in each country. Additionally, it is hardly possible to achieve 100% response rate in such a wide scale study.¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁹

While pharmacoeconomic analysis remains beyond the scope of this study, economic considerations always play a role in the choice of a specific study design. There were no major cost differences in conducting the SES and PPS studies except those associated with the development of the PPS database specifically for this study. Web-based data collection with automated checks allowed to save resources and to improve compliance and overall quality of data. We believe that whenever adequate to answer the research question, the simple data structure is favourable in terms of resource allocation. However, when a more complex format is required, reasonable additional expenditure on data collection tools may result in an improved cost-benefit ratio. We have shown that under the condition of limited resources, individual exposure estimates can be extrapolated from a less demanding approach like the SES. However, such extrapolation does not allow stratification by demographic characteristics, that is of great importance in the neonatal population.

6.2.1 Availability of excipient data in current sources

"Omnia venenum sunt, nec sine veneno quicquam existit; dosis sola facin ut venenum non sit." (In practice, every substance is a poison, at the right dose. Paracelsus; 1493–1541)

Even today, collecting information on the content of excipients in drug formulations remains a challenge. In this thesis, SmPC proved the most reliable data source because excipients present even in tiny amounts have to be included.¹⁶³ Nevertheless, in our study SmPC were unattainable for 13% (n=138) of products, leaving the practitioners with little if any reliable grounds to take decisions. Moreover, information about the composition of compound flavours is usually not included in SmPC; even in specialized pharmaceutical databases only qualitative data are presented: http://www.theriaque.org/apps/ monographie/index.php?type=SP&id=6826. The information on excipients still not being readily available to the clinician derives from two main principles. Firstly, some medicines package inserts list no excipients, or the list is incomplete, ignoring regulatory requirements, for historical or inconvenience/ data availability issues. Secondly, manufacturers are not open to disclose this information, especially when quantitative content is concerned, claiming business confidentiality.²³⁸ We identified reports stating that a full list of excipients was not available as part of the protection of intellectual property.

Guidances and recommendations from Regulatory Authorities regarding the inclusion of potentially harmful excipients in drug products intended (labelled) for use in children/ neonates are increasing in both the US and EU. Since 2010 disclosure of quantitative data on excipients with safety concerns has been required. Woefully this initiative will address only a small proportion of new/ newly authorised products for neonates while the majority of medicines are still prescribed off-label or unlicensed. In our study quantitative excipient information was available from SmPC in only 6% (n=58) of products. Notably, more than half of these products did not contain any EOI; among all products with EOI quantitative data were available for only 8% (25/305). Like us, Fister

et al. found insufficient data on the quantities of excipients in products administered to neonates.¹⁶

Making at least comprehensive qualitative but preferably quantitative excipients data available to healthcare professionals holds an opportunity to make "safer" choices. Knowledge of quantitative data would better guide the selection for only those products where replacement is an absolute necessity.

6.3 Rationality of adding EOI into medicines

Assessment of the rationality of excipient administration is a complex task involving multiple manufacturing as well as formulation target/ use related details, e.g. route of administration. Many excipients have the potential to fulfill multiple roles within a single or in different formulations. We believe that certain abstraction can be reached based on the (main) purpose of an excipient in a formulation, accepting that these assumptions can never be exhaustive. The pattern of covariates associated with the administration of EOI in our study suggests rational use in many medicines, while for some a margin for improvement is proposed and supported by availability of substitution possibilities.

Based on available data we hypothesised that solvents (polysorbate 80, propylene glycol, ethanol) are required for manufacturing process of a specific API not soluble in the water or other liquids.^{48,149} In contrast, we showed that polysorbate 80 and propylene glycol use was associated with geographical region and enteral route of administration even after adjusting for potential covariates, including ATC group as a surrogate for API. Our results suggest the possibility to use/ produce medicines free of these excipients in one but not another country/ region. Although some regional variations may be driven by differences in API within the ATC group (e.g. enteral vitamins), many likely rise from hospital routines and policies. The latter is often based on traditions and expert opinions rather than evidence-based guidelines.^{24,28,136} No regional variations were associated with administration of ethanol, found predominantly in enteral formulations, referring to its rational use. Nevertheless, we identified either enteral (i.e. colecalciferol, furosemide, iron, nystatin) or parenteral (i.e. metronidazole, phenobarbital, ranitidine) ethanol-free alternatives for all enteral ethanol-containing products. In some cases, judging the rationality of excipient use requires careful weighing of possible additional risks of an alternative formulation (e.g. different route of administration) against those related to excipient exposure.

Antimicrobials (parabens, benzoates, benzalkonium chloride) should not be required for sterile single-dose parenteral formulations. Accordingly, parenteral route was associated with lower administration of these excipients – 85% of parenteral prescriptions were paraben- and benzoate-free. The presence of parabens and/ or benzoates in 15% of parenteral prescriptions may suggest the use of multiple-dose formulations or, that some medicines require these excipients for other than antimicrobial, like manufacturing and stability pur-

poses. No conclusions can be made regarding the first explanation as data on single- or multiple-use were not available in SmPC. Therefore we propose this information to be included on the drug label and patient information leaflet. We can speculate that among frequently used APIs with antimicrobials dexamethasone (4 mg/ml), epinephrine (1 mg/ml), and gentamicin (80 mg/2ml) are single-use formulations. We found same strength products without any EOI for all above-mentioned APIs. In addition, we identified EOI-free alternatives for several commonly used enteral products containing antimicrobial EOI – amoxicillin, caffeine, colecalciferol, folic acid, iron, and tocopherol – indicating possibility to produce enteral liquid medicines, e.g. in the form of powder for reconstitution, without antimicrobials.

Sweeteners (sorbitol, saccharin sodium) were expected to vary only between routes of administration and GA. This was true for sorbitol; rational use was supported by the association with term GA, the extent of use being independent of geographical region and a lower rate in parenteral formulations. Among commonly used APIs sorbitol-free enteral products were available only for iron. The use of saccharin sodium, found almost exclusively in enteral medicines, varied between geographical regions, suggesting the availability of saccharin sodium-free formulations on the European market (e.g. iron and furosemide). One could also question the rationality of adding colouring and flavouring agents to formulations administered to premature neonates through a nasogastric tube. For example, strawberry flavour could contain 13 different substances including propylene glycol. As flavouring agents do not contribute to functions other than palatability,³⁷ their use can be avoided in products aimed at patients/ situations, where this is not relevant e.g. due to the method of administration.

6.4 Substitution as a way of avoiding EOI

Substitution of EOI-containing products with EOI-free formulations already available on the market is attractive³³ as the risks of importing and using licensed medicines are much lower than those associated with extemporaneous preparations.¹⁸² To examine the feasibility of this approach, searches for alternative medicines with the same API, route of administration and dosage form have been done in this work. We have shown that EOI-free formulations are workable and available on the European market offering alternative to EOI-containing products in many cases. For example, we have put in use paraben-free parenteral gentamicin formulation in our neonatal unit in Tartu University Hospital.

Compared to parenteral formulations finding EOI-free alternatives for enteral products proved more complicated probably due to common use of multidose formulations and need to improve palatability. Accepting parenteral route of administration instead of enteral may be needed to avoid EOI administration. We recognise that switching to parenteral administration if the oral route is available may pose unnecessary risks.^{215,239} WHO has suggested the change of product, dosage form or even route of administration to be occasionally justified to avoid significant risk posed by excipients known to be toxic.^{2,33}

Manufacturers should adopt existing best practices of safe and efficient use of excipients at the global level.⁵⁹ For example, if ethanol can be removed from certain oral liquid medicines in one country,^{59,119} it should be carried out globally. We accept that there is a minimum set of excipients needed. However, our work indicated that 11 out of 12 parenteral and nine out of 17 enteral frequently used APIs do not need EOI to be included in the manufacturing process a priori. Changes in manufacturing processes to avoid EOI are possible without altering the pharmaceutical quality of the medicine.⁵⁷

Klingmann et al. have shown the administration of uncoated mini-tablets to be a valuable alternative to syrup in term neonates.²⁴⁰ This may be part of a strategy to avoid some toxic excipients, e.g. sweeteners, solvents, antimicrobial preservatives. Developing new products for the market is time-consuming and costly. The reformulation of ibuprofen or caffeine has resulted in products that are significantly more expensive than unlicensed alternatives. Such products may remain out of the reach of many NICUs, especially in less privileged countries.²⁴¹ Therefore, considering the concomitant costs related to the development of age-appropriate EOI-free medicines, neonatal formulations need to be limited to those that are absolutely needed. We have shown a significant potential to reduce neonatal exposure to EOI through substitution of only frequently used medicines with EOI-free alternatives available on the European market.

We recognise that implementation of systematic product substitution into every-day practice is not straightforward and can be only a part of an allembracing strategy to provide safe and effective pharmacotherapy for neonates.⁵⁷ Even substitution with existing EOI-free products may incur additional costs due to the complexity of the requirements to be considered in a process involving multiple stakeholders (e.g., regulatory, financial, clinicians, etc.). If products are currently marketed in one European country, barriers to product substitution relate to licensing, distribution and marketing costs.^{215,218} These costs may outweigh expected market return in small countries. Nevertheless, the knowledge of EOI-free products for a substantial number of APIs available in one but not other EU countries deserves further consideration by licensing authorities and should stimulate manufacturers, researchers, and healthcare professionals to make these products available in each country. Cooperation to ensure mutual consideration of data to allow licensing in all European countries is needed. Free movement of medicines inside the European market and committed collaboration between practitioners and stakeholders that extends across regions and countries becomes essential.²¹⁵

6.5 Limitations of the study

Some limitations of the current thesis should be acknowledged. Out of the 31 invited countries, about two-thirds participated in each study, omitting some large European countries (e.g. Germany). Also, inability to randomly select hospitals has to be borne in mind. However, we believe that identified excipient administration patterns are appropriately adjusted and could be extrapolated to the European cohort.

Neonatal units were given the option of selecting the most appropriate day(s) for data collection. This could lead to underestimation of medicine use because less busy day(s) were probably more likely chosen. However, we believe that eventually this approach captured information on a larger number of neonates and medicines through improved compliance and a larger number of participating units.

Our study included eight excipients known to be harmful in neonates leaving a substantial number of excipients classified as potentially harmful, unexplored. We believe, that assuming the reformulation/ substitution processes not to be straightforward, those medicines containing the most problematic excipients should be studied first.

In risk factor analysis grouping of API to the 1st level of ATC classification only, with the exception of antibiotics, was feasible due to the relatively small number of prescriptions. Therefore some effects may be driven by intra-level variations in API use. These limitations still do not undermine the significance of regional variations, although may explain some findings on GA level.

As underlined before, the lack of quantitative information on excipient content in medicines did not allow detailed conclusions on quantitative exposure to EOI. Although this does not undermine our findings, large-scale quantitative exposure assessments are missing.

We recognise, that due to the general deficiency of age-appropriate formulations for neonates products used for substitution may not always be ageappropriate for this age group. We did not study the stability and validity of different formulations in detail and assume, that products prepared in different pharmacies may have variations in stability and shelf-life. Still, by identifying the substantial capacity for product substitution among marketed formulations in actual use in neonatal units, we believe this concept as a way to reduce EOI exposure in neonates well proven. Here, close collaboration of all stakeholders is required to resolve the technical and logistical issues surrounding practical achievement of substitution, such as import restrictions, legal and supply issues relating to off-label or unlicensed medicines, cost, age-appropriateness, dose volume and dose flexibility, interchange of route of administration, and prevention of medication errors. Economic and regulatory aspects of product substitution were out of the scope of the current analysis and need further evaluation.

6.6 The need for further research

An ideal neonatal prescription should represent an age-appropriate formulation of high pharmaceutical quality with appropriate knowledge on PK/ PD and safety profile of all compounds incorporated in a medicinal product. Future of age-appropriate formulations for neonates also involves excipients safety.³² High rates of exposure to EOI in European neonates as was shown by us, underlines the relevance of the issue. We have proposed the way to reduce neonatal exposure to EOI through product substitution being fully aware this will not resolve the problem completely. If EOI-free formulation does not exist then careful balance between the evidence that an excipient may cause problems in the developing organism, especially in relation to the severity of patient condition, and expected benefit of the drug should be sought in each case; risk/ benefit ratio should be carefully weighted based on predicted dose, duration of exposure, and PK data. Limited data on the safety and/ or toxicity of excipients bind hand and foot in achieving this. Consequently, toxicokinetic researchbased risk assessment in neonatal population becomes paramount, to identify true needs for reformulation/ substitution or where this is not possible, defining safe practice recommendations.

It is accepted that excipients may only show an effect above a certain dose⁹⁸ and the presence of an excipient in formulation does not necessarily mean (daily) intake exceeding the toxic threshold during routine treatment. To date, information on toxicity thresholds remains sketchy, especially in neonates. Need for excipient toxicokinetic studies has been increasingly recognised but only slow progress has been made so far.^{78,227,229} Until recently, PK data in neonates were available only for propylene glycol and ethanol. For example, Allegaert et al. and Kulo et al. showed, that propylene glycol administration with a median of 34 mg/kg/day for a maximum of 48 hours seems to be well tolerated in neonates and does not affect short-term postnatal adaptation.^{242,243} However, in extremely preterm neonates accumulation of propylene glycol may occur with co-administration of currently used phenobarbital and paracetamol formulations - birth weight was found to be the most significant covariate for propylene glycol clearance.⁷⁸ Similarly, we in the ESNEE clinical study have demonstrated low serum levels of parabens in neonates with some risk of accumulation only in the most preterm neonates.²²⁷ As exact safe/ toxic concentrations are still unknown, further information on excipient PK in neonates is needed to estimate the level of tolerance considering the number of potential covariates as GA, postnatal age, birthweight, disease characteristics, treatment modalities (e.g. whole body cooling), route of administration, polypharmacotherapy/ drug-drug, drug-excipient interactions etc..⁵¹ Toxicokinetic models should be developed to serve as a tool for individualised risk estimation in difficult to predict patient groups (e.g. organ failure, extreme prematurity). Studies in juvenile animals can provide relevant information, but cannot always be extrapolated to human neonates. To allow extrapolations, more complex

population pharmaco/ toxicokinetic studies, including physiology-based PK modelling, are needed.

Valid long-term neurodevelopmental outcomes of administration of potentially harmful excipients are entirely missing, even when favourable short-term outcome is demonstrated.^{242,243} The applicability of outcome variables/ indicators applied to assess renal, hepatic and metabolic tolerance of administered excipients in adults needs to be validated in neonates.⁷⁹ As excipients are interacting with the body and vice versa, clinical pharmacologists with expertise ranging from PD, PK, rational prescribing, adverse drug effects, and toxicology should be key players in advancing drug formulation issues in children.⁹⁰

Recent methodological advances including opportunistic sampling, population PK approach, micromethods for substance level estimation and DBS have made neonatal PK studies feasible. The ESNEE project has shown the feasibility of such methods for parabens.²²⁷ This means that it is now possible to examine the net effects of age-specific features of excipient disposition.^{79,244} The assessment of potential excipient exposure can include direct evidence about the concentrations that results from prescribed medicines administered during clinical care. The inclusion of this information in risk assessment will reduce uncertainty and inform the development of safety margins.⁵⁷ That, among other things, may save time and resources by identification of only those excipients/ excipient concentrations/ products where replacement or reformulation is necessary.

7. CONCLUSIONS

In the course of this research, a unique database of medicinal products used in neonates in European neonatal intensive care units (NICU) was created, which allowed us to assess the extent of excipients use, to determine related risk factors, and to offer possible solutions to reduce neonatal exposure to excipients of interest (EOI).

The following specific conclusions can be drawn from this research:

- 1. The two cross-sectional study designs used in this research have proven valuable complementary tools in assessing neonatal exposure to excipients, with good correlation between the two methodologies. Simple data structure and longer study period of the service evaluation survey (SES) allows better recruitment, resulting in more comprehensive overview of medicines used in NICUs. The frequency of use on unit level appears a good surrogate of individual exposure rates. However, detailed information on individual exposure, including demographic variables, relevant in excipient associated risk assessment, can be collected in the point prevalence study (PPS). Suitable tool/ database development may be required prior to implementation. Combining different methods with merged data analysis will likely result in optimal coverage of different aspects of the problem.
- 2. The broad range of medicines with over one thousand different products of highly variable excipient compositions administered to neonates in European NICUs highlights the relevance of excipient related research. Administration of excipients with known safety issues to neonates is common as a third of drug products, reported in our study, contained at least one EOI. Enteral medicines more likely contained all studied excipients except benzalkonium chloride. The largest number of prescriptions with parabens, benzoates, ethanol, sorbitol, and saccharin sodium was associated with enteral vitamins. This should be considered by clinicians when prescribing enteral formulations to neonates; enteral vitamins should be included in the priority list of drugs requiring data in preterm and term neonates.
- 3. Almost two-thirds of neonates were exposed to at least one EOI, over half of them received more than one. Gestational age (GA) related variations in excipient exposure were predominantly related to increasing prescription rate with decreasing GA and different active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) and formulations prescribed in different GA groups. Extreme prematurity was associated with higher exposure to EOI with antimicrobial properties (parabens and benzoates) compared to term infants, explained by the high use of parenteral antibiotics (i.e. gentamicin) and enteral multivitamin preparations. Term infants more likely received products containing

solvents (polysorbate 80 and propylene glycol) and sweeteners (sorbitol) compared to extremely preterm neonates. This may reflect some degree of deliberate avoidance of EOI in extreme prematurity.

Most commonly used medicines were responsible for most exposure to EOI, meaning that substitution or reformulation of a relatively small number of products would significantly reduce neonatal exposure.

- 4. Significant geographical variations were found in the use of EOI, independent of excipient functional class. Compared to the eastern region, the likelihood of paraben exposure was higher in the southern and northern, and of polysorbate 80 and propylene glycol lower in the southern and northern region, respectively. In contrast, exposure to saccharin sodium was the lowest in the eastern compared to all other regions. Geographical variations in the use of studied excipients suggest availability of EOI-free medicinal products and potential to reduce exposure through product substitution.
- 5. Two-thirds of the medicinal products containing EOI could be substituted with EOI-free medicine of the same API and dosage form. Substitution of a relatively small number of frequently used products would spare almost half of currently exposed neonates. The overall cumulative gain may be even greater as in many cases if not completely avoiding, substitution would reduce multiple administration of EOI. Our data support the rational use of studied excipients in many cases, but significant improvement is still possible without major reformulation costs. There is a need for common European market with free movement of medicines between different countries that will contribute to better product substitution opportunities and stimulate product reformulation if needed.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Fabiano V, Mameli C, Zuccotti GV. Paediatric pharmacology: remember the excipients. *Pharmacol Res.* 2011;63(5):362–365. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2011.01.006.
- 2. Haywood A, Glass BD. Pharmaceutical excipients where do we begin? *Aust Prescr.* 2011;34(4):112–114.
- 3. American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), Committee on Drugs. "Inactive" Ingredients in Pharmaceutical Products: Update (Subject Review). *Pediatrics*. 1997;99(2):268–278. doi:10.1542/peds.99.2.268.
- 4. Hall CM, Milligan DWA, Berrington J. Probable adverse reaction to a pharmaceutical excipient. *Arch Dis Child – Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 2004;89(2):184F-184. doi:10.1136/adc.2002.024927.
- 5. Masi S, de Cléty SC, Anslot C, Detaille T. Acute amiodarone toxicity due to an administration error: could excipient be responsible? *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2009;67(6):691–693. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2008.03323.x.
- 6. Peleg O, Bar-Oz B, Arad I. Coma in a premature infant associated with the transdermal absorption of propylene glycol. *Acta Paediatr*. 1998;87(11):1195–1196. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1998.tb00930.x.
- 7. LeBel M, Ferron L, Masson M, Pichette J, Carrier C. Benzyl alcohol metabolism and elimination in neonates. *Dev Pharmacol Ther*. 1988;11(6):347–356.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Neonatal Deaths Associated With Use Of Benzyl Alcohol – United States.; 1982. http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/00001109.htm. Accessed January 24, 2016.
- Food and Drug Administration. Drug Safety and Availability FDA Drug Safety Communication: Serious Health Problems Seen in Premature Babies given Kaletra (Lopinavir/ritonavir) Oral Solution. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research; 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm246002.htm. Accessed January 14, 2016.
- European Medicines Agency. Reflection paper: formulations of choice for the paediatric population. 2006;(December 2005). http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 09/09/WC500003782.pdf.
- Leeder JS, Kearns GL, Spielberg SP, van den Anker J. Understanding the relative roles of pharmacogenetics and ontogeny in pediatric drug development and regulatory science. *J Clin Pharmacol*. 2010;50(12):1377–1387. doi:10.1177/0091270009360533.
- 12. Barker DJP. The developmental origins of chronic adult disease. *Acta Paediatr Suppl*. 2004;93(6):26–33. doi:10.1080/08035320410022730.
- 13. Landrigan PJ, Goldman LR. Children's vulnerability to toxic chemicals: A challenge and opportunity to strengthen health and environmental policy. *Health Aff.* 2011;30(5):842–850. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0151.
- 14. Whittaker A, Currie A, Turner MA, Field DJ, Mulla H, Pandya HC. Toxic additives in medication for preterm infants. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 2009;94(4):236–240. doi:10.1136/adc.2008.146035.
- Lass J, Naelapää K, Shah U, et al. Hospitalised neonates in Estonia commonly receive potentially harmful excipients. *BMC Pediatr*. 2012;12:136. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-12-136.

- Fister P, Urh S, Karner A, Krzan M, Paro-Panjan D. The prevalence and pattern of pharmaceutical and excipient exposure in a neonatal unit in Slovenia. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* 2015;28(17):2053–2061. doi:10.3109/14767058.2014.976549.
- 17. World Health Organization (WHO). Infant, Newborn. 2016. http://www.who.int/topics/infant_newborn/en/. Accessed March 22, 2016.
- European Medicines Agency. Guideline on the Investigation of Medicinal Products in the Term and Preterm Neonate.; 2009. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 09/09/WC500003750.pdf.
- 19. Clark RH, Bloom BT, Spitzer AR, Gerstmann DR. Reported medication use in the neonatal intensive care unit: data from a large national data set. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(6):1979–1987. doi:10.1542/peds.2005-1707.
- 20. Neubert A, Lukas K, Leis T, Dormann H, Brune K, Rascher W. Drug utilisation on a preterm and neonatal intensive care unit in Germany: a prospective, cohort-based analysis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2010;66(1):87–95. doi:10.1007/s00228-009-0722-8.
- Dani C, Corsini I, Piergentili L, Bertini G, Pratesi S, Rubaltelli FF. Neonatal morbidity in late preterm and term infants in the nursery of a tertiary hospital. *Acta Paediatr (Oslo, Norw 1992)*. 2009;98(11):1841–1843. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01425.x.
- 22. Hashim MJ, Guillet R. Common issues in the care of sick neonates. *Am Fam Physician*. 2002;66(9):1685–1692.
- Escobar GJ. The neonatal "sepsis work-up": personal reflections on the development of an evidence-based approach toward newborn infections in a managed care organization. *Pediatrics*. 1999;103(1 Suppl E):360–373.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9917478. Accessed February 16, 2016.

- 24. Lass J, Käär R, Jõgi K, Varendi H, Metsvaht T, Lutsar I. Drug utilisation pattern and off-label use of medicines in Estonian neonatal units. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2011;67(12):1263–1271. doi:10.1007/s00228-011-1072-x.
- Lindell-Osuagwu L, Korhonen MJ, Saano S, Helin-Tanninen M, Naaranlahti T, Kokki H. Off-label and unlicensed drug prescribing in three paediatric wards in Finland and review of the international literature. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* 2009; 34(3):277–287. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2710.2008.01005.x.
- 26. Magalhaes J, Teixeira Rodrigues A, Roque F, Figueiras A, Falc??o A, Herdeiro MT. Use of off-label and unlicenced drugs in hospitalised paediatric patients: A systematic review. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;71(1):1–13. doi:10.1007/s00228-014-1768-9.
- 27. Woodcock J. Implementation of the Pediatric Exclusivity Provisions.; 2001. http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Testimony/ucm115220.htm.
- 28. Davis JM, Connor EM, Wood AJJ. The need for rigorous evidence on medication use in preterm infants: Is it time for a neonatal rule? *Jama*. 2012;308(14):1435–1436. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.12883.
- 29. Pediatric Pharmacology Research (PPRU). Expert Panel Report.; 2008.
- 30. Neal-Kluever A, Aungst J, Gu Y, et al. Infant toxicology: State of the science and considerations in evaluation of safety. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 2014;70(MAY 2014):68–83. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2014.05.003.

- Dunne J, Rodriguez WJ, Murphy MD, et al. Extrapolation of Adult Data and Other Data in Pediatric Drug-Development Programs. *Pediatrics*. 2011;128(5):e1242e1249. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-3487.
- 32. European Medicines Agency. *Guideline on Pharmaceutical Development of Medicines for Paediatric Use.*; 2013. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/ document_library/Scientific_guideline/2013/07/WC500147002.pdf.
- WHO Expert Committee. Development of Paediatric Medicines: Points To Consider in Pharmaceutical Development.; 2011. http://www.who.int/medicines/ areas/quality_safety/quality_assurance/Rev3-BoodiatriaMediaineeDevelopment. QAS08.257Bav3.17082011.pdf

PaediatricMedicinesDevelopment_QAS08-257Rev3_17082011.pdf.

- Bowles A, Keane J, Ernest T, Clapham D, Tuleu C. Specific aspects of gastrointestinal transit in children for drug delivery design. *Int J Pharm.* 2010;395:37– 43. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.04.048.
- Cram A, Breitkreutz J, Dessetbrethes S, Nunn T, Tuleu C. Challenges of developing palatable oral paediatric formulations. *Int J Pharm.* 2009;365(1–2):1– 3. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.09.015.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Report of the Informal Expert Meeting on Dosage Forms of Medicines for Children.; 2008. http://www.who.int/selection_medicines/committees/expert/17/application/paediat ric/Dosage_form_reportDEC2008.pdf.
- 37. Pifferi G, Restani P. The safety of pharmaceutical excipients. *Farm.* 2003; 58(8):541–550. doi:10.1016/S0014-827X(03)00079-X.
- 38. IPEC Federation. http://www.ipec.org/. Accessed October 31, 2014.
- 39. Pifferi G, Santoro P, Pedrani M. Quality and Functionality of Excipients. *Farm.* 1999;54:1–14. doi:10.1016/S0014-827X(98)00101-3.
- Golightly LK, Smolinske SS, Bennett ML, Sutherland EW, Rumack BH. Pharmaceutical Excipients: Adverse Effects Associated with Inactive Ingredients in Drug Products (Part I). *Med Toxicol Adverse Drug Exp.* 1988;3(2):128–165. doi:10.1007/BF03259937.
- 41. Rowe CR, Sheskey JP, Cook GW, Fenton EM. *Handbook of Pharmaceutical Excipients*. 7th ed. Pharmaceutical Press and American Pharmacists Association; 2012.
- 42. The International Pharmaceutical Excipients Council. *The IPEC Excipient Composition Guide.*; 2009. http://ipec-europe.org/page.asp?pid=59.
- 43. European Medicines Agency. *Guideline on Excipients in the Dossier for Application for Marketing Authorisation of a Medicinal Product.*; 2007. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 09/09/WC500003382.pdf.
- 44. Moreton RC. Pharmaceutical excipients the continuing paradox(es) of formulation science . *J Excipients Food Chem.* 2013;4(December):107–110.
- 45. van Riet-Nales DA, Schobben AFAM, Vromans H, Egberts TCG, Rademaker CMA. Safe and effective pharmacotherapy in infants and preschool children: importance of formulation aspects. *Arch Dis Child.* 2016;101:662–669. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2015-308227.
- 46. Robertson MI. Regulatory issues with excipients. *Int J Pharm*. 1999;187:273–276. doi:10.1016/S0378-5173(99)00110-6.
- 47. Allegaert K. Neonates need tailored drug formulations. *World J Clin Pediatr*. 2013;2:1–5. doi:10.5409/wjcp.v2.i1.
- 48. Chaudhari SP, Patil PS. Pharmaceutical Excipients : A review. Int J Adv Pharmacy, Biol Chem. 2012;1(1):21-34.

- 49. Yochana S, Yu M, Alvi M, Varenya S, Chatterjee P. Pharmaceutical excipients and pediatric formulations. *Chim Oggi/Chemistry Today*. 2012;30(5):56–61.
- Morselli PL. Clincial pharmacokinetics in neonates. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 1976; 1(2):81–98. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/13955. Accessed December 3, 2015.
- 51. Batchelor HK, Fotaki N, Klein S. Paediatric oral biopharmaceutics: key considerations and current challenges. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2014;73:102–126. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2013.10.006.
- 52. Alcorn J, Mcnamara PJ. Pharmacokinetics in the newborn. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2003;55:667–686.
- Ginsberg G, Hattis D, Sonawane B. Incorporating pharmacokinetic differences between children and adults in assessing children's risks to environmental toxicants. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 2004;198(2):164–183. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2003.10.010.
- 54. Reiter PD. Neonatal Pharmacology and Pharmacokinetics. *Neoreviews*. 2002; 3(11):229e–236. doi:10.1542/neo.3-11-e229.
- 55. Saint Raymond A, Brasseur D. Development of medicines for children in Europe: ethical implications. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* 2005;6(1):45–51. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2004.11.008.
- Tayman C, Rayyan M, Allegaert K. Neonatal pharmacology: extensive interindividual variability despite limited size. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther*. 2011;16(3): 170–184. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-16.3.170.
- 57. Turner MA, Duncan JC, Shah U, et al. Risk assessment of neonatal excipient exposure: Lessons from food safety and other areas. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2014;73C:89–101. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2013.11.003.
- 58. Fernandez E, Perez R, Hernandez A, Tejada P, Arteta M, Ramos J. Factors and Mechanisms for Pharmacokinetic Differences between Pediatric Population and Adults. *Pharmaceutics*. 2011;3(4):53–72. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics3010053.
- 59. Nahata MC. Safety of "inert" additives or excipients in paediatric medicines. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 2009;94(6):F392–3. doi:10.1136/adc.2009.160192.
- 60. Strolin Benedetti M, Whomsley R, Baltes EL. Differences in absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of xenobiotics between the paediatric and adult populations. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*. 2005;1(3):447–471. doi:10.1517/17425255.1.3.447.
- 61. Bartelink IH, Rademaker CM a, Schobben AF a M, Van Den Anker JN. Guidelines on paediatric dosing on the basis of developmental physiology and pharmacokinetic considerations. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2006;45(11):1077–1097. doi:10.2165/00003088-200645110-00003.
- 62. Kaye JL. Review of paediatric gastrointestinal physiology data relevant to oral drug delivery. *Int J Clin Pharm.* 2011;33(1):20–24. doi:10.1007/s11096-010-9455-0.
- 63. Anderson GD. Developmental pharmacokinetics. *Semin Pediatr Neurol.* 2010; 17(4):208–213. doi:10.1016/j.spen.2010.10.002.
- 64. Warner A. Drug use in the neonate: interrelationships of pharmacokinetics, toxicity, and biochemical maturity. *Clin Chem.* 1986;32(5):721–727.
- 65. Miyagi SJ, Collier AC. Pediatric Development of Glucuronidation : The Ontogeny of Hepatic UGT1A4 ABSTRACT : *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2007;35(9):1587–1592. doi:10.1124/dmd.107.015214.biologically.

- 66. European Medicines Agency. *Background Review for the Excipient Propylene Glycol.*; 2014.
- Coughtrie MW, Burchell B, Leakey JE, Hume R. The inadequacy of perinatal glucuronidation: immunoblot analysis of the developmental expression of individual UDP-glucuronosyltransferase isoenzymes in rat and human liver microsomes. *Mol Pharmacol*. 1988;34(6):729–735. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3143908. Accessed December 15, 2015.
- Alcorn J, McNamara PJ. Ontogeny of hepatic and renal systemic clearance pathways in infants: part I. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2002;41(12):1077–1094. doi:10.2165/00003088-200241130-00005.
- 69. European Medicines Agency. Concept Paper on the Impact of Liver Immaturity When Investigating Medicinal Products Intended for Neonatal Use.; 2006. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 09/09/WC500003803.pdf.
- 70. Tran MN, Wu AHB, Hill DW. Alcohol dehydrogenase and catalase content in perinatal infant and adult livers: Potential influence on neonatal alcohol metabolism. *Toxicol Lett.* 2007;169(3):245–252. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2007.01.012.
- 71. Lu H, Rosenbaum S. Developmental pharmacokinetics in pediatric populations. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2014;19(4):262–276. doi:10.5863/1551-6776-19.4.262.
- 72. European Medicines Agency. *Discussion Paper on the Impact of Renal Immaturity When Investigating Medicinal Products Intended for Paediatric Use.*; 2004. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 09/09/WC500003807.pdf.
- 73. Ginsberg G, Hattis D, Sonawane B, et al. Evaluation of child/adult pharmacokinetic differences from a database derived from the therapeutic drug literature. *Toxicol Sci.* 2002;66(2):185–200. doi:10.1093/toxsci/66.2.185.
- 74. Hines RN. Developmental expression of drug metabolizing enzymes: Impact on disposition in neonates and young children. *Int J Pharm*. 2013;452(1–2):3–7. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.05.079.
- 75. Grandjean P, Landrigan P. Developmental neurotoxicity of industrial chemicals. *Lancet*. 2006;368(9553):2167–2178. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69665-7.
- 76. Watson RE, Desesso JM, Hurtt ME, Cappon GD. Postnatal growth and morphological development of the brain: a species comparison. *Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol*. 2006;77(5):471–484. doi:10.1002/bdrb.20090.
- Ek CJ, Dziegielewska KM, Habgood MD, Saunders NR. Barriers in the developing brain and Neurotoxicology. *Neurotoxicology*. 2012;33(3):586–604. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2011.12.009.
- 78. De Cock RFW, Knibbe C a J, Kulo A, et al. Developmental pharmacokinetics of propylene glycol in preterm and term neonates. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2013; 75(1):162–171. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04312.x.
- 79. Kulo A, De Hoon JN, Allegaert K. The propylene glycol research project to illustrate the feasibility and difficulties to study toxicokinetics in neonates. *Int J Pharm.* 2012;435(2):112–114. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.05.014.
- De Cock RF, Allegaert K, Vanhaesebrouck S, et al. Low but inducible contribution of renal elimination to clearance of propylene glycol in preterm and term neonates. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2014;36(3):278–287. doi:10.1097/FTD.00000000000003.

- 81. Du F, Zhang Y, Iltis I, et al. In Vivo Proton MRS to Quantify Anesthetic Effects of Pentobarbital on Cerebral Metabolism and Brain Activity in Rat. *Magn Reson Med.* 2009;62(6):1385–1393. doi:10.1002/mrm.22146.In.
- 82. Kelner MJ, Bailey DN. Propylene glycol as a cause of lactic acidosis. *J Anal Toxicol*. 1985;9(1):40–42.
- 83. Committee on Fetus and Newborn, Committee on Drugs. Benzyl Alcohol: Toxic Agent in Neonatal Units. *Am Acad Pediatr*. 1983;72(3):356.
- 84. Nair B. Final Report on the Safety Assessment of Benzyl Alcohol, Benzoic Acid, and Sodium Benzoate. *Int J Toxicol*. 2001;20(20 (Suppl. 3)):23–50.
- 85. Hiller JL, Benda GI, Rahatzad M, et al. Benzyl Alcohol Toxicity: Impact on Mortality and Intraventricular Hemorrhage Among Very Low Birth Weight Infants. *Pediatrics*. 1986;77:500–506.
- European Medicines Agency. Questions and Answers on Benzoic Acid and Benzoates in the Context of the Revision of the Guideline on "Excipients in the Label and Package Leaflet of Medicinal Products for Human Use" (CPMP/463/00).; 2014. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2014/02/WC500162031.pdf.
- 87. European Medicines Agency. *Reflection Paper on the Use of Methyl- and Propylparaben as Excipients in Human Medicinal Products for Oral Use.*; 2015. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 13/05/WC500143139.pdf.
- Ballentine C. *Sulfanilamide Disaster*.; 1981. http://www.fda.gov/aboutfda/whatwedo/ history/productregulation/sulfanilamidedisaster/default.htm. Accessed January 18, 2016.
- 89. Choonara I, Rieder MJ. Drug Toxicity and Adverse Drug Reactions in Children A Brief Historical Review. *Paediatr Perinat Drug Ther*. 2002;5(1):12–18. doi:10.1185/146300902322125109.
- 90. Tuleu C, Breitkreutz J. Educational paper: formulation-related issues in pediatric clinical pharmacology. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2013;172(6):717–720. doi:10.1007/s00431-012-1872-8.
- 91. Carter D. Risk Assessment for Excipients for Enhanced Patient Safety. *Pharm Technol.* 2011;35. http://www.pharmtech.com/risk-assessment-excipients-enhanced-patient-safety. Accessed January 27, 2016.
- 92. European Commission. *Opinion on Diethylene Glycol.*; 2006. http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_sccp/docs/sccp_o_139.pdf.
- 93. Amsel LP, Levy G. Drug biotransformation interactions in man. II. A pharmacokinetic study of the simultaneous conjugation of benzoic and salicylic acids with glycine. *J Pharm Sci.* 1969;58(3):321–326. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5782024. Accessed December 17, 2015.
- Amsel LP, Levy G. Effect of Ethanol on the Conjugation of Benzoate and Salicylate with Glycine in Man. *Exp Biol Med.* 1970;135(3):813–816. doi:10.3181/00379727-135-35150.
- 95. Food and Drug Administration, Boxwell D. Kaletra Oral Solution Toxicity in Neonates – Lopinavir, Ethanol And/or Propylene Glycol? Pediatric Advisory Committee Meeting.; 2011. http://www.fda.gov/downloads/AdvisoryCommittees/ CommitteesMeetingMaterials/PediatricAdvisoryCommittee/UCM272865.pdf.
- 96. Zuccotti GV, Fabiano V. Safety issues with ethanol as an excipient in drugs intended for pediatric use. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* 2011;10(4):499–502. doi:10.1517/14740338.2011.565328.

- 97. Ernest TB, Elder DP, Martini LG, Roberts M, Ford JL. Developing paediatric medicines: identifying the needs and recognizing the challenges. *J Pharm Pharmacol.* 2007;59:1043–1055. doi:10.1211/jpp.59.8.0001.
- 98. European Commission. Excipients in the label and package leaflet of medicinal products for human use. 2003;3B(July). http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/ document_library/Scientific_guideline/2009/09/WC500003412.pdf.
- Jardine D, Rogers K. Relationship of benzyl alcohol to kernicterus, intraventricular hemorrhage, and mortality in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. 1989;83(2):153– 160. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2783624. Accessed September 7, 2014.
- 100. European Medicines Agency. Questions and Answers on Benzyl Alcohol in the Context of the Revision of the Guideline on "Excipients in the Label and Package Leaflet of Medicinal Products for Human Use" (CPMP/463/00).; 2014. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 14/02/WC500162032.pdf.
- 101. Ursino MG, Poluzzi E, Caramella C, De Ponti F. Excipients in medicinal products used in gastroenterology as a possible cause of side effects. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol.* 2011;60(1):93–105. doi:10.1016/j.yrtph.2011.02.010.
- 102. Duro D, Rising R, Cedillo M, Lifshitz F. Association Between Infantile Colic and Carbohydrate Malabsorption From Fruit Juices in Infancy. *Pediatrics*. 2002;109(5):797–805. doi:10.1542/peds.109.5.797.
- 103. European Medicines Agency. Questions and Answers on Ethanol in the Context of the Revision of the Guideline on "Excipients in the Label and Package Leaflet of Medicinal Products for Human Use" (CPMP/463/00) Draft.; 2014. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 14/02/WC500162033.pdf.
- 104. Miszkiel K, Beasley R, Rafferty P, Holgate S. The contribution of histamine release to bronchoconstriction provoked by inhaled benzalkonium chloride in asthma. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 1988;25(2):157–163. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.1988.tb03286.x.
- 105. Food Safety Commission. Evaluation Report of Food Additives Polysorbates.; 2007. https://www.fsc.go.jp/english/evaluationreports/foodadditive/polysorbate_ report.pdf.
- 106. European Commission. Report from the Commission on Dietary Food Additive Intake in the European Union.; 1998.
- 107. European Medicines Agency. Questions & Answers on Propylene Glycol and Esters in the Context of the Revision of the Guideline on "Excipients in the Label and Package Leaflet of Medicinal Products for Human Use" (CPMP/463/00).; 2014. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/ 2014/12/WC500177945.pdf.
- 108. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Health and Environmental Effects Document for Benzyl Alcohol.; 1989. http://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyNET.exe/ 900G0J00.TXT?ZyActionD=ZyDocument&Client=EPA&Index=1986+Thru+199 0&Docs=&Query=&Time=&EndTime=&SearchMethod=1&TocRestrict=n&Toc =&TocEntry=&QField=&QFieldYear=&QFieldMonth=&QFieldDay=&IntQField Op=0&ExtQFieldOp=0&XmlQuery=&.
- 109. Menon PA, Thach BT, Smith CH, et al. Benzyl alcohol toxicity in a neonatal intensive care unit. Incidence, symptomatology, and mortality. *Am J Perinatol*. 1984;1(4):288–292. doi:10.1055/s-2007-1000023.

- 110. Gershanik J, Boecler B, Ensley H, McCloskey S, George W. The Gasping Syndrome and Benzyl Alcohol Poisoning. N Engl J Med. 1982;307(22):1384– 1388. doi:10.1056/NEJM198211253072206.
- 111. Brown WJ, Buist NR, Gipson HT, Huston RK, Kennaway NG. Fatal benzyl alcohol poisoning in a neonatal intensive care unit. *Lancet*. 1982;1(8283):1250. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6123006. Accessed December 17, 2015.
- 112. World Health Organization (WHO). *Promotion Safety of Medicines for Children*.; 2007. http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/essentialmedicines/Promotion_safe_med_childrens.pdf.
- 113. Morselli PL, Franco-Morselli R, Bossi L. Clinical pharmacokinetics in newborns and infants. Age-related differences and therapeutic implications. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 1980;5(6):485–527. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7002417. Accessed December 20, 2015.
- 114. MacDonald MG, Getson PR, Glasgow AM, Miller MK, Boeckx RL, Johnson EL. Propylene glycol: increased incidence of seizures in low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics*. 1987;79(4):622–625. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3822682. Accessed February 4, 2016.
- 115. Lamminpää A. Alcohol intoxication in childhood and adolescence. *Alcohol Alcohol*. 1995;30(1):5–12. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7748276. Accessed January 27, 2016.
- 116. Svirskis D, Toh M, Ram S. The use of ethanol in paediatric formulations in New Zealand. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2013;172(7):919–926. doi:10.1007/s00431-013-1972-0.
- 117. Fiocchi A, Riva E, Giovannini M. Ethanol in medicines and other products intended for children: commentary on a medical paradox. *Nutr Res.* 1999; 19(3):373–379. doi:doi:10.1016/S0271-5317(99)00004-4.
- 118. Marek E, Kraft WK. Ethanol Pharmacokinetics in Neonates and Infants. *Curr Ther Res.* 2014;76:90–97. doi:10.1016/j.curtheres.2014.09.002.
- 119. American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP). Ethanol in Liquid Preparations Intended for Children. *Pediatrics*. 1984;73(3):405–407.
- 120. Padnos E, Horwitz I, Wunder G. Contact Dermatitis Complicating Tracheostomy Causative Role of Aqueous Solution of Benzalkonium Chloride. *Am J Dis Child*. 1965;109(1):90. doi:10.1001/archpedi.1965.02090020092012.
- 121. Golightly LK, Smolinske SS, Bennett ML, Sutherland EW, Rumack BH. Pharmaceutical Excipients: Adverse Effects Associated with Inactive Ingredients in Drug Products (Part II). *Med Toxicol Adverse Drug Exp.* 1988;3(2):209–240.
- 122. Walsh J, Cram A, Woertz K, et al. Playing hide and seek with poorly tasting paediatric medicines: do not forget the excipients. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2014; 73:14–33. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2014.02.012.
- 123. Napke E, Stevens DGH. Excipients and additives: Hidden hazards in drug products and in product substitution. *Can Med Assoc J.* 1984;131(12):1449–1452. doi:10.1186/s13256-015-0602-z.
- 124. Soni MG, Carabin IG, Burdock GA. Safety assessment of esters of p-hydroxybenzoic acid (parabens). *Food Chem Toxicol*. 2005;43(7):985–1015. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2005.01.020.
- 125. Routledge EJ, Parker J, Odum J, Ashby J, Sumpter JP. Some alkyl hydroxy benzoate preservatives (parabens) are estrogenic. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 1998; 153(1):12–19. doi:10.1006/taap.1998.8544.
- 126. Oishi S. Effects of propyl paraben on the male reproductive system. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 2002;40(12):1807–1813. doi:10.1016/S0278-6915(02)00204-1.

- 127. Oishi S. Lack of spermatotoxic effects of methyl and ethyl esters of p-hydroxybenzoic acid in rats. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 2004;42(11):1845–1849. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2004.06.015.
- 128. Gazin V, Marsden E, Marguerite F. Oral propylparaben administration to juvenile male wistar rats did not induce toxicity in reproductive organs. *Toxicol Sci.* 2013;136(2):392–401. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kft211.
- 129. European Medicines Agency. European Public MRL Assessment Report (EPMAR) Propyl 4-Hydroxybenzoate and Its Sodium Salt.; 2015. http://www.ema.europa.eu/ docs/en_GB/document_library/Maximum_Residue_Limits_-_Report/2015/09/ WC500193217.pdf.
- 130. Turner S, Nunn a J, Fielding K, Choonara I. Adverse drug reactions to unlicensed and off-label drugs on paediatric wards: a prospective study. *Acta Paediatr*. 1999;88(9):965–968. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10519338.
- 131. Warrier I, Du W, Natarajan G, Salari V, Aranda J. Patterns of drug utilization in a neonatal intensive care unit. *J Clin Pharmacol.* 2006;46(4):449–455. doi:10.1177/0091270005285456.
- 132. Messiha FS, Pasi A, Morniroli G. Behavioral and enzymatic interactions between benzyl alcohol and ethanol. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* 1992;43(4):1071–1074. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1475290. Accessed December 20, 2015.
- Messiha FS. Benzyl alcohol adverse effects in the rat: implications for toxicity as a preservative in parentral injectable solutions. *Comp Biochem Physiol C*. 1991; 99(3):445–449. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1685418. Accessed December 20, 2015.
- 134. Shehab N, Lewis CL, Streetman DD, Donn SM. Exposure to the pharmaceutical excipients benzyl alcohol and propylene glycol among critically ill neonates. *Pediatr Crit care Med.* 2009;10(2):256–259. doi:10.1097/PCC.0b013e31819a383c.
- 135. Souza A, Santos D, Fonseca S, et al. Toxic excipients in medications for neonates in Brazil. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2014;173(7):935–945. doi:10.1007/s00431-014-2272-z.
- 136. Kumar P, Walker JK, Hurt KM, Bennett KM, Grosshans N, Fotis M a. Medication use in the neonatal intensive care unit: current patterns and off-label use of parenteral medications. *J Pediatr*. 2008;152(3):412–415. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.07.050.
- 137. Sequi M, Campi R, Clavenna A, Bonati M. Methods in pharmacoepidemiology: a review of statistical analyses and data reporting in pediatric drug utilization studies. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013;69(3):599–604. doi:10.1007/s00228-012-1354-y.
- Clavenna A, Bonati M. Drug prescriptions to outpatient children: a review of the literature. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2009;65(8):749–755. doi:10.1007/s00228-009-0679-7.
- Verhamme K, Sturkenboom M. Study designs in paediatric pharmacoepidemiology. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2011;67 Suppl 1:67–74. doi:10.1007/s00228-010-0930-2.
- 140. Neubert A, Sturkenboom MCJM, Murray ML, et al. Databases for pediatric medicine research in Europe – assessment and critical appraisal. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2008;17(12):1155–1167. doi:10.1002/pds.1661.
- 141. Gagnon JP, Rindress D. Pharmacoeconomics: Identifying the Issues. USA; 1998.
- 142. Roberts J a, De Waele JJ, Dimopoulos G, et al. DALI: Defining Antibiotic Levels in Intensive care unit patients: a multi-centre point of prevalence study to

determine whether contemporary antibiotic dosing for critically ill patients is therapeutic. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2012;12(1):152. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-12-152.

- 143. Zarb P, Amadeo B, Muller A, et al. Antifungal therapy in European hospitals: data from the ESAC point-prevalence surveys 2008 and 2009. *Clin Microbiol Infect Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* 2012;18(10):E389–95. doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03973.x.
- 144. Ingram PR, Seet JM, Budgeon C a, Murray R. Point-prevalence study of inappropriate antibiotic use at a tertiary Australian hospital. *Intern Med J.* 2012; 42(6):719–721. doi:10.1111/j.1445-5994.2012.02809.x.
- 145. Amadeo B, Zarb P, Muller A, et al. European Surveillance of Antibiotic Consumption (ESAC) point prevalence survey 2008: paediatric antimicrobial prescribing in 32 hospitals of 21 European countries. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2010;65(10):2247–2252. doi:10.1093/jac/dkq309.
- 146. Ansari F, Erntell M, Goossens H, Davey P. The European surveillance of antimicrobial consumption (ESAC) point-prevalence survey of antibacterial use in 20 European hospitals in 2006. *Clin Infect Dis an Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am.* 2009;49(10):1496–1504. doi:10.1086/644617.
- 147. Zarb P, Amadeo B, Muller A, et al. Identification of targets for quality improvement in antimicrobial prescribing: the web-based ESAC Point Prevalence Survey 2009. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2011;66(2):443–449. doi:10.1093/jac/dkq430.
- 148. Zarb P, Goossens H. European Surveillance of Antimicrobial Consumption (ESAC). *Drugs*. 2011;71(6):745–755.
- 149. Strickley RG, Iwata Q, Wu S, Dahl TC. Pediatric drugs a review of commercially available oral formulations. *J Pharm Sci.* 2008;97(5):1731–1774. doi:10.1002/jps.21101.
- Garcia-Palop B, Movilla Polanco E, Cañete Ramirez C, Cabañas Poy MJ. Harmful excipients in medicines for neonates in Spain. *Int J Clin Pharm*. 2016;38(2):238– 242. doi:10.1007/s11096-016-0277-6.
- 151. Cordell RL, Pandya H, Hubbard M, Turner MA, Monks PS. GC-MS analysis of ethanol and other volatile compounds in micro-volume blood samples-quantifying neonatal exposure. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 2013;405(12):4139–4147. doi:10.1007/s00216-013-6809-1.
- 152. Pandya HC, Mulla H, Hubbard M, et al. Essential medicines containing ethanol elevate blood acetaldehyde concentrations in neonates. *Eur J Pediatr.* 2016. doi:10.1007/s00431-016-2714-x.
- 153. Food and Drug Administration. *Food and Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997.*; 1997. https://www.cov.com/~/media/files/corporate/publications/1997/12/ oid6193.pdf. Accessed January 17, 2016.
- 154. European Parliament. *Regulation (EC) No 1901/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council.*; 2006. http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/ regulation/document_listing/document_listing_000068.jsp.
- 155. Laughon MM, Avant D, Tripathi N, et al. Drug labeling and exposure in neonates. JAMA Pediatr. 2014;168(2):130–136. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.4208.
- 156. Salunke S, Giacoia G, Tuleu C. The STEP (Safety and Toxicity of Excipients for Paediatrics) database: Part 1 – A need assessment study. *Int J Pharm.* 2012; 435(1):101–111. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.09.013.
- 157. DeMerlis CC, Goldring JM, Ranga Velagaleti P, Brock W, Osterberg R. Regulatory Update: The IPEC Novel Excipient Safety Evaluation Procedure. *Pharm Technol.* 2009;33(11):72–82.

- 158. Food and Drug Administration. *Guidance for Industry Nonclinical Safety Evaluation of Pediatric Drug Products.*; 2006. http://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/g uidances/ucm079247.pdf.
- 159. Saluja V, Sekhon BS. The regulation of pharmaceutical excipients . *J Chem Food Chem*. 2013;4(September):95–106.
- 160. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration. *Guidance for Industry Nonclinical Studies for the Safety Evaluation of Pharmaceutical Excipients.*; 2005. http://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/ guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/guidances/ucm079250.pdf.
- 161. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), World Health Organization (WHO). Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). http://www.who.int/foodsafety/areas work/chemical-risks/jecfa/en/.
- 162. European Medicines Agency. ICH Guideline Q8 (R2) on Pharmaceutical Development.; 2015. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/ Scientific_guideline/2009/09/WC500002872.pdf.
- European Commission. A Guideline on Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC). 2009;Revision 2(September). http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/eudralex/ vol-2/c/smpc guideline rev2 en.pdf.
- 164. European Medicines Agency. Concept Paper on the Need for Revision of the Guideline on Excipients in the Label and Package Leaflet of Medicinal Products for Human Use.; 2012.
- 165. European Medicines Agency. Questions and Answers on Benzalkonium Chloride in the Context of the Revision of the Guideline on "Excipients in the Label and Package Leaflet of Medicinal Products for Human Use" (CPMP/463/00).; 2014. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/20 14/06/WC500169459.pdf.
- 166. The International Pharmaceutical Excipients Council. *Qualification of Excipients for Pharmaceutical Use.*; 2008. http://ipec-europe.org/page.asp?pid=59.
- 167. Abdellah A, Noordin MI, Wan Ismail WA. Importance and globalization status of good manufacturing practice (GMP) requirements for pharmaceutical excipients. *Saudi Pharm J.* 2015;23(1):9–13. doi:10.1016/j.jsps.2013.06.003.
- 168. Pharmaceutical Technology Editors. IPEC-America Suggests Improvements to FDA's Inactive Ingredients Database. *Pharm Technol.* 2015;11(11). http://www.pharmtech.com/ipec-america-suggests-improvements-fda-s-inactiveingredients-database. Accessed January 28, 2016.
- 169. European Commission. Guidelines of 19 March 2015 on the Formalised Risk Assessment for Ascertaining the Appropriate Good Manufacturing Practice for Excipients of Medicinal Products for Human Use.; 2015.
- 170. ICH Expert Working Group. *Quality Risk Management Q9.*; 2005. http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Quality+Risk+ Management+Q9#0%5Cnhttp://www.cls.co.at/downloads/ich-q9---quality-riskmanagement.pdf.
- 171. Sam T, Ernest TB, Walsh J, Williams JL. A benefit / risk approach towards selecting appropriate pharmaceutical dosage forms – An application for paediatric dosage form selection. *Int J Pharm.* 2012;435(2):115–123. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.05.024.

- 172. European Medicines Agency. Note for Guidance on Excipients, Antioxidants and Antimicrobial Preservatives in the Dossier for Application for Marketing Authorisation of a Medicinal Product.; 2003.
- 173. European Medicines Agency. *The Potential Risks of Carcinogens, Mutagens and Substances Toxic to Reproduction When These Substances Are Used as Excipients of Medicinal Products for Human Use.*; 2007. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en GB/document library/Other/2009/10/WC500004013.pdf.
- 174. Woodcock J. *Examining Drug Compounding*. Office of the Commissioner; 2013. http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Testimony/ucm353654.htm. Accessed January 17, 2016.
- 175. Kaushal R, Bates DW, Landrigan C, et al. Medication errors and adverse drug events in pediatric inpatients. *JAMA*. 2001;285(16):2114–2120. doi:10.1097/00132586-200206000-00041.
- 176. van den Anker JN. Managing drugs safely. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2005; 10(1):73-81. doi:10.1016/j.siny.2004.09.005.
- 177. Jacqz-Aigrain E. Drug policy in Europe. Research and funding in neonates: Current challenges, future perspectives, new opportunities. *Early Hum Dev*. 2011;87(SUPPL.):S27–S30. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2011.01.007.
- 178. Abbott Laboratories. *Dear Healthcare Professional Letter on Kaletra Oral Solution and Accidental Overdose in Children.*; 2007. http://www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/SafetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProducts/ucm152680.htm.
- 179. International Pharmaceutical Excipients Council (IPEC), Innovation & Quality Consortium. IPEC Americas & IQ Consortium – FDA Meeting to Discuss Novel Excipients Initiative Attendees.; 2015. http://www.fda.gov/downloads/AboutFDA/ CentersOfficeofMedicalProductsandTobacco/CDER/UCM461274.pdf.
- Kolter K. Novel Excipients: A Rare Species. *Pharm Technol Eur.* 2011;23(10). http://www.pharmtech.com/pharmtech/Ingredients/Novel-Excipients-A-Rare-Species/ArticleStandard/Article/detail/740932. Accessed October 31, 2014.
- 181. European Parliament. Directive 2001/83/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council.; 2001. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L: 2001:311:0067:0128:en:PDF.
- 182. Brion F, Nunn AJ, Rieutord A. Extemporaneous (Magistral) Preparation of Oral Medicines for Children in European Hospitals. *Acta Paediatr*. 2003;92:486–490. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2003.tb00583.x.
- 183. Somberg JC, Cvetanovic I, Ranade V, Molnar J. Comparative effects of rapid bolus administration of aqueous amiodarone versus 10-minute Cordarone I.V. Infusion on mean arterial blood pressure in conscious dogs. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* 2004;18(5):345–351. doi:10.1007/s10557-005-5058-8.
- 184. Somberg JC, Cao W, Cvetanovic I, Ranade V, Molnar J. Pharmacology and toxicology of a new aqueous formulation of intravenous amiodarone (Amio-Aqueous) compared with Cordarone IV. *Am J Ther*. 2005;12(1):9–16. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15662287. Accessed February 7, 2016.
- 185. Gallik DM, Singer I, Meissner MD, Molnar J, Somberg JC. Hemodynamic and surface electrocardiographic effects of a new aqueous formulation of intravenous amiodarone. *Am J Cardiol.* 2002;90(9):964–968. doi:10.1016/S0002-9149(02)02662-0.
- 186. van Riet-Nales DA, de Jager KE, Schobben AFAM, Egberts TCG, Rademaker CMA. The availability and age-appropriateness of medicines authorized for

children in the Netherlands. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2011;72(3):465–473. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011.03982.x.

- 187. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice (GCP) for Trials on Pharmaceutical Products.; 1995. doi:10.3109/07853899409147334.
- 188. World Medical Association (WMA). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki.; 2008.
- 189. Metsvaht T, Nellis G, Varendi H, et al. High variability in the dosing of commonly used antibiotics revealed by a Europe-wide point prevalence study: implications for research and dissemination. *BMC Pediatr*. 2015;15(4):1–10. doi:10.1186/s12887-015-0359-y.
- 190. Turner M. European Study of Neonatal Exposure to Excipients (ESNEE). *Infant*. 2011;7(6):1–4.
- 191. NEOMERO European multicenter network to evaluate pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy of Meropenem in neonatal sepsis and meningitis. http://www.neomero.org/. Accessed May 12, 2013.
- 192. TINN European Survey on the Use of Antibiotics in NICUs. http://www.tinnproject.org/index.php?option=com frontpage&Itemid=1. Accessed May 12, 2013.
- 193. Labenne M, Michaut F, Gouyon B, Ferdynus C, Gouyon J-B. A population-based observational study of restrictive guidelines for antibiotic therapy in early-onset neonatal infections. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2007;26(7):593–599. doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e318068b656.
- 194. Tracy SK, Tracy MB, Sullivan E. Admission of term infants to neonatal intensive care: a population-based study. *Birth*. 2007;34(4):301–307. doi:10.1111/j.1523-536X.2007.00188.x.
- 195. Schiariti V, Klassen a F, Houbé JS, Synnes A, Lisonkova S, Lee SK. Perinatal characteristics and parents' perspective of health status of NICU graduates born at term. *J Perinatol Off J Calif Perinat Assoc.* 2008;28(5):368–376. doi:10.1038/jp.2008.9.
- 196. Losacco V, Cuttini M, Greisen G, et al. Heel blood sampling in European neonatal intensive care units: compliance with pain management guidelines. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 2011;96(1):F65–8. doi:10.1136/adc.2010.186429.
- 197. Zeitlin J, Papiernik E, Bréart G. Regionalization of perinatal care in Europe. *Semin Neonatol SN*. 2004;9(2):99–110. doi:10.1016/j.siny.2003.08.004.
- 198. Greisen G, Mirante N, Haumont D, et al. Parents, siblings and grandparents in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. A survey of policies in eight European countries. *Acta Paediatr (Oslo, Norw 1992)*. 2009;98(11):1744–1750. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01439.x.
- 199. Cuttini M, Rebagliato M, Bortoli P, et al. Parental visiting, communication, and participation in ethical decisions: a comparison of neonatal unit policies in Europe. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 1999;81(2):F84-91. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1720990&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract.
- 200. Eurostat. NUTS Nomenclature of territorial units for statistics. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/nuts_nomenclature/introduction.
- 201. Stark AR. Levels of neonatal care. *Pediatrics*. 2004;114(5):1341–1347. doi:10.1542/peds.2004-1697.
- 202. Modi N. *Categories of Care 2011*. London, UK; 2011. http://www.bapm.org/ publications/documents/guidelines/CatsofcarereportAug11.pdf.

- 203. Lowry R. VassarStats: website for statistical computation. http://vassarstats.net/.
- 204. United Nations Statistics Division composition of macro geographical (continental) regions, geographical sub-regions, and selected economic and other groupings. 2012. http://unstats.un.org/unsd/methods/m49/m49regin.htm#europe.
- 205. WHO | Preterm birth. 2013. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs363/en/. Accessed December 19, 2013.
- 206. Zou GY, Donner A. Extension of the modified Poisson regression model to prospective studies with correlated binary data. *Stat Methods Med Res.* 2013; 22(6):661–670. doi:10.1177/0962280211427759.
- 207. Holm S. A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure. *Scand J Stat.* 1979;6(2):65–70. http://www.jstor.org/discover/10.2307/4615733?uid=3737920&uid=2129&uid=2&uid=70&uid=4&sid=21101719033487.
- 208. Raudenbush SW. A Crossed Random Effects Model for Unbalanced Data With Applications in Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Research. *J Educ Stat.* 1993; 18(4):321–349.
- 209. MHRA. Manufacturer's and wholesale dealer's licences. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ Howweregulate/Medicines/Licensingofmedicines/Manufacturersandwholesaledeal erslicences/index.htm. Accessed July 22, 2013.
- 210. Zarb P, Coignard B, Griskeviciene J, et al. The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) pilot point prevalence survey of healthcare-associated infections and antimicrobial use. *Euro Surveill Bull Eur sur les Mal Transm* = *Eur Commun Dis Bull*. 2012;17(46).
 - http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23171822.
- 211. Christiansen N. Ethanol exposure through medicines commonly used in paediatrics. Arch Dis Child – Educ Pract. 2015;100(2):101–104. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2013-305671.
- 212. Nunn T, Williams J. Formulation of medicines for children. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2005;59(6):674–676. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02410.x.
- 213. van Riet-Nales D a, Römkens EG a W, Saint-Raymond A, et al. Oral medicines for children in the European paediatric investigation plans. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(6):e98348. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0098348.
- 214. Nellis G, Metsvaht T, Varendi H, et al. Potentially harmful excipients in neonatal medicines : a pan-European observational study. *Arch Dis Child*. 2015;100(7): 694–699. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2014-307793.
- 215. Ivanovska V, Rademaker CM a, van Dijk L, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK. Pediatric Drug Formulations: A Review of Challenges and Progress. *Pediatrics*. 2014; 134(2):361–372. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-3225.
- 216. Walsh J. Excipients for the formulation of medicines for children. *Eur Ind Pharm*. 2012;(13):14–16. http://eipg.eu/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/eip13-jun12-p14.pdf. Accessed September 7, 2014.
- 217. Wilson JT. An update on the therapeutic orphan. *Pediatrics*. 1999;104(3 Pt 2):585–590. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10469794.
- 218. European Medicines Agency. 5-Year Report to the European Commission: General Report on the Experience Acquired as a Result of the Application of the Paediatric Regulation.; 2012. http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/paediatrics/2012-09_pediatric_report-annex1-2_en.pdf.
- 219. European Medicines Agency. Paediatric Regulation. 2007. http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/regulation/document_listing/ document_listing_000068.jsp.

- 220. European Medicines Agency. Successes of the Paediatric Regulation after 5 Years.; 2013. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Other/ 2013/06/WC500143984.pdf.
- 221. de Souza AS, dos Santos DB, Rey LC, Medeiros MG, Vieira MG, Coelho HLL. Off-label use and harmful potential of drugs in a NICU in Brazil: A descriptive study. *BMC Pediatr*. 2016;16(1):13. doi:10.1186/s12887-016-0551-8.
- 222. AbuRuz S, Millership J, McElnay J. Dried blood spot liquid chromatography assay for therapeutic drug monitoring of metformin. *J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci.* 2006;832(2):202–207. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2005.12.050.
- 223. Suyagh MF, Kole PL, Millership J, Collier P, Halliday H, McElnay JC. Development and validation of a dried blood spot-LC-APCI-MS assay for estimation of canrenone in paediatric samples. *J Chromatogr B*. 2010;878(9–10):769–776. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2010.01.031.
- 224. Suyagh MF, Iheagwaram G, Kole PL, et al. Development and validation of a dried blood spot-HPLC assay for the determination of metronidazole in neonatal whole blood samples. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 2010;397:687–693. doi:10.1007/s00216-010-3571-5.
- 225. Yakkundi S, Millership J, Collier P, Shields MD, McElnay J. Development and validation of a dried blood spot LC-MS/MS assay to quantify ranitidine in paediatric samples. *J Pharm Biomed Anal*. 2011;56(5):1057–1063. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2011.08.011.
- 226. Lawson G, Patel P, Mulla H, Tanna S. Dried Blood Spot Sampling with LC-MS Analysis for Routine Therapeutic Caffeine Monitoring in Neonates. *ISRN Chromatogr*. 2012;2012(January 2016):1–7. doi:10.5402/2012/828719.
- 227. Mulla H, Yakkundi S, McElnay J, et al. An Observational Study of Blood Concentrations and Kinetics of Methyl- and Propyl-Parabens in Neonates. *Pharm Res.* 2014. doi:10.1007/s11095-014-1520-2.
- 228. GRiP. http://www.grip-network.org/index.php/cms/en/Home.
- 229. Salunke S, Brandys B, Giacoia G, Tuleu C. The STEP (Safety and Toxicity of Excipients for Paediatrics) database: Part 2 The pilot version. *Int J Pharm.* 2013;457(1):310–322. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.09.013.
- 230. Svinning Valeur K. Safe Excipient Exposure in Neonates and Small Children (SEEN). 2015. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/record/NCT02545712.
- 231. White HL, Macpherson AK. Capturing paediatric injury in Ontario: differences in injury incidence using self-reported survey and health service utilisation data. *Inj Prev*. 2012;18(1):33–37. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2011-040006.
- 232. Melo MCN De, Taddei JAD a C, Diniz-Santos DR, May DS, Carneiro NB, Silva LR. Incidence of diarrhea: poor parental recall ability. *Brazilian J Infect Dis an Off Publ Brazilian Soc Infect Dis*. 2007;11(6):571–579. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18327469.
- 233. Alam N, Henry FJ, Rahaman M. Reporting errors in one-week diarrhoea recall surveys: experience from a prospective study in rural Bangladesh. *Int J Epidemiol*. 1989;18:697–700.
- 234. Schmidt W-P, Arnold BF, Boisson S, et al. Epidemiological methods in diarrhoea studies – an update. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2011;40(6):1678–1692. doi:10.1093/ije/dyr152.
- 235. Lass J, Metsvaht T, Nellis G, Lutsar I. The comparability of different study methodologies for evaluating antibiotic consumption in neonatal intensive care units (NICU). In: *30th Annual Meeting of the ESPID*.; 2012. http://www.epostersonline.com/espid2012/?q=node/1542.

- 236. Knottnerus JA, Tugwell P. Ongoing progress in research on drug exposure and adverse events. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2012;65(10):1029–1030. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.07.004.
- 237. Nellis G, Lutsar I, Varendi H, et al. Comparison of two alternative study designs in assessment of medicines utilisation in neonates. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2014;14(1):89. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-89.
- 238. Strauss J. Excipient-Related Adverse Drug Reactions: a Clinical Approach. Curr Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015;28(1):24–27. http://www.allergysa.org/Content/Journals/March2015/Excipient.pdf.
- Chedoe I, Molendijk HA, Dittrich STAM, Jansman FGA, Harting JW, Brouwers JRBJ. Incidence and Nature of Medication Errors in Neonatal Intensive Care with Strategies to Improve Safety. *Drug Saf.* 2007;30(6):503–513.
- 240. Klingmann V, Seitz A, Meissner T, Breitkreutz J, Moeltner A, Bosse HM artin. Acceptability of Uncoated Mini-Tablets in Neonates – A Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Pediatr*. 2015;167(4):893–896. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.07.010.
- 241. Simoens S. Pricing and reimbursement of orphan drugs: the need for more transparency. *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* 2011;6(1):42. doi:10.1186/1750-1172-6-42.
- 242. Allegaert K, Vanhaesebrouck S, Kulo A, et al. Prospective assessment of shortterm propylene glycol tolerance in neonates. *Arch Dis Child*. 2010;95(12):1054– 1058. doi:10.1136/adc.2010.190330.
- 243. Kulo A, Smits A, Naulaers G, de Hoon J, Allegaert K. Biochemical tolerance during low dose propylene glycol exposure in neonates: A formulation-controlled evaluation. *DARUJ Pharm Sci.* 2012;20(1):5. doi:10.1186/1560-8115-20-5.
- 244. Turner MA, Duncan J, Shah U, et al. European Study of Neonatal Exposure to Excipients: an update. *Int J Pharm*. 2013;457(1):357–358. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.08.078.

9. SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Abiainete kasutamine vastsündinutele manustatavates ravimites Euroopas

Ravimite tootmisel on lisaks toimeainele vaja kasutada erinevaid farmatseutilisi abiaineid. Abiained on kõik ravimi koostisosad v.a. toimeaine: lahjendajad, täiteained, lahustid, emulgaatorid, sideained, disintegrandid, magusained, säilitusained, lõhna- ja värviained. Farmatseutilises tehnoloogias kasutatakse üle tuhande erineva abiaine, mis moodustavad keskmiselt 90% ravimvormi massist.² Abiainetel on ravimvormis/ ravimpreparaadis erinevaid funktsioone ja nad on vajalikud ravimite säilitamiseks, välimuse ja maitseomaduste parandamiseks, erinevate ravimvormide väljatöötamiseks, biosaadavuse parandamiseks jne.¹

Ravimi ohutus on alati olnud prioriteediks, palju tähelepanu pööratakse eeskätt toimeaine kvaliteedile, efektiivsusele ja ohutusprofiilile. Abiainetel on oma kindel funkstioon ravimvormis ning seega on neil kindlad füsikokeemilised omadused. Viimasel ajal on üha selgem, et ka abiained võivad olla kõrvaltoimete põhjustajaks.³⁻⁶ Tõsiste kõrvaltoimete kõrval võivad abiained põhjustada talumatust, allergiat ning ravimi toimeaine efekti vähenemist.

Arvestades ainevahetuse iseärasusi on teatud abiainete kasutamisega seotud riskid enam väljendunud vastsündinutel, kelle kesknärvisüsteem ja teised elutähtsad organid ei ole veel lõplikult arenenud¹⁰. Seetõttu võivad teatud ainete minimaalsedki annused põhjustada tõsiseid kõrvalekaldeid organite funktsioonis ja arengus.¹³ Näiteks on varajases sünnijärgses perioodis kesknärvisüsteem erakordselt vastuvõtlik mõnedele neurotoksiinidele nagu propüleenglükool ja etanool.⁷⁵ Ainevahetuse ja organfunktsioonide iseärasusest tulenevalt on vastsündinutel võrreldes vanemate laste ja täiskasvanutega erinev ka manustatavate ainete s.h. abiainete farmakokineetika ja farmakodünaamika. Lisaks on vastsündinute, eriti enneaegsete puhul, sageli tegemist polüfarmakoteraapiaga; üheaegselt kasutatavate ravimite hulk on tugevas korrelatsioonis kõrvaltoimete tekkega.¹³⁰ Ühe metaboolse raja (nt. alkoholi dehüdrogenaas) mitme erineva substraadi (nt. propüleenglükool ja etanool) koos manustamine võib põhjustada toksilise aine (propüleenglükool) kuhjumist organismis.⁹

Vastavalt Euroopa Ravimiameti (EMA; *European Medicines Agency*) juhendile vastsündinutele ravimite väljatöötamiseks tuleb siin "erilist tähelepanu pöörata abiainete valimisele, kuna paljud nendest võivad olla toksilised".¹⁸ Kuigi on andmeid, et mõned abiainetest võivad olla vastsündinutele toksilised ning põhjustada haigestumist või surma, puuduvad selle kohta põhjalikud ülevaated ning süstemaatilisi uuringuid on vähe. Üksikud uuringud on näidanud, et vastsündinutele manustatakse abiaineid märkimisväärsetes kogustes, mis sageli tunduvalt ületavad soovituslikke maksimumannuseid.^{14,134} Lass et al. näitasid, et Eesti kahes neonatoloogia osakonnas manustati poole aasta jooksul 88%-le vastsündinutest vähemalt ühte teadaolevate kõrvaltoimetega abiainet.¹⁵ Sarnased tulemused saadi ka Souza et al. poolt Brasiilias¹³⁵ ja Fister et al. poolt Sloveenias läbi viidud uuringutes.¹⁶ Üksikute riikide/ osakondade uuringud osutavad probleemi olemasolule, kuid ei võimalda hinnata selle tegelikku ulatust. Põhjalikud kogu Euroopat hõlmavad andmed abiainete kasutamise kohta vastsündinutel seni puuduvad. Samas võimaldaks need edaspidi planeerida meetmeid ohtlike abiainete kasutuse vähendamiseks vastsündinutel kasutusel olevate ravimite sobivama abiainete koostisega preparaatidega asendamise ning vajadusel ja võimalusel ka uute vastsündinutele mõeldud ravimvormide välja töötamise teel.

Vastsündinutel kasutatavate ravimite rahvusvaheliste uuringute läbiviimiseks võib kasutada erinevaid vaatlusuuringute liike, kuid mitte kõik farmakoepidemioloogias kasutatud meetodid ei sobi abiainete ekspositsiooni uurimiseks.^{57,139} Abiainete koostis erineb ühe toimeaine erinevate ravimpreparaatide vahel ja seega tuleb spetsiifilise ravimpreparaadi identifitseerimiseks registreerida andmed nii toimeaine kui ka raviminimetuse, ravimtootja, ravimvormi ja manustamisviisi kohta. Abiainete manustamise kvantitatiivseks hindamiseks on lisaks vaja koguda detailsed andmed ravimkorralduse (annus, manustamissagedus ja -kestus) ning patsiendi demograafiliste parameetrite kohta. Läbilõikeuuringuid võib teostada kahel viisil. Esiteks, osakonna tasemel küsimustiku vormis, mis hõlmaks võimalikult palju osakondi ja annaks ülevaate kasutatavatest ravimitest ja abiainetest. Teiseks, hetklevimusuuringu vormis, mis kirjeldaks individuaalset ekspositsiooni ja selle variatsioone. Siiski on vähe teada erinevate uuringu metoodikate mõjust uuringu tulemustele vastsündinutele abiainete manustamisel.

Uurimistöö eesmärgid

Projekti peamisteks eesmärkideks oli iseloomustada ravimites esinevate teadaolevate kõrvaltoimetega abiainete (edaspidi EOI, *excipients of interest*) kasutamise ulatust Euroopa vastsündinute osakondades, teha kindlaks nende manustamisega seotud riskifaktorid ning hinnata ravimite asendamise võimalusi vähendamaks vastsündinute ekspositsiooni nendele abiainetele.

Konkreetsed eesmärgid

- 1. Selgitada välja kahe erineva uuringu metoodika nõrgad ja tugevad küljed Euroopa vastsündinutele manustatavate ravimite/ abiainete uurimisel
- 2. Koostada andmebaas Euroopa vastsündinutel kasutatavatest ravimitest ja abiainetest
- 3. Kirjeldada EOI manustamist ja seda mõjutavaid tegureid Euroopa vastsündinutel, selgitamaks välja kõige suurema riskiga olukordi
- 4. Kirjeldada geograafilisi ja osakondade vahelisi variatsioone EOI manustamises
- 5. Välja selgitada sageli kasutatavate toimeainete EOI sisaldavate ravimpreparaatide asendamise võimalused Euroopa turul olemasolevate neid abiaineid mitte sisaldavate preparaatidega. Järgnevalt hinnata nende abiainete vastsündinutele manustamise vähenemist juhul, kui kõik ravimpreparaatide asendamisvõimalused oleksid rakendatud

Metoodika

Uuringu eesmärkide saavutamiseks viisime läbi järgmised uuringud:

- 1. Kolmepäevane uuring Euroopa vastsündinute osakondades (*service evaluation survey*, SES), mille käigus registreeriti 3 päeva jooksul kõik vastsündinutele manustatavad ravimid. Iga ravimi puhul koguti andmed ravimi tootja, kaubandusliku nime (*trade name*), toimeaine, toimeaine kontsentratsiooni, ravimvormi ja manustamisviisi kohta. Uuring viidi läbi 30.05.2011-30.09.2011.
- 2. Ühepäevane hetkelevimusuuring (*point prevalence study*, PPS) Euroopa vastsündinute osakondades, mille käigus veebipõhises keskkonnas regist-reeriti kõik vastsündinutele manustatavad ravimid koos patsiendi demo-graafiliste andmete (sünniaeg, sugu, APGARi hinne, gestatsioonivanus, sünnikaal, kaal uuringu päeval, organpuudulikkused) ning ravimi annustamise detailse informatsiooniga (ravimi tootja, kaubanduslik nimi, toimeaine, toimeaine kontsentratsioon, ravimvorm, manustamisviis, annus ja intervall, ravi algus). Uuring viidi läbi 01.01.2012-30.06.2012.

Uuringutes registreeriti kõik ravimid v.a. verekomponendid, glükoosi ja elektrolüütide lahused, vaktsiinid, piimasegud, rinnapiima rikastajad, taimsed preparaadid ja käsimüügis olevad toopilised preparaadid. Lisaks ravimiinfole kogusime uuritavatest vastsündinute osakondades info osakonna ja teeninduspiirkonna suuruse, osakonna struktuuri ja haigete arvu kohta.

Osalema kutsuti kõik Euroopa Liidu riigid, lisaks Šveits, Island, Norra ja Serbia. Osakondade uuringutesse kaasamise ja andmete registreerimisega tegelesid igas riigis kohalikud koordinaatorid. Uuringutesse kutsuti kõik vastsündinutega tegelevad osakonnad, kus vastsündinud moodustasid >50% osakonna patsientidest, andmed koguti vastsündinute kohta vanuses kuni 28 päeva (k.a.).

SES ja PPS uuringute andmete statistilisel töötlusel kasutasime nii kirjeldavat statistikat kui ühe- ja mitmemõõtmelist regressioonanalüüsi.

Ravimite ekspositsiooni võrdlesime SES uuringus osakonna ja PPS uuringus nii osakonna kui ka individuaalsel tasemel. Kahe uuringu võrdlusanalüüsis kasutasime mitmetasandilise regressioonanalüüsi (*multilevel mixed effects logistic regression models with crossed random effects*). Tulemused olid kohandatud geograafilisele regioonile (Põhja-, Lõuna-, Lääne- ja Ida regioonid)²⁰⁴ ja osakonna raviprofiili tasemele (esimene, teine ja kolmas etapp)^{201,202} kui potentsiaalselt segavatele teguritele, mis tehti kindlaks ettevalmistavas Poissoni populatsiooni regressioonanalüüsis, mis hõlmas 10 sagedamini kasutatavat toimeainet. Võimalust hinnata individuaalset ekspositsiooni läbi osakonna ekspositsiooni vaatasime kasutades polünomiaalset regressioonanalüüsi.

SES ja PPS uuringus kogutud ravimite abiainete koostise leidmiseks töötasime läbi vastavate riikide ravimiinfo materjalid ja ravimite veebipõhised andmebaasid. Kui nendes puudus infomatsioon vastava ravimi kohta, siis küsisime andmeid uuringus osalevatest haiglatest. Üksikutel juhtudel saime infomatsiooni abiainete kvantitatiivse koostise kohta nende tootjatelt. Edasine detailne analüüs hõlmas kaheksa EOI, mis valiti põhinedes olemasolevatele toksikoloogilistele andmetele. Siia kuulusid polüsorbaat 80, propüleenglükool ja etanool, mida valdavalt kasutatakse lahustuvuse parandamiseks; parabeenid, bensoaadid ja bensalkooniumkloriid, mida kasutatakse tänu nende antibakteriaalsetele omadustele, ning maitseparandajad naatriumsahhariin ja sorbitool.

Vastsündinutele manustatud EOI mahu ja individuaalse ekspositsiooni iseloomustamiseks kasutasime kirjeldavat statistikat ja ühemõõtmelist regressioonanalüüsi, et välja selgitada potentsiaalsed EOI manustamist mõjutavad tegurid. Erinevate faktorite mõju abiainete kasutusele uurisime kasutades nii lapsepõhiseid kui ka ravimkorraldustel põhinevaid binomiaalseid logistilisi segamudeleid, mis olid kohandatud järgmistele ühemõõtmelises regressioonanalüüsis kindlaks tehtud potentsiaalselt segavatele teguritele: geograafiline regioon, gestatsiooni vanus (<28 rasedusnädalat ehk erakordselt enneaegsed, 28 kuni <32 rasedusnädalat ehk väga enneaegsed, 32 kuni <37 rasedusnädalat ehk hilised enneagsed, >37 rasedusnädala ehk ajalised vastsündinud)²⁰⁵ ja haigla tüüp. Ravimkorraldustel põhinev mudel kohandati lisaks ATC ravimklassile ja manustamisviisile.

Ravimitele, mis sisaldasid EOI ja olid kasutusel rohkem kui 10% osakondadest, hindasime asendamisvõimaluse olemasolu analoogsete ravimpreparaatidega, mis ei sisalda ühtegi EOI. Asendamisvõimaluste olemasolu uurisime kolmes etapis. Esimeses etapis pidi asendamiseks kasutatav ravimpreparaat olema sama toimeaine ja manustamisviisiga, teises etapis lisaks sama ravimvormi ja kolmandas etapis ka sama toimeaine kontsentratsiooniga. Teises etapis loeti kõik parenteraalsed ravimvormid (nt. lahus süstimiseks, pulber süstelahuse valmistamiseks) vastastikku asendatavaks; enteraalsete ravimite puhul olid asenduseks sobivad kõik vedelad ravimvormid (nt. suukaudne lahus, suukaudne suspensioon).

Hindasime ravimpreparaatide asendamise potentsiaalset mõju (teise etapi kriteeriumite järgi) vastsündinute EOI ekspositsiooni mahule, kasutades lihtsat logistilist regressioonanalüüsi.

Peamised tulemused

Kokku osales SES uuringus 20 ja PPS uuringus 21 Euroopa riiki ning vastavalt 115 ja 89 vastsündinute osakonda. SES uuringus registreeriti 313 toimeainet, 1065 ravimpreparaati 332 tootjalt. PPS uuringus osales 1382 vastsündinut, kellest 726-le (52,5%) manustati 2199 ravimikorralduse alusel 562 ravimit. Ühtekokku hõlmas uuring 246 toimeainet. Oodatavalt kasutati enamust ravimitest parenteraalselt (58%). Suukaudsed ja toopilised manustatavad ravimid moodustasid vastavalt 30% ja 12%.

Võrreldes SES ja PPS uuringu metoodikat selgus kõrge omavaheline toimeainete kasutussageduste korrelatsioon kahe uuringu metoodika vahel osakonna tasemel ($R^2 = 0.8605$; y = 0.6019x - 0.0053). Toimeaine kasutuse tõenäosus oli SESis võrreldes PPSiga suurem (OR 2.36; 95% CI 2.05-2.73); seda mõjutas ravimi kasutamise sagedus ja kestvus, OR iga lisanduva kasutusprotsendi ja kasutamise lisapäeva kohta vastavalt 1.01 (95% CI 1.01–1.02) ja 1.02 (95% CI 1.00–1.05).

Polünomiaalses regressioonanalüüsis selgus igat toimeainet saavate laste ja seda kasutatavate osakondade osakaalude omavaheline kõrge korrelatsioon (R² = 0.93; $\sqrt{y} = 0.421x - 0.004x^2 + 0.485$).

Edasiselt uurisime detailsemalt abiainete kasutamist. Ühtekokku registreerisime kasutatavates ravimites 396 abiaine sisaldust. Vaid 12% manustatud ravimpreparaatidest ei sisaldanud abiaineid, nendest valdav enamus (95%) olid mõeldud parenteraalseks manustamiseks. Kõigist ravimitest 306 (31%) sisaldasid vähemalt ühte EOI ning enam kui üks EOI esines 173 (17%) ravimis. Ootuspäraselt sisaldasid parenteraalsed ravimid EOI harvem kui suukaudsed (OR 0.12; 95% CI 0.09–0.17) ja lokaalselt kasutatavad ravimid (OR 0.16; 95% CI 0.11–0.26). Kõige sagedamini kasutatavad EOI olid parabeenid (43% vastsündinutest eksponeeritud), mille järgnesid polüsorbaat 80 (19%) ja propüleenglükool (17%). Ravitud vastsündinutest 65% (456/726) said vähemalt ühte teadaolevate kõrvaltoimetega abiainet.

EOI kasutus oli seotud gestatsioonivanusega: parabeene, bensoaate ja etanooli kasutati ajalistel vastsündinutel (OR ja 95% CI vastavalt 0.5; 0.3–0.9; 0.3; 0.1–0.8 ja 0.3; 0.1–0.7) ja etanooli hilistel enneaegsetel (OR 0.3; 95% CI 0.1-0-9) erakordselt enneaegsetega võrreldes oluliselt vähem. Eelkõige oli see tingitud erinevate toimeainete kasutamisest erinevates gestatsioonigruppides, sest ravimkorralduste analüüsis, mis lisaks muudele faktoritele oli kohandatud ka ravimiklassile, ei olnud see mõju enam statistiliselt oluline. Seevastu, polüsorbaat 80 kasutati ajalistel ja hilistel enneaegsetel (OR ja 95% CI vastavalt 11.3; 3.9–32.1 ja 3.02; 1.1–8.5) ja propüleenglükooli ja sorbitooli ajalistel vastsündinutel (OR ja 95% CI vastavalt 7.7; 2.98–19.8 ja 6.9; 1.6–29.8) erakordselt enneaegsetega võrreldes oluliselt rohkem.

Mõnede abiainete kasutamises esinesid regionaalsed erinevused, mis jäid oluliseks ka võimalikele neid erinevusi põhjustavatele teguritele (gestatsioonivanus, toimeaine, manustamisviis) kohandatud mudelis. Võrreldes ida regiooniga kasutati polüsorbaat 80 vähem lõuna (OR 0.03; 95% CI 0.002–0.6) ning propüleenglükooli põhja regioonis (OR 0.02; 95% CI 0.004–0.1), parabeene kasutati rohkem põhja ja lõuna (OR ja 95% CI vastavalt 2.97; 1.2–7.1 ja 4.1; 1.6–10.6) ning naatriumsahhariini põhja, lõuna ja lääne piirkonnas (OR ja 95% CI vastavalt 32.7; 2.5–426.5; 101.3; 7.3–1403.6 ja 60.3; 4.2–861.6).

SESi andmebaasi alusel leidsime asendusvõimaluse analüüsi esimese, teise ja kolmanda etapi kriteeriumide järgi vastavalt 120/137 (88%; CI 81–92), 91/137 (66%; 95% CI 58–74) ja 42/137 (31%; 95% CI 24–39) ravimile. Teise etapi asenduse kriteeriumeid arvestades on võimalik vähendada parenteraalselt ja enteraalselt manustatavate EOI sisaldavate toimeainete arvu vastavalt 12lt ühele (92% vähenemine; 95% CI 65–99) ja 17lt üheksale (47% vähenemine; 95% CI 26–69).

Ainuüksi sageli kasutatavate ravimite asendamine vähendaks nende läbi EOI eksponeeritud vastsündinute arvu 85% (315-lt 46-le) ja kõigi EOI eksponeeritute arvu 44% võrra (456-lt 257-le). Kõikide EOI, v.a. etanooli, sorbitooli ja naatriumsahhariini manustamise tõenäosus vähenes asendusvõimaluste arvesse võtmisel statistiliselt oluliselt. Alprostadiil oli ainus parenteraalne toimeaine, mille ravimpreparaatide hulgas puudus etanoolivaba ravimvorm.

Järeldused

Antud uurimistöö käigus on koostatud unikaalne andmebaas Euroopa vastsündinutel kasutatavate ravimite kohta, mis võimaldab hinnata abiainete manustamise mahtu vastsündinutel, identifitseerida seotuid riske ja näidata võimalikke lahendusi vähendamaks vastsündinute ekspositsiooni teadaolevate kõrvaltoimetega abiainetele.

Uurimistöö konkreetsed järeldused:

- 1. SES metoodika oma lihtsama andmestruktuuriga võimaldab kaasata rohkem vastsündinutega tegelevaid osakondi ja annab ammendavama ülevaate vastsündinutel kasutatavate ravimite ja abiainete nimistust. PPS annab võimaluse kirjeldada vastsündinute individuaalset ekspositsiooni ja kindlaks teha selle võimalikud riskifaktorid Euroopa riikides. Kahe erineva metoodikaga kogutud tulemusi saab kasutada teineteist täiendavana. Metoodika valik konkreetse uuringu jaoks sõltub ennekõike püstitatud uuringuküsimusest. Üldise ravimikasutuse kirjeldamisel võiks eelistada SES metoodikat, mis võimaldab väiksema tööjõu ja ressursside kuluga saada ammendavama ülevaate; kogutud andmeid saab kasutada kaudseks individuaalse ekspositsiooni hindamiseks üldpopulatsioonis. Kui eesmärgiks on detailne demograafilisi parameetreid arvesse võttev ravimikasutuse analüüs, siis tuleks eelistada PPS metoodikat, mis võimaldab paremini iseloomustada ravimikasutusega seotud individuaalseid riskifaktoreid.
- 2. Euroopa vastsündinute osakondades on kasutusel üle tuhande erineva ravimpreparaadi, mille abiainete sisaldus varieerub ulatuslikult. Kolmandik ravimpreparaatidest sisaldas vähemalt ühte EOI. Suukaudsed ravimvormid sisaldasid kõiki uuritud EOI, v.a. bensalkooniumkloriidi, sagedamini kui parenteraalselt manustatavad. Eeltoodut tuleks arvesse võtta suukaudsete ravimvormide/ ravimpreparaatide määramisel vastsündinutele.
- 3. Peaaegu kahele kolmandikule vastsündinutest manustati vähemalt ühte teadaolevate kõrvaltoimetega abiainet. Gestatsioonivanusega seotud riski erinevused tulenesid peamiselt erinevate toimeainete ja ravimpreparaatide kasutamisest erinevates gestatsioonigruppides. Äärmiselt enneaegsetele manustati võrreldes ajaliste vastsündinutega enam antimikroobseid abiaineid

(parabeenid, bensoaat). Peamiseks põhjuseks on parenteraalsete antibiootikumide ja suukaudsete multivitamiinide laialdane kasutus selles grupis. Võttes arvesse erinevusi toimeainete kasutuses ja manustamisviisides, manustati ajalistele vastsündinutele sagedamini lahustite gruppi kuuluvaid abiaineid (polüsorbaat80, propüleenglükool) ja magusaineid (sorbitool). Nimetatud erinevus võib peegeldada mõningast teadlikku EOI kasutuse vältimist äärmiselt enneaegsetel vastsündinutel. Enamikul juhtudel manustati just sageli kasutatavate ravimite koostises EOI, seega võiks suhteliselt väikese arvu ravimite asendamine EOI-vabade ravimvormidega oluliselt vähendada vastsündinute ekspositsiooni nendele ainetele.

- 4. Kõikide uuritud abiainete klasside kasutuses esines regionaalseid erinevusi. Võrreldes ida regiooniga kasutati põhja ja lõuna piirkonnas parabeene suurema ning propüleenglükooli ja polüsorbaat 80 väiksema tõenäosusega. Magusainete kasutus oli ida regioonis kõikidest teistest piirkondadest madalam. Geograafiliste erinevuste olemasolu näitab, et mitte kõigis tänastes ravimites ei ole EOI olemasolu ilmselt hädavajalik. Lisaks viitab see ravimpreparaatide asendamisvõimalusele Euroopa turul juba olemasolevate ravimpreparatidega vältimaks EOI manustamist vastsündinutele.
- 5. Kaks kolmandikku sagedamini kasutatavatest EOI sisaldavatest ravimpreparaatidest oleks teoreetiliselt võimalik asendada EOI-vabade ravimvormidega. Selline asendamine Euroopa turul olemasolevate EOI-vabade ravimvormidega säästaks peaaegu pooled vastsündinud ebavajalikust ekspositsioonist. Ühtne Euroopa turg ravimite vaba liikumisega aitaks kaasa ravimite asendusvõimaluste kättesaadavuse parandamisele ja stimuleeriks uute ravimvormide välja töötamist, kus see osutub vajalikuks. Ravimasenduse võimaluste rakendamisega seotud tehniliste ja logistiliste küsimuste lahendamiseks on vaja kõikide osapoolte tihedat koostööd.

10. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was carried out in the Department of Microbiology, University of Tartu, and in Neonatal Unit, Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, Estonia.

The ESNEE project has been funded via the European Research Area-Network PRIOMEDCHILD program. Studies were supported by the Estonian Science Foundation from Estonia (Estonian Target Financing SF0180004s12; SARMB11016E), Medical Research Council from United Kingdom (grant G1100158), Agence Nationale de la Recherche from France.

This thesis was made possible by contributions from many great people whom I would like to extend my sincere gratitude. In particular, I would like to acknowledge the following persons:

Professor Irja Lutsar, my supervisor and true mentorship throughout the process, who provided me the opportunity to participate in large international project and work with talented researchers and many great people. I highly appreciate her constructive criticism, high goals, and her great support. I am very grateful to Prof. Lutsar for consistently allowing this thesis to be my own work, but steering me in the right direction whenever she thought I needed it.

Associate Professor Tuuli Metsvaht, my co-supervisor, for the continuous support throughout the study, for her patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. Her guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis.

Professor Raul-Allan Kiivet and associate professor Karin Kogermann for reviewing the thesis and giving effective feedback on the manuscript.

Inge Mesek for her invaluable help in searching for the excipient content of study medicines, probably the most time-consuming part of this study.

Karolin Toompere for her assistance with all statistical analyses.

Associate Professor Heili Varendi for her endless optimism and support in difficult moments.

Dr. Mark Turner for being the great leader of the ESNEE project.

Jana Lass for her positive attitude, sharing her experience and providing valuable suggestions.

My colleagues in the Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital and the Neonatal Unit for friendly and collegial support and flexibility, which enabled me to combine my research and clinical work.

All my dear friends for eternal friendship, involving me into the world beyond medicine and research and not letting me to detach from reality.

All colleagues from the ESNEE consortium for their collaboration, help during data collection and critical review of the papers: Mark A. Turner, Susan Graham, Jennifer Duncan, Anthony Nunn, Utpal Shah, Hussain Mulla, Hitesh Pandya, James McElnay, Jeff Millership, Shirish Yakkundi, Andre Rieutord, Thomas Storme, Pascal Vaconsin.

All national contact persons who provided lists of neonatal units and helped run the study in their own country: Bernhard Resch (Austria); Pieter De Cock (Belgium); Nelly Jekova (Bulgaria); Elisabeth Iyore (Denmark); Pascal Vaconsin (France); Kosmas Sarafidis (Greece); Aranka Vegso (Hungary); Noreen O'Callaghan (Ireland); Rocco Agostino (Italy); Daiga Kviluna (Latvia); Rasa Tameliene (Lithuania); Rene F. Kornelisse (Netherlands); Dag Bratlid (Norway); Almerinda Pereira (Portugal); Maria Livia Ognean (Romania); Milica Bajcetic (Serbia); Darja Paro (Slovenia); Elizabeth Valls (Spain); Per Nydert (Sweden); Hans Ulrich Bucher (Switzerland); Maria Cordina (Malta). We also thank local pharmacists for providing data on excipient content: Caroline Fonzo-Christe (Switzerland); Domenico Tarantino (Italy); Velina Grigorova (Bulgaria); Milica Bajcetic (Serbia); Elizabeth Valss (Spain); Claudine Milstein (France); Jennifer Duncan (England); Sabina Zalar (Slovenia); Per Gustaf Hartvig Honoré (Denmark).

Local pharmacists for providing data on excipient content: Caroline Fonzo-Christe (Switzerland); Domenico Tarantino (Italy); Velina Grigorova (Bulgaria); Claudine Milstein (France); Jennifer Duncan (England); Sabina Zalar (Slovenia); Per Gustaf Hartvig Honoré (Denmark).

My greatest gratitude goes to the members of my family for their continuous support, encouragement, help, understanding, and patients during all these years. I owe my loving thanks to my dear Anna for sharing the ups and downs of this journey with me, and our dear child Alexandra for supporting me spiritually throughout writing this thesis and my life in general.
PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Georgi Nellis
Date of birth:	21.08.1982
Citizenship:	Estonian
Address:	Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, N. Lunini 6,
	Tartu, 51014, Estonia
Phone:	+372 731 9933
E-mail:	georgi.nellis@kliinikum.ee

Education:

2011–2017	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, PhD studies
2007–2011	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, residency in pae- diatrics
2000–2007	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, MD degree
1990–2000	Tallinn Tynismae Science School

Professional employment:

2011-	Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, Neonatal unit, paediatrician
2007–2011	Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, residency in paediatrics
2010–2012	East-Viru Central Hospital, Internal Medicine Clinic, Pae- diatric unit paediatrician
2005–2007	Haematology and Oncology Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, Department of Haematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation, practical nurse

Scientific work and professional organisations:

Research fields: medicines and excipients use in neonates, administration of potentially harmful excipients to neonates Membership: Estonian Paediatric Association Estonian Junior Doctors Association Estonian Medical Association

List of publications:

- S. Yakkundi, J. McElnay, J. Millership, H. Mulla, H. Pandya, U. Shah, A. Nunn, A. Rieutord, T. Storme, P. Vasconsin, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, M. Turner. Use of dried blood spots to study excipient kinetics in neonates. Bioanalysis 2011, 3(24), 2691–2693.
- G. Nellis, H. Varendi, T. Metsvaht, I. Lutsar. Medicines used for neonates in Europe – the survey of the European study of neonatal exposure to excipients (ESNEE). Journal of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine 2012: 20th European Workshop on Neonatology. IOS Press, 2012, (5; 2), 199.

- G. Nellis, H. Varendi, J. Lass, I. Lutsar, T. Metsvaht. Antibiotic prescribing in European neonatal intensive care units: service evaluation study of the European study of neonatal exposure to excipients. Eesti Arst 2012, (91), 11.
- G. Nellis, H. Varendi, J. Lass, I. Lutsar, T. Metsvaht. Potentially Harmful Excipients in Antibiotics Prescribed to European Neonates – ESNEE Survey. Acta Médica Portuguesa 2012, (25; 2), 141.
- H. Varendi, G. Nellis, T. Metsvaht, J. Lass, I. Lutsar. European Study of the Neonatal Exposure to Excipients: Results of the Survey, Enterally Administered Products. Acta Médica Portuguesa, 2012, (25; S2), 141–142.
- M. Turner, J. Duncan, U. Shah, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, S. Yakkundi, J. McElnay, H. Pandya, H. Mulla, P. Vaconsin, T. Storme, A. Rieutord, A. Nunn. Risk assessment of neonatal excipient exposure: Lessons from food safety and other areas. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014; 73C:89–101
- M. Turner, J. Duncan, U. Shah, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, P. Vaconsin, T. Storme, A. Rieutord, A. Nunn. European Study of Neonatal Exposure to Excipients: an update. Int J Pharm. 2013 Nov 30;457(1):357–8
- G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, H. Varendi, K. Toompere, M. Turner, J. Duncan, T. Metsvaht. Comparison of two alternative study designs in assessment of medicines utilisation in neonates. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014 Jul 16;14(1): 89–94
- H. Mulla, S. Yakkundi, J. McElnay, I. Lutsar, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, A. Nunn, J. Duncan, H. Pandya, M. Turner. An observational study of blood concentrations and kinetics of methyl- and propyl-parabens in neonates. Pharmaceutical research, 2015 Mar; 32(3):1084–93.
- G. Nellis, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, K. Toompere, J. Lass, I. Mesek, A. Nunn, M. Turner, I. Lutsar. Potentially harmful excipients in neonatal medicines: a pan-European observational study. Arch Dis Child. 2015 Jul;100(7):694–9
- T. Metsvaht, G. Nellis, H. Varendi, A. Nunn, S. Graham, A. Rieutord, T. Storme, J. McElnay, H. Mulla, M. Turner, I. Lutsar. High variability in the dosing of commonly used antibiotics revealed by a Europewide point prevalence study: implications for research and dissemination. BMC Pediatrics, 2015; 15(41), 1–10.
- G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, H. Varendi, M. Turner, T. Metsvaht. Potentially harmful excipients in medicines prescribed in neonatal intensive care units (NICUs) product substitution as a way forward. J Pediatr Neonat Individual Med. 2015;4(2):e040212
- G. Nellis, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, J. Lass, J. Duncan, A. Nunn, M. Turner, I. Lutsar. Product substitution as a way forward in avoiding potentially harmful excipients in neonates. Pediatr. Drugs. 2016; 18(3):221–230

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Georgi Nellis
Sünniaeg:	21.08.1982
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Aadress:	SA Tartu Ülikooli Kliinikum, Lastekliinik, N. Lunini 6, Tartu,
	51014, Eesti
Telefon:	+372 731 9933
E-post:	georgi.nellis@kliinikum.ee

Hariduskäik:

2011-2017	Tartu Ülikool, Arstiteaduskond, doktoriõpe
2007-2011	Tartu Ülikool, Arstiteaduskond, lastehaiguste residentuur
2000–2007	Tartu Ülikool, Arstiteaduskond, arstiõpe
1990–2000	Tallinna Tõnismäe Reaalkool

Teenistuskäik:

2011-	SA TÜK Lastekliinik, Neonatoloogia osakond, arst-õppejõud
2007-2011	SA TÜK Lastekliinik, arst-resident
2010-2012	SA Ida-Viru Keskhaigla, Sisekliinik, Lasteosakond, valvearst
2005-2007	SA TÜK Hematoloogia-Onkoloogia Kliinik, Hematoloogia ja
	luuüdi transplantatsiooni osakond, abiõde

Teadus- ja erialane tegevus:

Valdkonnad:	vastsündinu	haigused,	vastsündinutel	kasutatavad	ravimid ja
	nende koosti	ises olevad	abiained		

Kuuluvus erialaseltsidesse:

Eesti Lastearstide Selts Eesti Nooremarstide Selts Eesti Arstide Liit

Publikatsioonide loetelu:

- S. Yakkundi, J. McElnay, J. Millership, H. Mulla, H. Pandya, U. Shah, A. Nunn, A. Rieutord, T. Storme, P. Vasconsin, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, M. Turner. Use of dried blood spots to study excipient kinetics in neonates. Bioanalysis 2011, 3(24), 2691–2693.
- G. Nellis, H. Varendi, T. Metsvaht, I. Lutsar. Medicines used for neonates in Europe the survey of the European study of neonatal exposure to excipients (ESNEE). Journal of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine 2012: 20th European Workshop on Neonatology. IOS Press, 2012, (5; 2), 199.
- G. Nellis, H. Varendi, J. Lass, I. Lutsar, T. Metsvaht. Antibiotic prescribing in European neonatal intensive care units: service evaluation study of the European study of neonatal exposure to excipients. Eesti Arst 2012, (91), 11.

- G. Nellis, H. Varendi, J. Lass, I. Lutsar, T. Metsvaht. Potentially Harmful Excipients in Antibiotics Prescribed to European Neonates ESNEE Survey. Acta Médica Portuguesa 2012, (25; 2), 141.
- H. Varendi, G. Nellis, T. Metsvaht, J. Lass, I. Lutsar. European Study of the Neonatal Exposure to Excipients: Results of the Survey, Enterally Administered Products. Acta Médica Portuguesa, 2012, (25; S2), 141–142.
- M. Turner, J. Duncan, U. Shah, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, S. Yakkundi, J. McElnay, H. Pandya, H. Mulla, P. Vaconsin, T. Storme, A. Rieutord, A. Nunn. Risk assessment of neonatal excipient exposure: Lessons from food safety and other areas. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014; 73C:89–101
- M. Turner, J. Duncan, U. Shah, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, P. Vaconsin, T. Storme, A. Rieutord, A. Nunn. European Study of Neonatal Exposure to Excipients: an update. Int J Pharm. 2013 Nov 30;457(1):357–8
- G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, H. Varendi, K. Toompere, M. Turner, J. Duncan, T. Metsvaht. Comparison of two alternative study designs in assessment of medicines utilisation in neonates. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014 Jul 16;14(1): 89–94
- H. Mulla, S. Yakkundi, J. McElnay, I. Lutsar, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, G. Nellis, A. Nunn, J. Duncan, H. Pandya, M. Turner. An observational study of blood concentrations and kinetics of methyl- and propyl-parabens in neonates. Pharmaceutical research, 2015 Mar; 32(3):1084–93.
- G. Nellis, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, K. Toompere, J. Lass, I. Mesek, A. Nunn, M. Turner, I. Lutsar. Potentially harmful excipients in neonatal medicines: a pan-European observational study. Arch Dis Child. 2015 Jul;100(7):694–9
- T. Metsvaht, G. Nellis, H. Varendi, A. Nunn, S. Graham, A. Rieutord, T. Storme, J. McElnay, H. Mulla, M. Turner, I. Lutsar. High variability in the dosing of commonly used antibiotics revealed by a Europewide point prevalence study: implications for research and dissemination. BMC Pediatrics, 2015; 15(41), 1–10.
- G. Nellis, I. Lutsar, H. Varendi, M. Turner, T. Metsvaht. Potentially harmful excipients in medicines prescribed in neonatal intensive care units (NICUs) product substitution as a way forward. J Pediatr Neonat Individual Med. 2015;4(2):e040212
- G. Nellis, T. Metsvaht, H. Varendi, J. Lass, J. Duncan, A. Nunn, M. Turner, I. Lutsar. Product substitution as a way forward in avoiding potentially harmful excipients in neonates. Pediatr. Drugs. 2016; 18(3):221–230

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Heidi-Ingrid Maaroos**. The natural course of gastric ulcer in connection with chronic gastritis and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1991.
- 2. **Mihkel Zilmer**. Na-pump in normal and tumorous brain tissues: Structural, functional and tumorigenesis aspects. Tartu, 1991.
- 3. **Eero Vasar**. Role of cholecystokinin receptors in the regulation of behaviour and in the action of haloperidol and diazepam. Tartu, 1992.
- 4. **Tiina Talvik**. Hypoxic-ischaemic brain damage in neonates (clinical, biochemical and brain computed tomographical investigation). Tartu, 1992.
- 5. Ants Peetsalu. Vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: A study of gastric acidity, serum pepsinogen I, gastric mucosal histology and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1992.
- 6. **Marika Mikelsaar**. Evaluation of the gastrointestinal microbial ecosystem in health and disease. Tartu, 1992.
- 7. Hele Everaus. Immuno-hormonal interactions in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and multiple myeloma. Tartu, 1993.
- 8. **Ruth Mikelsaar**. Etiological factors of diseases in genetically consulted children and newborn screening: dissertation for the commencement of the degree of doctor of medical sciences. Tartu, 1993.
- 9. Agu Tamm. On metabolic action of intestinal microflora: clinical aspects. Tartu, 1993.
- 10. Katrin Gross. Multiple sclerosis in South-Estonia (epidemiological and computed tomographical investigations). Tartu, 1993.
- 11. **Oivi Uibo**. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia: occurrence, screening, diagnosis and clinical characterization. Tartu, 1994.
- 12. Viiu Tuulik. The functional disorders of central nervous system of chemistry workers. Tartu, 1994.
- 13. **Margus Viigimaa**. Primary haemostasis, antiaggregative and anticoagulant treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Tartu, 1994.
- 14. **Rein Kolk**. Atrial versus ventricular pacing in patients with sick sinus syndrome. Tartu, 1994.
- 15. **Toomas Podar**. Incidence of childhood onset type 1 diabetes mellitus in Estonia. Tartu, 1994.
- 16. **Kiira Subi**. The laboratory surveillance of the acute respiratory viral infections in Estonia. Tartu, 1995.
- 17. **Irja Lutsar**. Infections of the central nervous system in children (epidemiologic, diagnostic and therapeutic aspects, long term outcome). Tartu, 1995.
- 18. **Aavo Lang**. The role of dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine, sigma and NMDA receptors in the action of antipsychotic drugs. Tartu, 1995.
- 19. Andrus Arak. Factors influencing the survival of patients after radical surgery for gastric cancer. Tartu, 1996.

- 20. **Tõnis Karki**. Quantitative composition of the human lactoflora and method for its examination. Tartu, 1996.
- 21. **Reet Mändar**. Vaginal microflora during pregnancy and its transmission to newborn. Tartu, 1996.
- 22. **Triin Remmel**. Primary biliary cirrhosis in Estonia: epidemiology, clinical characterization and prognostication of the course of the disease. Tartu, 1996.
- 23. **Toomas Kivastik**. Mechanisms of drug addiction: focus on positive reinforcing properties of morphine. Tartu, 1996.
- 24. **Paavo Pokk**. Stress due to sleep deprivation: focus on GABA_A receptorchloride ionophore complex. Tartu, 1996.
- 25. **Kristina Allikmets**. Renin system activity in essential hypertension. Associations with atherothrombogenic cardiovascular risk factors and with the efficacy of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 26. **Triin Parik**. Oxidative stress in essential hypertension: Associations with metabolic disturbances and the effects of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 27. Svetlana Päi. Factors promoting heterogeneity of the course of rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 1997.
- 28. **Maarike Sallo**. Studies on habitual physical activity and aerobic fitness in 4 to 10 years old children. Tartu, 1997.
- 29. Paul Naaber. *Clostridium difficile* infection and intestinal microbial ecology. Tartu, 1997.
- 30. Rein Pähkla. Studies in pinoline pharmacology. Tartu, 1997.
- 31. Andrus Juhan Voitk. Outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Tartu, 1997.
- 32. Joel Starkopf. Oxidative stress and ischaemia-reperfusion of the heart. Tartu, 1997.
- 33. Janika Kõrv. Incidence, case-fatality and outcome of stroke. Tartu, 1998.
- 34. Ülla Linnamägi. Changes in local cerebral blood flow and lipid peroxidation following lead exposure in experiment. Tartu, 1998.
- 35. Ave Minajeva. Sarcoplasmic reticulum function: comparison of atrial and ventricular myocardium. Tartu, 1998.
- 36. **Oleg Milenin**. Reconstruction of cervical part of esophagus by revascularised ileal autografts in dogs. A new complex multistage method. Tartu, 1998.
- 37. Sergei Pakriev. Prevalence of depression, harmful use of alcohol and alcohol dependence among rural population in Udmurtia. Tartu, 1998.
- 38. Allen Kaasik. Thyroid hormone control over β-adrenergic signalling system in rat atria. Tartu, 1998.
- 39. Vallo Matto. Pharmacological studies on anxiogenic and antiaggressive properties of antidepressants. Tartu, 1998.
- 40. **Maire Vasar**. Allergic diseases and bronchial hyperreactivity in Estonian children in relation to environmental influences. Tartu, 1998.
- 41. **Kaja Julge**. Humoral immune responses to allergens in early childhood. Tartu, 1998.

- 42. **Heli Grünberg**. The cardiovascular risk of Estonian schoolchildren. A cross-sectional study of 9-, 12- and 15-year-old children. Tartu, 1998.
- 43. **Epp Sepp**. Formation of intestinal microbial ecosystem in children. Tartu, 1998.
- 44. **Mai Ots**. Characteristics of the progression of human and experimental glomerulopathies. Tartu, 1998.
- 45. Tiina Ristimäe. Heart rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease. Tartu, 1998.
- 46. Leho Kõiv. Reaction of the sympatho-adrenal and hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical system in the acute stage of head injury. Tartu, 1998.
- 47. Bela Adojaan. Immune and genetic factors of childhood onset IDDM in Estonia. An epidemiological study. Tartu, 1999.
- 48. Jakov Shlik. Psychophysiological effects of cholecystokinin in humans. Tartu, 1999.
- 49. **Kai Kisand**. Autoantibodies against dehydrogenases of α-ketoacids. Tartu, 1999.
- 50. Toomas Marandi. Drug treatment of depression in Estonia. Tartu, 1999.
- 51. Ants Kask. Behavioural studies on neuropeptide Y. Tartu, 1999.
- 52. Ello-Rahel Karelson. Modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in the rat hippocampus by neuropeptide galanin and its chimeric analogs. Tartu, 1999.
- 53. **Tanel Laisaar**. Treatment of pleural empyema special reference to intrapleural therapy with streptokinase and surgical treatment modalities. Tartu, 1999.
- 54. Eve Pihl. Cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged former athletes. Tartu, 1999.
- 55. **Katrin Õunap**. Phenylketonuria in Estonia: incidence, newborn screening, diagnosis, clinical characterization and genotype/phenotype correlation. Tartu, 1999.
- 56. Siiri Kõljalg. Acinetobacter an important nosocomial pathogen. Tartu, 1999.
- 57. Helle Karro. Reproductive health and pregnancy outcome in Estonia: association with different factors. Tartu, 1999.
- 58. **Heili Varendi**. Behavioral effects observed in human newborns during exposure to naturally occurring odors. Tartu, 1999.
- 59. Anneli Beilmann. Epidemiology of epilepsy in children and adolescents in Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, and clinical characteristics. Tartu, 1999.
- 60. Vallo Volke. Pharmacological and biochemical studies on nitric oxide in the regulation of behaviour. Tartu, 1999.
- 61. **Pilvi Ilves**. Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy in asphyxiated term infants. A prospective clinical, biochemical, ultrasonographical study. Tartu, 1999.
- 62. Anti Kalda. Oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced neuronal death and its pharmacological prevention in cerebellar granule cells. Tartu, 1999.
- 63. Eve-Irene Lepist. Oral peptide prodrugs studies on stability and absorption. Tartu, 2000.

- 64. **Jana Kivastik**. Lung function in Estonian schoolchildren: relationship with anthropometric indices and respiratory symptomas, reference values for dynamic spirometry. Tartu, 2000.
- 65. **Karin Kull**. Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunogenetic study. Tartu, 2000.
- 66. Kaire Innos. Epidemiological resources in Estonia: data sources, their quality and feasibility of cohort studies. Tartu, 2000.
- 67. **Tamara Vorobjova**. Immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* and its association with dynamics of chronic gastritis and epithelial cell turnover in antrum and corpus. Tartu, 2001.
- 68. **Ruth Kalda**. Structure and outcome of family practice quality in the changing health care system of Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 69. Annika Krüüner. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* spread and drug resistance in Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 70. **Marlit Veldi**. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Computerized Endopharyngeal Myotonometry of the Soft Palate and Lingual Musculature. Tartu, 2001.
- 71. Anneli Uusküla. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases in Estonia in 1990–2000. Tartu, 2001.
- 72. Ade Kallas. Characterization of antibodies to coagulation factor VIII. Tartu, 2002.
- 73. **Heidi Annuk**. Selection of medicinal plants and intestinal lactobacilli as antimicrobil components for functional foods. Tartu, 2002.
- 74. Aet Lukmann. Early rehabilitation of patients with ischaemic heart disease after surgical revascularization of the myocardium: assessment of health-related quality of life, cardiopulmonary reserve and oxidative stress. A clinical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 75. **Maigi Eisen**. Pathogenesis of Contact Dermatitis: participation of Oxidative Stress. A clinical – biochemical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 76. **Piret Hussar**. Histology of the post-traumatic bone repair in rats. Elaboration and use of a new standardized experimental model bicortical perforation of tibia compared to internal fracture and resection osteotomy. Tartu, 2002.
- 77. **Tõnu Rätsep**. Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral haemodynamics. Tartu, 2002.
- 78. **Marju Herodes**. Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 79. **Katre Maasalu**. Changes in bone quality due to age and genetic disorders and their clinical expressions in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 80. **Toomas Sillakivi**. Perforated peptic ulcer in Estonia: epidemiology, risk factors and relations with *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 2003.
- 81. Leena Puksa. Late responses in motor nerve conduction studies. F and A waves in normal subjects and patients with neuropathies. Tartu, 2003.
- 82. Krista Lõivukene. *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric microbial ecology and its antimicrobial susceptibility pattern. Tartu, 2003.

- 83. **Helgi Kolk**. Dyspepsia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the diagnostic value of symptoms, treatment and follow-up of patients referred for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy by family physicians. Tartu, 2003.
- 84. **Helena Soomer**. Validation of identification and age estimation methods in forensic odontology. Tartu, 2003.
- 85. **Kersti Oselin**. Studies on the human MDR1, MRP1, and MRP2 ABC transporters: functional relevance of the genetic polymorphisms in the *MDR1* and *MRP1* gene. Tartu, 2003.
- 86. Jaan Soplepmann. Peptic ulcer haemorrhage in Estonia: epidemiology, prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. Tartu, 2003.
- 87. **Margot Peetsalu**. Long-term follow-up after vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: recurrent ulcer, changes in the function, morphology and *Helicobacter pylori* colonisation of the gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2003.
- 88. Kersti Klaamas. Humoral immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* a study of host-dependent and microbial factors. Tartu, 2003.
- 89. **Pille Taba**. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease in Tartu, Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, clinical characteristics, and pharmacoepidemiology. Tartu, 2003.
- 90. Alar Veraksitš. Characterization of behavioural and biochemical phenotype of cholecystokinin-2 receptor deficient mice: changes in the function of the dopamine and endopioidergic system. Tartu, 2003.
- 91. **Ingrid Kalev**. CC-chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene polymorphism in Estonians and in patients with Type I and Type II diabetes mellitus. Tartu, 2003.
- 92. Lumme Kadaja. Molecular approach to the regulation of mitochondrial function in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2003.
- 93. Aive Liigant. Epidemiology of primary central nervous system tumours in Estonia from 1986 to 1996. Clinical characteristics, incidence, survival and prognostic factors. Tartu, 2004.
- 94. Andres, Kulla. Molecular characteristics of mesenchymal stroma in human astrocytic gliomas. Tartu, 2004.
- 95. Mari Järvelaid. Health damaging risk behaviours in adolescence. Tartu, 2004.
- 96. Ülle Pechter. Progression prevention strategies in chronic renal failure and hypertension. An experimental and clinical study. Tartu, 2004.
- 97. **Gunnar Tasa**. Polymorphic glutathione S-transferases biology and role in modifying genetic susceptibility to senile cataract and primary open angle glaucoma. Tartu, 2004.
- 98. **Tuuli Käämbre**. Intracellular energetic unit: structural and functional aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 99. Vitali Vassiljev. Influence of nitric oxide syntase inhibitors on the effects of ethanol after acute and chronic ethanol administration and withdrawal. Tartu, 2004.

- 100. Aune Rehema. Assessment of nonhaem ferrous iron and glutathione redox ratio as markers of pathogeneticity of oxidative stress in different clinical groups. Tartu, 2004.
- 101. **Evelin Seppet**. Interaction of mitochondria and ATPases in oxidative muscle cells in normal and pathological conditions. Tartu, 2004.
- 102. Eduard Maron. Serotonin function in panic disorder: from clinical experiments to brain imaging and genetics. Tartu, 2004.
- 103. Marje Oona. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children: epidemiological and therapeutic aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 104. Kersti Kokk. Regulation of active and passive molecular transport in the testis. Tartu, 2005.
- 105. Vladimir Järv. Cross-sectional imaging for pretreatment evaluation and follow-up of pelvic malignant tumours. Tartu, 2005.
- 106. Andre Õun. Epidemiology of adult epilepsy in Tartu, Estonia. Incidence, prevalence and medical treatment. Tartu, 2005.
- 107. **Piibe Muda**. Homocysteine and hypertension: associations between homocysteine and essential hypertension in treated and untreated hypertensive patients with and without coronary artery disease. Tartu, 2005.
- 108. **Külli Kingo**. The interleukin-10 family cytokines gene polymorphisms in plaque psoriasis. Tartu, 2005.
- 109. **Mati Merila**. Anatomy and clinical relevance of the glenohumeral joint capsule and ligaments. Tartu, 2005.
- 110. **Epp Songisepp**. Evaluation of technological and functional properties of the new probiotic *Lactobacillus fermentum* ME-3. Tartu, 2005.
- 111. Tiia Ainla. Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia: clinical characteristics, management and outcome. Tartu, 2005.
- 112. Andres Sell. Determining the minimum local anaesthetic requirements for hip replacement surgery under spinal anaesthesia a study employing a spinal catheter. Tartu, 2005.
- 113. **Tiia Tamme**. Epidemiology of odontogenic tumours in Estonia. Pathogenesis and clinical behaviour of ameloblastoma. Tartu, 2005.
- 114. **Triine Annus**. Allergy in Estonian schoolchildren: time trends and characteristics. Tartu, 2005.
- 115. **Tiia Voor**. Microorganisms in infancy and development of allergy: comparison of Estonian and Swedish children. Tartu, 2005.
- 116. **Priit Kasenõmm**. Indicators for tonsillectomy in adults with recurrent tonsillitis clinical, microbiological and pathomorphological investigations. Tartu, 2005.
- 117. **Eva Zusinaite**. Hepatitis C virus: genotype identification and interactions between viral proteases. Tartu, 2005.
- 118. **Piret Kõll**. Oral lactoflora in chronic periodontitis and periodontal health. Tartu, 2006.
- 119. **Tiina Stelmach**. Epidemiology of cerebral palsy and unfavourable neurodevelopmental outcome in child population of Tartu city and county, Estonia Prevalence, clinical features and risk factors. Tartu, 2006.

- 120. **Katrin Pudersell**. Tropane alkaloid production and riboflavine excretion in the field and tissue cultures of henbane (*Hyoscyamus niger* L.). Tartu, 2006.
- 121. **Külli Jaako**. Studies on the role of neurogenesis in brain plasticity. Tartu, 2006.
- 122. Aare Märtson. Lower limb lengthening: experimental studies of bone regeneration and long-term clinical results. Tartu, 2006.
- 123. Heli Tähepõld. Patient consultation in family medicine. Tartu, 2006.
- 124. **Stanislav Liskmann**. Peri-implant disease: pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment in view of both inflammation and oxidative stress profiling. Tartu, 2006.
- 125. **Ruth Rudissaar**. Neuropharmacology of atypical antipsychotics and an animal model of psychosis. Tartu, 2006.
- 126. **Helena Andreson**. Diversity of *Helicobacter pylori* genotypes in Estonian patients with chronic inflammatory gastric diseases. Tartu, 2006.
- 127. **Katrin Pruus**. Mechanism of action of antidepressants: aspects of serotoninergic system and its interaction with glutamate. Tartu, 2006.
- 128. **Priit Põder**. Clinical and experimental investigation: relationship of ischaemia/reperfusion injury with oxidative stress in abdominal aortic aneurysm repair and in extracranial brain artery endarterectomy and possibilities of protection against ischaemia using a glutathione analogue in a rat model of global brain ischaemia. Tartu, 2006.
- 129. Marika Tammaru. Patient-reported outcome measurement in rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2006.
- 130. Tiia Reimand. Down syndrome in Estonia. Tartu, 2006.
- 131. **Diva Eensoo**. Risk-taking in traffic and Markers of Risk-Taking Behaviour in Schoolchildren and Car Drivers. Tartu, 2007.
- 132. **Riina Vibo**. The third stroke registry in Tartu, Estonia from 2001 to 2003: incidence, case-fatality, risk factors and long-term outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 133. Chris Pruunsild. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 134. Eve Õiglane-Šlik. Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 135. Kadri Haller. Antibodies to follicle stimulating hormone. Significance in female infertility. Tartu, 2007.
- 136. Pille Ööpik. Management of depression in family medicine. Tartu, 2007.
- 137. Jaak Kals. Endothelial function and arterial stiffness in patients with atherosclerosis and in healthy subjects. Tartu, 2007.
- 138. **Priit Kampus**. Impact of inflammation, oxidative stress and age on arterial stiffness and carotid artery intima-media thickness. Tartu, 2007.
- 139. Margus Punab. Male fertility and its risk factors in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 140. Alar Toom. Heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty: clinical and pathogenetic investigation. Tartu, 2007.

- 141. Lea Pehme. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in Estonia 1991–2003 with special regard to extrapulmonary tuberculosis and delay in diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Tartu, 2007.
- 142. Juri Karjagin. The pharmacokinetics of metronidazole and meropenem in septic shock. Tartu, 2007.
- 143. **Inga Talvik**. Inflicted traumatic brain injury shaken baby syndrome in Estonia epidemiology and outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 144. **Tarvo Rajasalu**. Autoimmune diabetes: an immunological study of type 1 diabetes in humans and in a model of experimental diabetes (in RIP-B7.1 mice). Tartu, 2007.
- 145. **Inga Karu**. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury of the heart during coronary surgery: a clinical study investigating the effect of hyperoxia. Tartu, 2007.
- 146. **Peeter Padrik**. Renal cell carcinoma: Changes in natural history and treatment of metastatic disease. Tartu, 2007.
- 147. Neve Vendt. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in infants aged 9 to 12 months in Estonia. Tartu, 2008.
- 148. Lenne-Triin Heidmets. The effects of neurotoxins on brain plasticity: focus on neural Cell Adhesion Molecule. Tartu, 2008.
- 149. **Paul Korrovits**. Asymptomatic inflammatory prostatitis: prevalence, etiological factors, diagnostic tools. Tartu, 2008.
- 150. **Annika Reintam**. Gastrointestinal failure in intensive care patients. Tartu, 2008.
- 151. **Kristiina Roots**. Cationic regulation of Na-pump in the normal, Alzheimer's and CCK₂ receptor-deficient brain. Tartu, 2008.
- 152. **Helen Puusepp**. The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia: fragile X syndrome and creatine transporter defect. Tartu, 2009.
- 153. **Kristiina Rull**. Human chorionic gonadotropin beta genes and recurrent miscarriage: expression and variation study. Tartu, 2009.
- 154. **Margus Eimre**. Organization of energy transfer and feedback regulation in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2009.
- 155. **Maire Link**. Transcription factors FoxP3 and AIRE: autoantibody associations. Tartu, 2009.
- 156. Kai Haldre. Sexual health and behaviour of young women in Estonia. Tartu, 2009.
- 157. **Kaur Liivak**. Classical form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency in Estonia: incidence, genotype and phenotype with special attention to short-term growth and 24-hour blood pressure. Tartu, 2009.
- 158. Kersti Ehrlich. Antioxidative glutathione analogues (UPF peptides) molecular design, structure-activity relationships and testing the protective properties. Tartu, 2009.
- 159. Anneli Rätsep. Type 2 diabetes care in family medicine. Tartu, 2009.
- 160. **Silver Türk**. Etiopathogenetic aspects of chronic prostatitis: role of mycoplasmas, coryneform bacteria and oxidative stress. Tartu, 2009.

- 161. **Kaire Heilman**. Risk markers for cardiovascular disease and low bone mineral density in children with type 1 diabetes. Tartu, 2009.
- 162. **Kristi Rüütel**. HIV-epidemic in Estonia: injecting drug use and quality of life of people living with HIV. Tartu, 2009.
- 163. **Triin Eller**. Immune markers in major depression and in antidepressive treatment. Tartu, 2009.
- 164. **Siim Suutre**. The role of TGF- β isoforms and osteoprogenitor cells in the pathogenesis of heterotopic ossification. An experimental and clinical study of hip arthroplasty. Tartu, 2010.
- 165. **Kai Kliiman**. Highly drug-resistant tuberculosis in Estonia: Risk factors and predictors of poor treatment outcome. Tartu, 2010.
- 166. **Inga Villa**. Cardiovascular health-related nutrition, physical activity and fitness in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 167. **Tõnis Org**. Molecular function of the first PHD finger domain of Autoimmune Regulator protein. Tartu, 2010.
- 168. **Tuuli Metsvaht**. Optimal antibacterial therapy of neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2010.
- 169. Jaanus Kahu. Kidney transplantation: Studies on donor risk factors and mycophenolate mofetil. Tartu, 2010.
- 170. Koit Reimand. Autoimmunity in reproductive failure: A study on associated autoantibodies and autoantigens. Tartu, 2010.
- 171. **Mart Kull**. Impact of vitamin D and hypolactasia on bone mineral density: a population based study in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 172. **Rael Laugesaar**. Stroke in children epidemiology and risk factors. Tartu, 2010.
- 173. **Mark Braschinsky**. Epidemiology and quality of life issues of hereditary spastic paraplegia in Estonia and implemention of genetic analysis in everyday neurologic practice. Tartu, 2010.
- 174. **Kadri Suija**. Major depression in family medicine: associated factors, recurrence and possible intervention. Tartu, 2010.
- 175. **Jarno Habicht**. Health care utilisation in Estonia: socioeconomic determinants and financial burden of out-of-pocket payments. Tartu, 2010.
- 176. **Kristi Abram**. The prevalence and risk factors of rosacea. Subjective disease perception of rosacea patients. Tartu, 2010.
- 177. **Malle Kuum**. Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum cation fluxes: Novel roles in cellular physiology. Tartu, 2010.
- 178. **Rita Teek**. The genetic causes of early onset hearing loss in Estonian children. Tartu, 2010.
- 179. **Daisy Volmer**. The development of community pharmacy services in Estonia public and professional perceptions 1993–2006. Tartu, 2010.
- 180. Jelena Lissitsina. Cytogenetic causes in male infertility. Tartu, 2011.
- 181. **Delia Lepik**. Comparison of gunshot injuries caused from Tokarev, Makarov and Glock 19 pistols at different firing distances. Tartu, 2011.
- 182. Ene-Renate Pähkla. Factors related to the efficiency of treatment of advanced periodontitis. Tartu, 2011.

- 183. Maarja Krass. L-Arginine pathways and antidepressant action. Tartu, 2011.
- 184. **Taavi Lai**. Population health measures to support evidence-based health policy in Estonia. Tartu, 2011.
- 185. **Tiit Salum**. Similarity and difference of temperature-dependence of the brain sodium pump in normal, different neuropathological, and aberrant conditions and its possible reasons. Tartu, 2011.
- 186. **Tõnu Vooder**. Molecular differences and similarities between histological subtypes of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011.
- 187. Jelena Štšepetova. The characterisation of intestinal lactic acid bacteria using bacteriological, biochemical and molecular approaches. Tartu, 2011.
- 188. **Radko Avi**. Natural polymorphisms and transmitted drug resistance in Estonian HIV-1 CRF06_cpx and its recombinant viruses. Tartu, 2011, 116 p.
- 189. Edward Laane. Multiparameter flow cytometry in haematological malignancies. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 190. **Triin Jagomägi**. A study of the genetic etiology of nonsyndromic cleft lip and palate. Tartu, 2011, 158 p.
- 191. **Ivo Laidmäe**. Fibrin glue of fish (*Salmo salar*) origin: immunological study and development of new pharmaceutical preparation. Tartu, 2012, 150 p.
- 192. Ülle Parm. Early mucosal colonisation and its role in prediction of invasive infection in neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2012, 168 p.
- 193. **Kaupo Teesalu**. Autoantibodies against desmin and transglutaminase 2 in celiac disease: diagnostic and functional significance. Tartu, 2012, 142 p.
- 194. **Maksim Zagura**. Biochemical, functional and structural profiling of arterial damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2012, 162 p.
- 195. Vivian Kont. Autoimmune regulator: characterization of thymic gene regulation and promoter methylation. Tartu, 2012, 134 p.
- 196. **Pirje Hütt**. Functional properties, persistence, safety and efficacy of potential probiotic lactobacilli. Tartu, 2012, 246 p.
- 197. Innar Tõru. Serotonergic modulation of CCK-4- induced panic. Tartu, 2012, 132 p.
- 198. **Sigrid Vorobjov**. Drug use, related risk behaviour and harm reduction interventions utilization among injecting drug users in Estonia: implications for drug policy. Tartu, 2012, 120 p.
- 199. Martin Serg. Therapeutic aspects of central haemodynamics, arterial stiffness and oxidative stress in hypertension. Tartu, 2012, 156 p.
- 200. **Jaanika Kumm**. Molecular markers of articular tissues in early knee osteoarthritis: a population-based longitudinal study in middle-aged subjects. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.
- 201. Kertu Rünkorg. Functional changes of dopamine, endopioid and endocannabinoid systems in CCK2 receptor deficient mice. Tartu, 2012, 125 p.
- 202. **Mai Blöndal**. Changes in the baseline characteristics, management and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 127 p.

- 203. Jana Lass. Epidemiological and clinical aspects of medicines use in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 170 p.
- 204. Kai Truusalu. Probiotic lactobacilli in experimental persistent Salmonella infection. Tartu, 2013, 139 p.
- 205. **Oksana Jagur**. Temporomandibular joint diagnostic imaging in relation to pain and bone characteristics. Long-term results of arthroscopic treatment. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 206. Katrin Sikk. Manganese-ephedrone intoxication pathogenesis of neurological damage and clinical symptomatology. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 207. **Kai Blöndal**. Tuberculosis in Estonia with special emphasis on drugresistant tuberculosis: Notification rate, disease recurrence and mortality. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 208. Marju Puurand. Oxidative phosphorylation in different diseases of gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2013, 123 p.
- 209. Aili Tagoma. Immune activation in female infertility: Significance of autoantibodies and inflammatory mediators. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 210. Liis Sabre. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in Estonia. Brain activation in the acute phase of traumatic spinal cord injury. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 211. **Merit Lamp**. Genetic susceptibility factors in endometriosis. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 212. Erik Salum. Beneficial effects of vitamin D and angiotensin II receptor blocker on arterial damage. Tartu, 2013, 167 p.
- 213. **Maire Karelson**. Vitiligo: clinical aspects, quality of life and the role of melanocortin system in pathogenesis. Tartu, 2013, 153 p.
- 214. **Kuldar Kaljurand**. Prevalence of exfoliation syndrome in Estonia and its clinical significance. Tartu, 2013, 113 p.
- Raido Paasma. Clinical study of methanol poisoning: handling large outbreaks, treatment with antidotes, and long-term outcomes. Tartu, 2013, 96 p.
- 216. Anne Kleinberg. Major depression in Estonia: prevalence, associated factors, and use of health services. Tartu, 2013, 129 p.
- 217. **Triin Eglit**. Obesity, impaired glucose regulation, metabolic syndrome and their associations with high-molecular-weight adiponectin levels. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.
- 218. **Kristo Ausmees**. Reproductive function in middle-aged males: Associations with prostate, lifestyle and couple infertility status. Tartu, 2014, 125 p.
- 219. Kristi Huik. The influence of host genetic factors on the susceptibility to HIV and HCV infections among intravenous drug users. Tartu, 2014, 144 p.
- 220. Liina Tserel. Epigenetic profiles of monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 221. Irina Kerna. The contribution of *ADAM12* and *CILP* genes to the development of knee osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.

- 222. **Ingrit Liiv**. Autoimmune regulator protein interaction with DNA-dependent protein kinase and its role in apoptosis. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 223. Liivi Maddison. Tissue perfusion and metabolism during intra-abdominal hypertension. Tartu, 2014, 103 p.
- 224. **Krista Ress**. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia, prevalence in atopic dermatitis and immunological characterisation of coexistence. Tartu, 2014, 124 p.
- 225. **Kai Muru**. Prenatal screening strategies, long-term outcome of children with marked changes in maternal screening tests and the most common syndromic heart anomalies in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 189 p.
- 226. **Kaja Rahu**. Morbidity and mortality among Baltic Chernobyl cleanup workers: a register-based cohort study. Tartu, 2014, 155 p.
- 227. Klari Noormets. The development of diabetes mellitus, fertility and energy metabolism disturbances in a Wfs1-deficient mouse model of Wolfram syndrome. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 228. Liis Toome. Very low gestational age infants in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 183 p.
- 229. Ceith Nikkolo. Impact of different mesh parameters on chronic pain and foreign body feeling after open inguinal hernia repair. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 230. Vadim Brjalin. Chronic hepatitis C: predictors of treatment response in Estonian patients. Tartu, 2014, 122 p.
- 231. Vahur Metsna. Anterior knee pain in patients following total knee arthroplasty: the prevalence, correlation with patellar cartilage impairment and aspects of patellofemoral congruence. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 232. **Marju Kase**. Glioblastoma multiforme: possibilities to improve treatment efficacy. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 233. **Riina Runnel**. Oral health among elementary school children and the effects of polyol candies on the prevention of dental caries. Tartu, 2015, 112 p.
- 234. **Made Laanpere**. Factors influencing women's sexual health and reproductive choices in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 176 p.
- 235. Andres Lust. Water mediated solid state transformations of a polymorphic drug effect on pharmaceutical product performance. Tartu, 2015, 134 p.
- 236. **Anna Klugman**. Functionality related characterization of pretreated wood lignin, cellulose and polyvinylpyrrolidone for pharmaceutical applications. Tartu, 2015, 156 p.
- 237. **Triin Laisk-Podar**. Genetic variation as a modulator of susceptibility to female infertility and a source for potential biomarkers. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 238. **Mailis Tõnisson**. Clinical picture and biochemical changes in blood in children with acute alcohol intoxication. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 239. Kadri Tamme. High volume haemodiafiltration in treatment of severe sepsis impact on pharmacokinetics of antibiotics and inflammatory response. Tartu, 2015, 133 p.

- 240. **Kai Part**. Sexual health of young people in Estonia in a social context: the role of school-based sexuality education and youth-friendly counseling services. Tartu, 2015, 203 p.
- 241. Urve Paaver. New perspectives for the amorphization and physical stabilization of poorly water-soluble drugs and understanding their dissolution behavior. Tartu, 2015, 139 p.
- 242. Aleksandr Peet. Intrauterine and postnatal growth in children with HLAconferred susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. Tartu. 2015, 146 p.
- 243. **Piret Mitt**. Healthcare-associated infections in Estonia epidemiology and surveillance of bloodstream and surgical site infections. Tartu, 2015, 145 p.
- 244. **Merli Saare**. Molecular Profiling of Endometriotic Lesions and Endometria of Endometriosis Patients. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 245. **Kaja-Triin Laisaar**. People living with HIV in Estonia: Engagement in medical care and methods of increasing adherence to antiretroviral therapy and safe sexual behavior. Tartu, 2016, 132 p.
- 246. **Eero Merilind**. Primary health care performance: impact of payment and practice-based characteristics. Tartu, 2016, 120 p.
- 247. Jaanika Kärner. Cytokine-specific autoantibodies in AIRE deficiency. Tartu, 2016, 182 p.
- 248. **Kaido Paapstel**. Metabolomic profile of arterial stiffness and early biomarkers of renal damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2016, 173 p.
- 249. Liidia Kiisk. Long-term nutritional study: anthropometrical and clinicolaboratory assessments in renal replacement therapy patients after intensive nutritional counselling. Tartu, 2016, 207 p.